
 

 

April 2018 

 

To our Stockholders 
 

Dear Stockholders: 

I am pleased to provide this 2017 summary with our proxy materials for the 2018 Annual Meeting of 

Stockholders scheduled for May 24, 2018.  2017 was a significant year for the Company – in October 

2017 we secured 510(k) clearance for our Senhance™ Surgical System for use in laparoscopic 

colorectal and gynecologic surgery.  These indications cover 23 procedures, including benign and 

oncologic procedures, and immediately gave us access to over 1.5 million surgeries routinely 

performed in the U.S. each year.  We believe that future outcomes of minimally invasive surgery will 

be enhanced through our combination of more advanced tools and robotic functionality.  We 

anticipate that our cost-effective robotic system will empower surgeons with improved precision, 

dexterity and visualization, improve patient satisfaction and enable a desirable post-operative 

recovery for a wide range of clinical applications as compared to previously available alternatives. 

Following receipt of clearance our focus has been, and continues to be, optimizing our U.S. sales 

force to drive the adoption of the Senhance System.  

For 2017, we reported revenue of $7.1 million, primarily related to revenue recognized on the sale of 

four Senhance Systems.  We completed two equity financing transactions in 2017 and replaced our 

credit facility, all to secure financing for our future development and commercialization plans.  As of 

December 31, 2017, we had cash and restricted cash of approximately $97.6 million to help fund our 

strategy and growth prospects. 

During 2017, we also monetized our SurgiBot Robotic Surgical System through the sale of the assets 

to a Chinese medical technology company. With this deal, we advanced the system towards 

commercialization in China, while retaining distribution rights to SurgiBot outside of China, 

including both in Europe and the U.S. 

For 2018, one of our key goals for the Company is expanding the indications for use for the 

Senhance System.  In early 2018, we filed a 510(k) submission to expand the indications for use of 

the Senhance System, including for laparoscopic hernia and gallbladder surgery.  We believe, with 

clearance, we can potentially double the Senhance System’s total addressable procedures to 

approximately 3 million annually. Other 2018 key goals include expanding our portfolio of surgical 

instruments, accessories and other products to compliment the Senhance System, finalizing the 

development of, and seeking regulatory clearance for, advanced energy instruments, articulating 

instruments and 3mm instruments for the Senhance System and maximizing the effectiveness of our 

commercial sales infrastructure. 

This is an exciting time for our team at TransEnterix as we continue to build on the successes of 

2017.   

Best Regards, 

 

 

Todd M. Pope 

Chief Executive Officer and President 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the 
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such forward-looking statements contain information about our 
expectations, beliefs or intentions regarding our product development and commercialization efforts, business, 
financial condition, results of operations, strategies or prospects. You can identify forward-looking statements by the 
fact that these statements do not relate strictly to historical or current matters. Rather, forward-looking statements 
relate to anticipated or expected events, activities, trends or results as of the date they are made. Because forward-
looking statements relate to matters that have not yet occurred, these statements are inherently subject to risks and 
uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from any future results expressed or implied by 
the forward-looking statements. 

Many factors could cause our actual operations or results to differ materially from the operations and results 
anticipated in forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to: 

• our ability to successfully transition from a research and development company to a company focused 
on marketing, sales and distribution of our products; 

• our ability to successfully develop, clinically test and commercialize our products; 

• our ability to identify and pursue development of additional products; 

• the timing and outcome of the regulatory review process for our products; 

• competition from existing and new market entrants; 

• the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our financial results; 

• our history of operating losses; 

• our need to obtain additional funding to continue our operations; 

• our ability to attract and retain key management, marketing and scientific personnel; 

• our ability to successfully prepare, file, prosecute, maintain, defend and enforce patent claims and other 
intellectual property rights; 

• changes in the health care and regulatory environments of the United States, Europe and other 
jurisdictions in which the Company operates; and 

• other factors contained in the section entitled “Risk Factors” contained in this Annual Report. 

We do not undertake any obligation to update our forward-looking statements, except as required by applicable law. 
 
In this Annual Report we refer to TransEnterix, Inc. and its subsidiaries collectively as the “Company,” “it,” “we,” 
“our” or “us.”  The Company’s subsidiaries are: TransEnterix International; TransEnterix Italia S.r.l.; TransEnterix 
Europe S.à.R.L; TransEnterix Europe S.à.R.L, Bertrange, Swiss Branch, Lugano; TransEnterix Asia Pte. Ltd.; and, 
TransEnterix Taiwan Ltd. 
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PART I 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

Overview 

TransEnterix is a medical device company that is digitizing the interface between the surgeon and the patient to 
improve minimally invasive surgery by addressing the clinical and economic challenges associated with current 
laparoscopic and robotic options in today's value-based healthcare environment. The Company is focused on the 
commercialization of the Senhance™ Surgical System, which digitizes laparoscopic minimally invasive surgery. 
The system allows for robotic precision, haptic feedback, surgeon camera control via eye sensing and improved 
ergonomics while offering responsible economics. 

The Senhance System has been granted a CE Mark in Europe for laparoscopic abdominal and pelvic surgery, as well 
as limited thoracic operations excluding cardiac and vascular surgery. In April 2017, the Company submitted a 
510(k) application to the FDA for the Senhance System. On October 13, 2017, the Company received 510(k) 
clearance from the FDA for use in laparoscopic colorectal and gynecologic surgery.  These indications cover 23 
procedures, including benign and oncologic procedures.  We anticipate expanding the indications for use in the 
middle of 2018. The Senhance System is available for sale in the U.S., the EU and select other countries.  

The Senhance System is a multi-port robotic surgery system which allows multiple robotic arms to control 
instruments and a camera. The system features advanced technology to enable surgeons with haptic feedback and 
the ability to move the camera via eye movement. The system replicates laparoscopic motion that is familiar to 
experienced surgeons, and integrates three-dimensional high definition, or 3DHD, vision technology. The Senhance 
System also offers responsible economics to hospitals by offering robotic technology with reusable instruments 
thereby reducing additional costs per surgery when compared to other robotic solutions. 

The Company has also developed the SurgiBot™ System, a single-port, robotically enhanced laparoscopic surgical 
platform. On December 18, 2017, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement with Great Belief 
International Limited, or GBIL, to advance the SurgiBot System towards global commercialization.  The agreement 
transfers ownership of the SurgiBot System assets, while the Company retains the option to distribute or co-
distribute the SurgiBot System outside of China. Upon completion of the transfer of all SurgiBot System assets, 
GBIL will have the SurgiBot System manufactured in China and obtain Chinese regulatory clearance from 
the China Food and Drug Administration, or CFDA, while entering into a nationwide distribution agreement with 
China National Scientific and Instruments and Materials Company, or CSIMC, for the Chinese market.  The 
agreement provides the Company with proceeds of at least $29 million, of which $7.5 million was received in 
December 2017. An additional $7.5 million is expected to be received by March 31, 2018, which includes a $3.0 
million equity investment at $2.33 per share. The remaining $14 million, representing minimum royalties, will be 
paid beginning at the earlier of receipt of Chinese regulatory approval or five years. 

We believe that future outcomes of minimally invasive surgery will be enhanced through our combination of more 
advanced tools and robotic functionality, which are designed to: (i) empower surgeons with improved precision, 
dexterity and visualization; (ii) improve patient satisfaction and enable a desirable post-operative recovery; and 
(iii) provide a cost-effective robotic system, compared to existing alternatives today, for a wide range of clinical 
applications. Our strategy is to focus on the development and commercialization of the Senhance System. 

The Company operates in one business segment. Please see the disclosure in Note 2 “Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies – Segments” in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Annual 
Report regarding our business operations in the U.S. and elsewhere. 

Market Overview 

Over the past two decades, laparoscopic surgery has emerged as a minimally invasive alternative to open surgery. In 
laparoscopic surgery, multiple incisions are necessary to provide surgical access ports. Carbon dioxide gas 
insufflation is then used to create room in the body cavity, and long rigid instruments are introduced through ports 
placed in the incisions to perform surgical tasks. Millions of laparoscopic surgical procedures across a broad range 
of clinical applications are now performed each year worldwide, though many surgeries are still performed in an 
open fashion. 
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While laparoscopy has improved the invasive nature of many previously open procedures, it still has many 
limitations. Traditional, or rigid, laparoscopy still requires multiple incisions to achieve the visualization and 
instrument triangulation required to perform successful surgery. Rigid laparoscopy also creates physical challenges 
by forcing the surgeon’s hands and arms into awkward angles, requiring the surgeon to hold instruments in fixed 
positions for long periods of time, and requiring an assistant to stabilize and move a laparoscopic camera. Another 
challenge associated with rigid laparoscopic surgery is the creation of a cumbersome and potentially tissue-
damaging fulcrum at the patient’s abdominal wall where instruments are manipulated. Nearly all laparoscopic 
instruments are rigid instruments that lack internal articulation to enhance dexterity in complex tasks. Most 
laparoscopic surgeries are performed with two-dimensional (2-D) visualization of the operative field, making depth 
perception difficult. 

Despite such limitations, traditional laparoscopy remains the prevalent technique in minimally invasive surgery. We 
believe that robotic devices that replicate laparoscopic motion are more comfortable for surgeons to adopt, thereby 
increasing the opportunity to enhance traditional surgical methods with robotics. Our Senhance System mimics 
laparoscopic surgery. 

Robotic and computer controlled assistance have developed as technologies that offer the potential to improve upon 
many aspects of the laparoscopic surgical experience. Hundreds of thousands of robotic-assisted surgical procedures 
are now performed each year worldwide, but they still represent a small fraction of the total laparoscopic procedures 
performed. While initial widespread adoption of robotic-assisted surgery was focused on urologic and gynecologic 
procedures that were primarily performed in an open fashion prior to robotics, recently developed robotic 
approaches have been applied to many other clinical applications, particularly in general surgery. Despite recent 
advances, we believe there remain many limitations associated with current robotic-assisted surgery systems used in 
connection with laparoscopic surgeries. 

Product Overview 

We are addressing the challenges in laparoscopy and robotic-assisted surgery with innovative products and product 
candidates that leverage the best features of both approaches to minimally invasive surgery. 

Senhance System 

On September 18, 2015, the Company entered into a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, or the Purchase 
Agreement, with Sofar S.p.A., or Sofar, as seller, Vulcanos S.r.l., as the acquired company, and TransEnterix 
International, Inc., a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which was incorporated in September 2015, as 
buyer. The closing of the transactions occurred on September 21, 2015  pursuant to which the Company acquired all 
of the membership interests of Vulcanos from Sofar (now known as the Senhance Acquisition), and changed the 
name of Vulcanos to TransEnterix Italia S.r.l. For a description of the Senhance Acquisition and related transactions, 
see the disclosure titled “Senhance Acquisition and Related Transactions” under Item 7, “Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Annual Report. 

The Senhance System is a multi-port robotic surgery system which allows up to four arms to control robotic 
instruments and a camera. The system builds on the success of laparoscopy by enhancing the traditional features that 
surgeons have come to expect from existing products and by addressing some of the limitations associated with 
robotic surgery systems for laparoscopic procedures. The Senhance System also offers responsible economics to 
hospitals by offering robotic technology with reusable instruments with minimal additional costs per surgery when 
compared to laparoscopy. The Senhance System has been granted a CE Mark in Europe for laparoscopic abdominal 
and pelvic surgery, as well as limited thoracic operations excluding cardiac and vascular surgery. In April 2017, the 
Company submitted a 510(k) application to the FDA for the Senhance System. On October 13, 2017, the Company 
received 510(k) clearance from the FDA for use in laparoscopic colorectal and gynecologic surgery.  The Senhance 
System is available for sale in the U.S., the EU and select other countries.  
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Key features of the Senhance System are: 

• Haptic Feedback: The Senhance System’s haptic feedback feature provides the surgeon with the ability 
to feel the tissue response of the body during a procedure. 

• Enhanced Vision: The Senhance System is compatible with 3DHD vision technology and gives the 
surgeon the ability to move the camera via eye movement so that the camera is centered in the surgeon’s 
field of vision. 

• Laparoscopic Motion: The Senhance System utilizes laparoscopic motion that is similar to the motion 
used during traditional laparoscopic surgeries. 

• View of the Sterile Field: The Senhance System offers the user an open view of the operating room and 
sterile field from the console. 

• Reusable, Autoclavable Instrumentation: The Senhance System offers instrumentation that is cleaned 
and sterilized using current autoclave technology that does not require additional, less standard 
sterilization methods, and that has no pre-set limitation on number of uses that requires them to be 
disposed.   

The Senhance System is manufactured for us by third party contract manufacturers. We or our manufacturers 
acquire raw materials and components of the Senhance System from vendors, some of which are sole suppliers. We 
believe our relationships with our vendors and manufacturing contractors are good. We further believe that we have 
the manufacturing and inventory reserves to meet our anticipated Senhance System sales for the foreseeable future. 
We are currently taking steps to develop redundant manufacturing and supply alternatives. 

SurgiBot System  

The SurgiBot System is designed to utilize flexible instruments through articulating channels controlled directly by 
the surgeon, with robotic assistance, while the surgeon remains patient-side within the sterile field. In June 2015, the 
Company submitted a 510(k) application to the FDA for the SurgiBot System. On April 19, 2016, the FDA notified 
the Company that the SurgiBot System did not meet the criteria for substantial equivalence based on the data and 
information submitted by TransEnterix in the 510(k) submission. Following the FDA determination, in May 2016, 
the Company implemented a restructuring plan.  The restructuring plan:  (1) reduced the Company’s workforce; (2) 
abandoned certain equipment related to the SurgiBot System; (3) cancelled contracts related to the SurgiBot System; 
(4) wrote down inventory related to the SurgiBot System; and (5) wrote off certain patents.  After interactions with 
the FDA, the Company determined that a new 510(k) application would need to be submitted in order to obtain 
clearance for the SurgiBot System.  

Please see “Business - Overview” in this Item 1 of this Annual Report for a description of the 2017 agreement 
regarding the sale of the SurgiBot System assets.   

Products in Development 

We are working to expand our portfolio of surgical instruments, accessories and other products to compliment the 
Senhance System.  We are currently focused on the development and regulatory clearance for advanced energy 
instruments, articulating instruments and 3 mm instruments for the Senhance System.   

Revenues 

In the year ended December 31, 2017, we had six customers in Europe, one customer in the U.S., and one customer 
in Asia, who accounted for 61%, 18%, and 21% of our revenue. In the year ended December 31, 2016, we had one 
European customer, Humanitas Hospital in Milan, Italy, who accounted for 100% of our revenue. In the year ended 
December 31, 2015, the Company had no revenue. The Company is not dependent on current customers. Please see 
the disclosure in Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Segments” in the Notes to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report regarding the geographic locations of our revenues and assets 
in the U.S. and elsewhere. 
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Business Strategy 

Our current strategy is to focus our resources on the commercialization of the Senhance System.  

We believe that: 

• there are a number of hospitals and an increasing number of ambulatory surgery centers in the U.S. and 
internationally that could benefit from the addition of robotic-assisted minimally invasive surgery and, 
with the Senhance System, lower operational costs; 

• with the Senhance System, surgeons can benefit from the haptic feedback, enhanced 3DHD vision and 
open architecture consistent with current laparoscopic surgery procedures;  

• patients will continue to seek a minimally invasive option for many common general abdominal and 
gynecologic surgeries, which are addressed by the Senhance System; and 

• the addition of advanced energy instruments, articulating instruments and 3 mm instruments for the 
Senhance System will help to increase adoption of our products in the laparoscopic surgery market. 

Sales and Marketing 

We have recruited a sales and marketing team and have initiated commercialization of the Senhance System in the 
United States, Europe, the Middle East, Africa and limited countries in Asia.  We utilize distributors in a number of 
jurisdictions where we do not sell directly.  Our distribution agreements typically provide exclusivity in a specific 
territory or jurisdiction.  

We have initiated a Clinical Leadership Program with leading surgical centers in Europe and the United States to 
utilize the Senhance System. We believe the program helps improve our visibility and provides more widespread 
opportunity for observation of robotic surgery with the Senhance System. In addition, in December 2016 we opened 
a European training and research and development center in Milan, Italy, and in November 2017 we opened a 
training and research and development center at the Institute for Surgical Advancement at Florida Hospital Orlando. 

Research and Development 

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, we incurred research and development expenses 
of approximately       $22.0 million, $29.3 million and $29.7 million, respectively. In 2017, such expenses primarily 
related to the Senhance System development, including the preparation and submission of regulatory filings with the 
FDA.  In 2016, such expenses primarily related to the SurgiBot System development and the Senhance System 
development, including the preparation and submission of regulatory filings. In 2015, such expenses primarily 
related to the SurgiBot System development, including the preparation and submission of regulatory filings. We 
fund our research and development expenses primarily from proceeds raised from equity and debt financing 
transactions. We expect to continue to use equity and debt financing transactions to fund our research and 
development activities. No customers are obligated to pay any material portion of such research and development 
expenses. 

Intellectual Property 

We believe that our intellectual property and expertise is an important competitive resource. Our experienced 
research and development team has created a substantial portfolio of intellectual property, including patents, patent 
applications, trade secrets and proprietary know-how. We maintain an active program of intellectual property 
protection, both to assure that the proprietary technology developed by us is appropriately protected and, where 
necessary, to assure that there is no infringement of our proprietary technology by competitive technologies. 

The following summarizes our current patent and patent application portfolio. 

The Company’s patent portfolio includes 24 United States patents and 68 patents issued outside the United States, 
and more than 90 patent applications filed in the United States and abroad.  We own all right, title and interest in 
approximately 140 of our patents and patent applications, and the rest are exclusively licensed to us.  We have 
granted a security interest to our intellectual property, including patents and patent applications to the Lender under 
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our existing loan agreement.  See “Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Results of Operations – 
Debt Refinancing” for a description of our existing loan agreement.   

Several of our issued patents resulted from filings related to the Senhance System.  These include 5 United States 
patents, and 33 patents outside the United States. The earliest to expire US patents within this part of our portfolio 
will remain in force until 2030, and the earliest to expire non-US patents will expire in 2027.  The patent 
applications include over 75 that relate to the Senhance System or other aspects of robotic-assisted surgery. We 
intend to continue to seek further patent and other intellectual property protection in the United States and 
internationally, where available and when appropriate, as we continue our product development efforts. 

Some of our issued patents and pending applications for the Senhance System, as well as associated technology and 
know-how, are exclusively licensed to TransEnterix Italia from the European Union. The license agreement with the 
European Union has a term which runs until the final licensed patent expires, unless the agreement is terminated 
earlier by mutual consent of the parties or for breach. The Company is currently in compliance with the terms of this 
license agreement. 

Competition 

Our industry is highly competitive, subject to change and significantly affected by new product introductions and 
other activities of industry participants. Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial and human 
resources than we do and have established reputations with our target customers, as well as worldwide distribution 
channels that are more established and developed than ours. 

There are many competitive offerings in the field of minimally invasive surgery. Several companies have launched 
devices that enable reduced incision or single incision laparoscopic surgery with or without robotic assistance.  Our 
surgical competitors include, but are not limited to: Johnson & Johnson, Medtronic plc, Applied Medical and 
Intuitive Surgical. 

In addition to surgical device manufacturer competitors, there are many products and therapies that are designed to 
reduce the need for or attractiveness of surgical intervention. These products and therapies may impact the overall 
volume of surgical procedures and negatively impact our business. 

Our ability to compete may be affected by the failure to fully educate physicians in the use of our products and 
products in development, or by the level of physician expertise. This may have the effect of making our products 
less attractive. Among currently available surgical robotic systems, we expect the Senhance System to differentiate 
on the basis of overall attractiveness to laparoscopic surgeons due to its ability to provide robotic benefits while 
leveraging their laparoscopic training and experience lower per procedure costs when compared to other robotic 
systems on the market today; and we expect the Senhance System to differentiate, in most cases, its ability to 
provide the surgeon with tactile feedback. Several medical device companies are actively engaged in research and 
development of robotic systems or other medical devices and tools used in minimally invasive surgery procedures. 
We cannot predict the basis upon which we will compete with new products marketed by others. 

Government Regulation of our Product Development Activities 

The U.S. government and foreign governments regulate the medical device industry through various agencies, 
including but not limited to, the U.S. FDA, which administers the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or the 
FDCA. The design, testing, manufacturing, storage, labeling, distribution, advertising, and marketing of medical 
devices are subject to extensive regulation by federal, state and local governmental authorities in the United States, 
including the FDA, and by similar agencies in other countries, including the European Union. Any device product 
that we develop must receive all requisite regulatory approvals or clearances, as the case may be, before it may be 
marketed in a particular country. 

Device Development, Marketing Clearance and Approval 

Medical devices are subject to varying levels of pre-market regulatory requirements. The FDA classifies medical 
devices into one of three classes: (i) Class I devices are relatively simple and can be manufactured and distributed 
with general controls; (ii) Class II devices are somewhat more complex and receive greater scrutiny from the FDA 
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and have heightened regulatory requirements; and (iii) Class III devices are new, high risk devices, and frequently 
are permanently implantable or help sustain life and generally require a Pre-Market Approval, or PMA, by the FDA. 

In the United States, a company generally can obtain permission to distribute a new medical device in one of two 
ways. The first applies to any device that is substantially equivalent to a device first marketed prior to May 1976, or 
to another device marketed after that date, but which was substantially equivalent to a pre-May 1976 device. These 
devices are either Class I or Class II devices. To obtain FDA clearance to distribute the medical device, a company 
generally must submit a 510(k) notification, and receive an FDA order finding substantial equivalence to a predicate 
device (pre-May 1976 device or post-May 1976 device that was substantially equivalent to a pre-May 1976 device) 
and permitting commercial distribution of that medical device for its intended use. A 510(k) notification must 
provide information supporting a claim of substantial equivalence to a single medical device, the predicate device. If 
clinical data from human experience are required to support the 510(k) notification, these data must be gathered in 
compliance with investigational device exemption, or IDE, regulations for investigations performed in the United 
States. The 510(k) process is normally used for products of the type that we are developing and propose to market 
and sell. The FDA review process for premarket notifications submitted pursuant to Section 510(k) of the FDCA 
takes, pursuant to statutory requirements, 90 days, but it can take substantially longer if the FDA has questions 
regarding the regulatory submission. It is possible for 510(k) clearance procedures to take from six to eighteen 
months, depending on the concerns raised by the FDA and the complexity of the device. There is no guarantee that 
the FDA will “clear” a medical device for marketing, in which case the device cannot be distributed in the United 
States. There is also no guarantee that the FDA will deem the applicable device subject to the 510(k) process, as 
opposed to the more time-consuming, resource-intensive and problematic PMA process described below.  

The second, more comprehensive, approval process applies to a new device that is not substantially equivalent to a 
pre-1976 product or that is to be used in supporting or sustaining life or preventing impairment. These devices are 
normally Class III devices. For example, most implantable devices are subject to the approval process as a Class III 
device. Two steps of FDA approval are generally required before a company can market a product in the United 
States that is subject to approval, as opposed to clearance, as a Class III device. First, a company must comply with 
IDE regulations in connection with any human clinical investigation of the device. These regulations permit a 
company to undertake a clinical study of a “non-significant risk” device without formal FDA approval. Prior express 
FDA approval is required if the device is a significant risk device. Second, the FDA must approve the company’s 
PMA application, which contains, among other things, clinical information acquired under the IDE. Additionally, 
devices subject to PMA approval may be subject to a panel review to obtain marketing approval and are required to 
pass a factory inspection in accordance with the current “good manufacturing practices” standards in order to obtain 
approval. The FDA will approve the PMA application if it finds there is reasonable assurance that the device is safe 
and effective for its intended use. The PMA process takes substantially longer than the 510(k) process, 
approximately one to two years or more.  

However, in some instances the FDA may find that a device is new and not substantially equivalent to a predicate 
device but is also not a high risk device as is generally the case with Class III PMA devices. In these instances FDA 
may allow a device to be down classified from Class III to Class I or II. The de novo classification option is an 
alternate pathway to classify novel devices of low to moderate risk that had automatically been placed in Class III 
after receiving a “not substantially equivalent,” or NSE, determination in response to a 510(k) notification. The 
regulations have also been amended to allow a sponsor to submit a de novo classification request to the FDA for 
novel low to moderate risk devices without first being required to submit a 510(k) application. These types of 
applications are referred to as “Evaluation of Automatic Class III Designation” or “de novo.” In instances where a 
device is deemed not substantially equivalent to a Class II predicate device, the candidate device may be filed as a 
de novo application which may lead to delays in regulatory decisions by the FDA. FDA review of a de novo 
application may lead the FDA to identify the device as either a Class I or II device and worthy of either an exempt or 
510(k) regulatory pathway. 

The Company believes the Senhance System and many related products are Class II devices as evidenced by the 
Company’s recently cleared 510(k) premarket notification. The Company intends to further develop the product line 
by adding additional instrumentation and accessories for use with the Senhance System.  At this time, the Company 
believes that the items under development are Class II devices subject to 510(k) premarket notification. The FDA 
might find that the 510(k) submission does not provide the evidence required to prove that the additional instruments 
or accessories for use with the Senhance System are substantially equivalent to marketed Class II devices. If that 
were to occur, the Company would be required to undertake the more complex and costly PMA process or perhaps 
be considered for a de novo reclassification. For either the 510(k), de novo, or the PMA process, the FDA could 
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require the Company to conduct clinical trials, which would take more time, cost more money and pose other risks 
and uncertainties. 

Clinical studies conducted in the U.S. or used in any U.S. application on an unapproved medical device require 
approval from the FDA prior to initiation. Even when a clinical study has been approved by the FDA or deemed 
approved, the study is subject to factors beyond a manufacturer’s control, including, but not limited to, the fact that 
the institutional review board, or IRB, at a specified clinical site might not approve the study, might decline to renew 
approval, or might suspend or terminate the study before its completion. There is no assurance that a clinical study at 
any given site will progress as anticipated. In addition, there can be no assurance that the clinical study will provide 
sufficient evidence to assure the FDA that the product is safe and effective, a prerequisite for FDA approval of a 
PMA, or substantially equivalent in terms of safety and effectiveness to a predicate device, a prerequisite for 
clearance under Section 510(k). Even if the FDA approves or clears a device, it may limit its intended uses in such a 
way that manufacturing and distribution of the device may not be commercially feasible. 

After clearance or approval to market is given, the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies, upon the occurrence of 
certain serious adverse events, are authorized under various circumstances to withdraw the clearance or approval of 
the device, or require changes to a device, its manufacturing process or its labeling or require additional proof that 
regulatory requirements have been met. 

A manufacturer of a device approved through the PMA process is not permitted to make changes to the device 
which affect its safety or effectiveness without first submitting a supplement application to its PMA and obtaining 
FDA approval for that supplement, prior to marketing the modified device. In some instances, the FDA may require 
clinical trials to support a supplement application. A manufacturer of a device cleared through the 510(k) process 
must submit an additional premarket notification if it intends to make a change or modification in the device that 
could significantly affect the safety or effectiveness of the device, such as a significant change or modification in 
design, material, chemical composition, energy source, labeling or manufacturing process. Any change in the 
intended uses of a PMA device or a 510(k) device requires an approval supplement or new cleared premarket 
notification. Exported devices are subject to the regulatory requirements of each country to which the device is 
exported, as well as certain FDA export requirements. 

Continuing FDA Regulation 

After a device is placed on the market, numerous FDA and other regulatory requirements continue to apply. These 
include: 

• establishment registration and device listing with the FDA; 

• quality system regulations, which require manufacturers to follow stringent design, testing, process 
control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures; 

• labeling regulations, which prohibit the promotion of products for unapproved, i.e. “off label,” uses and 
impose other restrictions on labeling; 

• Medical Device Reporting regulations, which require that manufacturers report to the FDA if their 
device may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or malfunctioned in a way that would 
likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if it were to recur; 

• corrections and removal reporting regulations, which require that manufacturers report to the FDA field 
corrections and product recalls or removals if undertaken to reduce a risk to health posed by the device 
or to remedy a violation of the FDCA that may present a risk to health; and 

• requirements to conduct postmarket surveillance studies to establish continued safety data. 

We are required to, and have, registered with the FDA as a medical device manufacturer. We must obtain all 
necessary permits and licenses to operate our business in all regions in which we do business. As manufacturers, we 
and our suppliers are subject to announced and unannounced inspections by the FDA to determine our compliance 
with the Quality System Regulation, or QSR, and other regulations. 

In Europe, we need to comply with the requirements of the Medical Devices Directive, or MDD, and appropriately 
affix the CE Mark on our products to attest to such compliance. Our products marketed in the EU meet the “Essential 
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Requirements” of the MDD relating to safety and performance. We have undergone verification of our regulatory 
compliance, or conformity assessment, by a notified body duly authorized by an EU country and must continue to do 
so as new products and changes to the products arise. The level of scrutiny of such assessment depends on the 
regulatory class of the product. We are subject to continued surveillance by our notified body and will be required to 
report any serious adverse incidents to the appropriate authorities. We also must comply with additional requirements 
of individual countries in which our products are marketed. In the European Community, we are required to maintain 
certain quality system certifications in order to sell products. These regulations require us or our manufacturers to 
manufacture products and maintain documents in a prescribed manner with respect to design, manufacturing, testing, 
labeling and control activities.  As manufacturers, we and our suppliers are subject to announced and unannounced 
inspections by the European Notified Bodies. 

Impact of Regulation 

Failure to comply with the applicable regulatory requirements can result in enforcement action by the FDA and 
other international regulatory bodies, which may include, among other things, any of the following sanctions: 

• warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties; 

• repair, replacement, refund or seizure of our products; 

• operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production; 

• refusing our request for market access approvals of new products or modifications to existing products; 

• withdrawing or suspending clearances or approvals that are already granted; 

• criminal prosecution; and 

• disgorgement of profits. 

Further, the levels of revenues and profitability of medical device companies like us may be affected by the 
continuing efforts of government and third party payors to contain or reduce the costs of health care through various 
means. For example, in certain foreign markets, pricing or profitability of products is subject to governmental 
control. In the United States, there have been, and we expect that there will continue to be, a number of federal and 
state proposals to implement similar governmental controls. 

Therefore, we cannot assure you that any of our products will be considered cost effective, or that, following any 
commercialization of our products, coverage and reimbursement will be available or sufficient to allow us to 
manufacture and sell them competitively and profitably. 

Health Care Regulation 

Our business activities are subject to additional healthcare regulation and enforcement by the federal government and 
by authorities in the states and foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct our business. Such laws include, without 
limitation, state and federal anti-kickback, fraud and abuse, false claims, privacy and security and physician payment 
transparency laws. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of such laws that apply to us, we may be subject 
to penalties, including, without limitation, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, the curtailment or restructuring 
of our operations, exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs and imprisonment, any of 
which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results. 

In the United States, there have been, and we expect there to continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory 
initiatives, at both the federal and state government levels, to change the healthcare system in ways that, if approved, 
could affect our ability to sell our products profitably. At the current time, our products are not defined as durable 
medical equipment. Non-DME devices used in surgical procedures are normally paid directly by the hospital or 
health care provider and not reimbursed separately by third-party payors. Instead, the hospital or health care 
provider is reimbursed based on the procedure performed and the inpatient or outpatient stay. As a result, these types 
of devices are subject to intense price competition that can place a small manufacturer at a competitive disadvantage 
as hospitals, ambulatory surgery centers and health care providers attempt to negotiate lower prices for products 
such as the ones we develop and sell. 
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In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the “Affordable Care Act”) and the reconciliation 
law known as Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act (the “Reconciliation Act,” and, with the Affordable 
Care Act, the “2010 Health Care Reform Legislation”) were enacted into law. The constitutionality of the 2010 
Health Care Reform Legislation was confirmed twice by the Supreme Court of the United States. Both 
Congressional leaders and President Trump have announced plans to repeal or modify the 2010 Health Care Reform 
Legislation.  At this time the Company is not certain as to the impact of federal health care legislation on its 
business. 

The 2010 Health Care Reform Legislation subjects manufacturers of medical devices to an excise tax of 2.3% on 
certain U.S. sales of medical devices beginning in January 2013. This excise tax was suspended in December 2015 
for two years, and again in January 2018 for an additional two years. If eventually implemented, this excise tax will 
likely increase our expenses in the future. 

Further, the 2010 Health Care Reform Legislation includes the Open Payments Act (formerly referred to as the 
Physician Payments Sunshine Act), which, in conjunction with its implementing regulations, requires certain 
manufacturers of certain drugs, biologics, and devices that are reimbursed by Medicare, Medicaid and the Children’s 
Health Insurance Program to report annually certain payments or “transfers of value” provided to physicians and 
teaching hospitals and to report annually ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate 
family members during the preceding calendar year. We have provided reports under the Open Payments Act to the 
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services since 2014. The failure to report appropriate data accurately, timely, and 
completely could subject us to significant financial penalties. Other countries and several states currently have 
similar laws and more may enact similar legislation. 

International Regulation and Potential Impact 

Through the Senhance Acquisition, the Company has expanded into international markets and intends to pursue 
continued expansion. Some of these markets maintain unique regulatory requirements outside of or in addition to 
those of the U.S. FDA and the European Union. The Senhance System is CE marked, which allows us to offer the 
product for sale in a number of jurisdictions, including select countries in Europe, the Middle East and Asia.  Due to 
the variations in regulatory requirements within territories, the Company may be required to perform additional 
safety or clinical testing or fulfill additional agency requirements for specific territories. The Company may also be 
required to apply for registration using third parties within those territories and may be dependent upon the third 
parties’ successful regulatory processes to file, register and list the product applications and associated labeling, 
which could lead to significant investments and resource use. These additional requirements may result in delays in 
international registrations and commercialization of our products in certain countries. 

In addition, we are utilizing distributors and sales agents in various territories throughout Europe, the Middle East 
and Africa, and need to ensure that our activities, and the activities of our distributors and sales agents, are 
compliant with local law and U.S. laws governing the sales of medical devices.  The laws governing the registration, 
approval, clearance and sales of medical devices, such as the Senhance System, in multiple jurisdictions are 
complex, and the failure to comply with such laws in any given jurisdiction could subject us to financial penalties or 
suspension or termination of our ability to sell our products in the applicable jurisdiction.   

Employees 

As of December 31, 2017, we had 121 employees, including 119 full time employees. The Company considers its 
relationships with its employees to be good. 

Corporate Information 

The Company’s principal executive offices are located at 635 Davis Drive, Suite 300, Morrisville, NC 27560. 
TransEnterix Surgical was originally incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on July 12, 2006. On 
September 3, 2013, TransEnterix Surgical merged with and into a merger subsidiary of SafeStitch Medical, Inc. and 
became a wholly owned subsidiary of SafeStitch in a reverse merger transaction. SafeStitch was originally 
incorporated on August 19, 1988 as NCS Ventures Corp. under the laws of the State of Delaware. Its name was 
changed to Cellular Technical Services Company, Inc. on May 31, 1991. On September 4, 2007, SafeStitch acquired 
SafeStitch LLC, and, in January 2008, changed its name to SafeStitch Medical, Inc. On December 6, 2013, 
SafeStitch’s name was changed to TransEnterix, Inc. On September 21, 2015, TransEnterix International, a wholly 
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owned subsidiary of the Company formed by the Company in conjunction with the Senhance Acquisition, acquired 
all of the membership interests of Vulcanos and changed the name of Vulcanos to TransEnterix Italia. 

As of December 31, 2017, the active subsidiaries of the Company are TransEnterix International; TransEnterix Italia 
S.r.l.; TransEnterix Europe S.à.R.L; TransEnterix Europe S.à.R.L, Bertrange, Swiss Branch, Lugano; TransEnterix 
Asia Pte. Ltd.; and, TransEnterix Taiwan Ltd. 

Available Information 

The Company maintains a website at www.transenterix.com. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, as reviewed 
and updated on November 8, 2017, is available on our website. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on 
Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, filed or furnished pursuant to 
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, are available free of charge on our website as soon as practicable after 
electronic filing of such material with, or furnishing it to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). 
This information may be read and copied at the Public Reference Room of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington 
D.C. 20549. The SEC also maintains an internet website that contains reports, proxy statements, and other information 
about issuers, like TransEnterix, Inc., who file electronically with the SEC. The address of the site is 
http://www.sec.gov. 
 
 
ITEM 1.A. RISK FACTORS 

We are currently highly dependent on the commercial success of a single product, the Senhance System.  We 
cannot give any assurance that the Senhance System can be successfully commercialized.   
We are currently highly dependent on the commercial success of the Senhance System, which is FDA cleared and 
CE marked. We began our selling efforts for the Senhance System in the fourth quarter of 2015 in Europe and in the 
fourth quarter of 2017 in the United States.  We have had limited commercial success to date.  We are still in the 
process of establishing our commercial infrastructure in the U.S.  We cannot assure you that we will be able to 
successfully commercialize the Senhance System, for a number of reasons, including, without limitation, failure in 
our sales and marketing efforts, the long sales cycle associated with the purchase of capital equipment, or the 
potential introduction by our competitors of more clinically effective or cost-effective alternatives.  Failure to 
successfully commercialize the Senhance System would have a material and adverse effect on our business. 

The sales cycle for the Senhance System is lengthy and unpredictable, which will make it difficult for us to 
forecast revenue and increase the magnitude of quarterly fluctuations in our operating results. 
Purchase of a surgical robotic system such as the Senhance System represents a capital purchase by hospitals and 
other potential customers.  The capital purchase nature of the transaction, the complexity of our product, the relative 
newness of surgical robotics and the competitive landscape requires us to spend substantial time and effort to assist 
potential customers in evaluating our robotic systems. We must communicate with multiple surgeons, administrative 
staff and executives within each potential customer in order to receive all approvals on behalf of such organizations. 
We may face difficulty identifying and establishing contact with such decision makers. Even after initial acceptance, 
the negotiation and documentation processes can be lengthy. Additionally, our customers may have strict limitations 
on spending depending on the current economic climate or trends in healthcare management.  

We are also expanding the potential market for robotic surgical systems with our focus on laparoscopic surgery.  
Such expansion requires a different sales and marketing approach than a focus on open procedures.  We expect our 
sales cycle to range between four to six quarters per sale.  Each sale could take longer. Any delay in completing 
sales in a particular quarter could cause our operating results to fall below expectations. We also expect such a 
lengthy sales cycle makes it more difficult for us to accurately forecast revenue in future periods and may cause 
revenues and operating results to vary significantly in future periods.   

Although we have expanded our commercial organization, we currently have limited marketing, sales and 
distribution capabilities. We are distributing our products through direct sales in the U.S. and select countries in 
Europe, and elsewhere through the use of independent contractor and distribution agreements with companies 
possessing established sales and marketing operations in the medical device industry.  There can be no assurance 
that we will be successful in building our sales capabilities. To the extent that we enter into distribution, co-
promotion or other arrangements, our product revenue is likely to be lower than if we directly market or sell our 
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products. In addition, any revenue we receive will depend in whole or in part upon the efforts of such third parties, 
which may not be successful and are generally not within our control. If we are unable to enter into such 
arrangements on acceptable terms or at all, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our products. If we are 
not successful in commercializing our existing and future products, either on our own or through collaborations with 
one or more third parties, our future product revenue will suffer and we may incur significant additional losses. 

We have procedures in place to require our distributors and sales agents to comply with applicable laws and 
regulations governing the sales of medical devices in the jurisdictions where they operate.  Failure to meet such 
requirements could subject us to financial penalties or the suspension or termination of the ability to sell our 
products in such jurisdiction.   

The surgical robotics industry is increasingly competitive, which can negatively impact our commercial 
opportunities.  

The life sciences industry is highly competitive, and we face significant competition from many medical device 
companies that are researching and marketing products designed to address minimally invasive and robotic-assisted 
surgery, including new entrants in the competitive market. We are currently commercializing the Senhance System 
in the U.S. with FDA 510(k) clearance, in Europe which accepts a CE Mark, the Middle East and selected countries 
in Asia and face significant competition in such markets.  Many of our competitors, including Intuitive Surgical, 
have significantly greater financial, manufacturing, marketing and product development resources than we do. Some 
of the medical device companies we compete with or expect to compete with include Johnson & Johnson, Medtronic 
plc, Applied Medical, Intuitive Surgical, Verb Surgical, Titan Medical and a number of minimally invasive surgical 
device and robotic surgical device manufacturers and providers of products and therapies that are designed to reduce 
the need for or attractiveness of surgical intervention. In addition, many other universities and private and public 
research institutions are or may become active in research involving surgical devices for minimally invasive and 
robotic-assisted surgery.  

We are also expanding the potential market for robotic surgical systems with our focus on laparoscopic surgery.  
Such expansion may lead to additional competition with companies with sufficiently higher resources than ours. 

We believe that our ability to successfully compete will depend on, among other things:  

• the efficacy, safety and reliability of our products;  

• our ability to commercialize and market our cleared or approved products;  

• the completion of our development efforts and receipt of regulatory clearance or approval for 
instruments and accessories to support the use of the Senhance System; 

• the cost of ownership and use of our products in relation to alternative devices;  

• the timing and scope of regulatory clearances or approvals, including any expansion of the indications 
of use for our products;  

• whether our competitors substantially reduce the cost of ownership and use of an alternative device;  

• our ability to protect and defend intellectual property rights related to our products;  

• our ability to have our partners manufacture and sell commercial quantities of any cleared or approved 
products to the market;  

• the availability of adequate coverage and reimbursement by third-party payors for the procedures in 
which our products are used;  

• the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts; and  

• acceptance of future products by physicians and other health care providers.  

If our competitors market products that are more effective, safer, easier to use or less expensive than our products or 
future products, or that reach the market sooner than our products, we may not achieve commercial success. In 
addition, the medical device industry is characterized by rapid technological change. It may be difficult for us to stay 
abreast of the rapid changes in each technology. If we fail to stay at the forefront of technological change, we may 
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be unable to compete effectively. Technological advances or products developed by our competitors may render our 
technologies or products obsolete or less competitive.  

We anticipate that the highly competitive surgical robotics environment can lead our competitors to attempt to slow 
or derail our commercial progress.  We are using our best efforts to enter the commercial markets effectively and 
efficiently while maintaining compliance with all regulatory and legal requirements.  Responding to the actions of 
our competitors will require the attention of our management and may distract the management team from its focus 
on our commercial operations and lead to increased costs of commercialization, which could have a negative impact 
on our financial position.  

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may adversely affect our financial results. 

We conduct operations in several different countries, including the U.S. and throughout Europe, and portions of our 
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros, and other currencies. Since our 
consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, we must translate revenues, income and expenses, as 
well as assets and liabilities, into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect during or at the end of each reporting 
period. We have not historically hedged our exposure to foreign currency fluctuations.  Accordingly, increases or 
decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar against the Euro and other currencies could materially affect our net 
operating revenues, operating income and the value of balance sheet items denominated in foreign currencies. 

Our global operations expose us to additional risks and challenges associated with conducting business 
internationally.  

The international expansion of our business may expose us to risks inherent in conducting foreign operations. These 
risks include:  

• challenges associated with managing geographically diverse operations, which require an effective 
organizational structure and appropriate business processes, procedures and controls;  

• the increased cost of doing business in foreign jurisdictions, including compliance with international and 
U.S. laws and regulations that apply to our international operations;  

• currency exchange and interest rate fluctuations and the resulting effect on our revenue and expenses, 
and the cost and risk of entering into hedging transactions, if we chose to do so in the future;  

• changes in a specific country’s or region’s political or economic environment; 

• trade protection measures, import or export licensing requirements or other restrictive actions by U.S. or 
non-U.S. governments; 

• potentially adverse tax consequences;  

• complexities and difficulties in obtaining protection and enforcing our intellectual property;  

• compliance with additional regulations and government authorities in a highly regulated business;  

• difficulties associated with staffing and managing foreign operations, including differing labor relations; 
and  

• general economic and political conditions outside of the U.S.  

The risks that we face in our international operations may continue to intensify as we further develop and expand 
our international operations.  

As we ramp up our manufacturing capabilities we face risks arising from sole suppliers of components and our 
ability to meet delivery schedules for sales of our products.  

The Senhance System is manufactured for us under contract by a third party manufacturer. We or our manufacturer 
acquire raw materials and components of the Senhance System from vendors, some of which are sole suppliers. 
Although we believe that we have the manufacturing and inventory reserves to meet our anticipated Senhance 
System sales for the foreseeable future, we are currently taking steps to develop redundant manufacturing and 
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supply alternatives. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in developing these redundant supply and 
manufacturing capabilities. If we are not successful, our business operations could suffer. 

Because our design, development and manufacturing capabilities are limited, we may rely on third parties to 
design, develop, manufacture or supply some of our products. An inability to find additional or alternate sources 
for these services and products could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of 
operations. 

We have used third-party design and development sources to assist in the design and development of our medical 
device products. In the future, we may choose to use additional third-party sources for the design and development 
of our products. If these design and development partners are unable to provide their services in the timeframe or to 
the performance level that we require, we may not be able to establish a contract and obtain a sufficient alternative 
supply from another supplier on a timely basis and in the manner that we require.  

Our products require precise, high quality manufacturing. We and our contract manufacturers will be subject to 
ongoing periodic unannounced inspection by the FDA and non-U.S. regulatory authorities to ensure strict 
compliance with the quality systems regulations, current “good manufacturing practices” and other applicable 
government regulations and corresponding standards. If we or our contract manufacturers fail to achieve and 
maintain high manufacturing standards in compliance with QSR, we may experience manufacturing errors resulting 
in patient injury or death, product recalls or withdrawals, delays or interruptions of production or failures in product 
testing or delivery, delay or prevention of filing or approval of marketing applications for our products, cost 
overruns or other problems that could seriously harm our business.  

Any performance failure by us or on the part of our design and development partners or contract manufacturers 
could delay product development or regulatory clearance or approval of our products, or commercialization of our 
products and future products, depriving us of potential product revenue and resulting in additional losses. In 
addition, our dependence on any third party for design, development or manufacturing could adversely affect our 
future profit margins. Our ability to replace any then-existing manufacturer may be difficult because the number of 
potential manufacturers is limited and, in the case of Class III devices, the FDA must approve any replacement 
manufacturer before manufacturing can begin. It may be difficult or impossible for us to identify and engage a 
replacement manufacturer on acceptable terms in a timely manner, or at all. 

Our stock price has been volatile and may experience additional fluctuation in the future.  

The market price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be, highly volatile, and such volatility could 
cause the market price of our common stock to decrease and could cause you to lose some or all of your investment 
in our common stock.  During the two year period ended December 31, 2017, the market price of our common stock 
fluctuated from a high of $6.10 per share to a low of $0.45 per share. The market price of our common stock may 
continue to fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, some of which are beyond our control, such as:  

• the announcement of favorable or unfavorable news regarding us, including our product development 
efforts and regulatory clearance activities;  

• the achievement of commercial sales of our products;  

• the announcement of new products or product enhancements by us or our competitors;  

• developments concerning intellectual property rights and regulatory approvals;  

• variations in our and our competitors’ results of operations;  

• changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, if our common stock is 
covered by analysts;  

• developments in surgical robotics;  

• the results of product liability or intellectual property lawsuits;  

• future issuances of common stock or other securities;  

• the addition or departure of key personnel;  
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• announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions, investments or strategic alliances; and  

• general market conditions and other factors, including factors unrelated to our operating performance.  

Further, the stock market in general, and the market for medical device companies in particular, can experience 
extreme price and volume fluctuations. Market fluctuations could result in extreme volatility in the price of our 
common stock, which could cause a decline in the value of our common stock and the loss of some or all of your 
investment.  

We have a history of operating losses, and we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability.  

We have a limited operating history. We are not profitable and have incurred losses since our inception.   Our net 
loss for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $144.8 million, and our accumulated deficit as of December 31, 
2017 was $447.6 million.  We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with cash received from 
sales of our products, will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12 months.   

We expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future. We will continue to incur research and development 
and general and administrative expenses related to our operations, and expect to increase our sales and marketing 
expenses as we increase our sales and marketing activities for the Senhance System in jurisdictions where FDA 
clearance and CE marking provides authorization for commercial activities.  If our product candidates fail in 
development or do not gain regulatory clearance or approval, or if our products do not achieve market acceptance, 
we may never become profitable. Even if we achieve profitability in the future, we may not be able to sustain 
profitability in subsequent periods.  

We will require substantial additional funding in the future, which may not be available to us on acceptable 
terms, or at all. 

We do not anticipate that the net proceeds of equity financings in 2017 will be sufficient to support development of 
our products and product candidates and provide us with the necessary resources to commercialize the Senhance 
System and other products through the lengthy sales cycle. While we are currently focused on commercialization of 
our Senhance System, we intend to advance multiple additional products through clinical and pre-clinical 
development in the future. We believe we will need to raise substantial additional capital in order to continue our 
operations and achieve our business objectives.  

We have an effective shelf registration statement. As of December 31, 2017, we had $100 million available for 
future financings under such shelf registration statement.  Such capacity will expire in May 2020.  We cannot assure 
you that we will be successful in obtaining such additional financing on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. 

Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to: 

• the costs of our Senhance System commercialization and development activities;  

• the costs and timing of seeking and obtaining FDA and other non-U.S. regulatory clearances and 
approvals for our products in development; 

• the costs associated with establishing a sales force and commercialization capabilities;  

• the costs associated with the expansion of our manufacturing capabilities;  

• our need to expand our research and development activities; 

• the costs of acquiring, licensing or investing in businesses, products and technologies;  

• the economic and other terms and timing of our existing licensing arrangement and any collaboration, 
licensing or other arrangements into which we may enter in the future;  

• our need and ability to hire additional management, scientific, medical and sales and marketing 
personnel;  

• the effect of competing technological and market developments;  
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• our need to implement additional internal systems and infrastructure, including financial and reporting 
systems, quality systems and information technology systems; and  

• our ability to maintain, expand and defend the scope of our intellectual property portfolio.  

Until we generate a sufficient amount of revenue to finance our cash requirements, which may never occur, we 
expect to finance future cash needs primarily through public or private equity offerings, debt financings or strategic 
collaborations. We do not know whether additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are 
not able to secure additional funding when needed, we may have to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or 
more of our research and development programs. To the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity 
securities, our stockholders may experience significant dilution; and debt financing, if available, may involve 
restrictive covenants that limit our operations. To the extent that we raise additional funds through collaboration and 
licensing arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights to our products or grant licenses on terms that 
may not be favorable to us. 

Our stockholders have experienced dilution of their percentage ownership of our stock and may experience 
additional dilution in the future. 

We have raised significant capital through the issuance of our common stock and warrants and anticipate that we 
will need to raise substantial additional capital in order to continue our operations and achieve our business 
objectives. We have an effective shelf registration statement under which we have the current ability to raise up to 
$100 million through the issuance of equity or debt securities.  We cannot assure you that we will be able to sell 
shares or other securities in any offering at a price per share that is equal to or greater than the price per share paid 
by investors in previous offerings, and investors purchasing shares or other securities in the future could have rights 
superior to existing stockholders. The price per share at which we sell additional shares of our common stock or 
other securities convertible into or exchangeable for our common stock in future transactions may be higher or lower 
than the price per share in previous offerings. The future issuance of the Company’s equity securities will further 
dilute the ownership of our outstanding common stock.  The market price of our common stock has been, and may 
continue to be, highly volatile, and such volatility could cause the market price of our common stock to decrease and 
could cause you to lose some or all of your investment in our common stock. 

Sales by stockholders of substantial amounts of our shares of common stock, the issuance of new shares of 
common stock by us or the perception that these sales may occur in the future could materially and adversely 
affect the market price of our common stock. 

As of December 31, 2017, our directors, executive officers, principal stockholders and affiliated entities beneficially 
owned, in the aggregate, approximately 25% of our outstanding voting securities. As a result, if some or all of them 
acted together, they would have the ability to exert substantial influence over the election of our board of directors 
and the outcome of issues requiring approval by our stockholders. This concentration of ownership may also have 
the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of the Company that may be favored by other stockholders. 
This could prevent transactions in which stockholders might otherwise recover a premium for their shares over 
current market prices. 

The exercise of our outstanding options and warrants will dilute stockholders and could decrease our stock price. 
The existence of our outstanding options and warrants, including the outstanding Series B Warrants, may adversely 
affect our stock price due to sales of a large number of shares or the perception that such sales could occur. These 
factors also could make it more difficult to raise funds through future offerings of common stock or warrants, and 
could adversely impact the terms under which we could obtain additional equity capital. Exercise of outstanding 
options and warrants, or any future issuance of additional shares of common stock or other equity securities, 
including but not limited to options, warrants or other derivative securities convertible into our common stock, may 
result in significant dilution to our stockholders and may decrease our stock price. 

If we default on our existing indebtedness, such default would affect our financial condition. 

We are party with Innovatus Life Sciences Lending Fund I, LP, or the Lender, and jointly and severally liable with 
certain of our U.S. subsidiaries for $14.0 million of outstanding debt under term loans issued under our Loan and 
Security Agreement, or the Innovatus Loan Agreement. The maturity date of the outstanding term loan is May 10, 
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2021.  If we were to become unable to pay, when due, the principal of, interest on, or other amounts due in respect 
of, our indebtedness, our financial condition would be adversely affected.  Further, under the Innovatus Loan 
Agreement, we are subject to certain restrictive covenants that, among other things, subject to exceptions, restrict the 
Company’s ability to do the following things: declare dividends or redeem or repurchase equity interests; incur 
additional liens; make loans and investments; incur additional indebtedness; engage in mergers, acquisitions, and 
asset sales; transact with affiliates; undergo a change in control; add or change business locations; and engage in 
businesses that are not related to its existing business. If we breach any of these restrictive covenants or are unable to 
pay our indebtedness under the Innovatus Loan Agreement when due, this could result in a default under the 
Innovatus Loan Agreement. In such event, the Lender may elect (after the expiration of any applicable notice or 
grace periods) to declare all outstanding borrowings, together with accrued and unpaid interest and other amounts 
payable under the Innovatus Loan Agreement, to be immediately due and payable. Any such occurrence would have 
an adverse impact on our financial condition. The Company’s obligations under the Innovatus Loan Agreement are 
secured by a security interest in all of the assets of the Company and its current and future domestic and material 
foreign subsidiaries, including a security interest in the intellectual property.   

We issued 24,900,000 Series A Warrants and 24,900,000 Series B Warrants in May 2017; the outstanding 
warrants must be revalued each reporting period.  In addition, we owe contingent consideration to Sofar under 
the Purchase Agreement that is also revalued each reporting period.  Such assessments involve the use of 
estimates that could later be found to differ materially from actual results. 
On April 28, 2017, we sold 24.9 million units, each consisting of one share of common stock, a Series A warrant to 
purchase one share of common stock, and a Series B warrant to purchase 0.75 shares of common stock, at a public 
offering price of $1.00 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $24.9 million in an underwritten firm commitment 
public offering.  As of December 31, 2017, all Series A warrants were exercised. At December 31, 2017, Series B 
Warrants to acquire 9.8 million shares of common stock were outstanding. The outstanding Series B Warrants 
contain provisions, often referred to as “down-round protection” that may lead to adjustment of the exercise price 
and number of underlying warrant shares with respect to future issuances by the Company of its securities, including 
its common stock or convertible securities or debt securities.  In addition, the third tranche of the contingent 
consideration to be paid to Sofar under the Purchase Agreement remains outstanding, to be paid if the designated 
milestone is met.   

The Series B Warrants and the contingent consideration are each recorded as a liability on our financial statements, 
and we are required to revalue each of the outstanding Series B Warrants and the contingent consideration at each 
reporting period.  Such revaluations necessarily involve the use of estimates, assumptions, probabilities and 
application of complex accounting principles.  Actual value at the time the Series B Warrants are exercised or the 
contingent consideration paid could vary significantly from the value assigned to such liabilities on a quarterly basis. 
We cannot assure you that the revaluation of the Series B Warrants and contingent consideration will equal the value 
in the future, and know that the actual value could be significantly different, which could have a material adverse 
effect on us.   
  

We sold our SurgiBot System assets in 2017, and we may not obtain the royalty income we anticipate from such 
sale. 

In December 2017, we transferred ownership of the SurgiBot System assets to GBIL. The agreements provide rights 
to the purchaser to manufacture, or have manufactured, the SurgiBot System in China, and provides exclusive 
distribution rights to the Chinese market.  The agreement provides us with minimum royalties of $14 million over a 
future five-year period.  If the buyer is not successful in gaining Chinese regulatory approval or marketing the 
SurgiBot System, we will only receive such minimum royalties, decreasing the return on the funds expended in the 
development of the SurgiBot System.   

Our commercial success depends significantly on our ability to operate without infringing the patents and other 
proprietary rights of third parties. 

Other entities may have or obtain patents or proprietary rights that could limit our ability to manufacture, use, sell, 
offer for sale or import products or impair our competitive position. In addition, to the extent that a third party 
develops new technology that covers our products, we may be required to obtain licenses to that technology, which 
licenses may not be available or may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. If licenses are not 
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available to us on acceptable terms, we will not be able to market the affected products or conduct the desired 
activities, unless we challenge the validity, enforceability or infringement of the third-party patent or circumvent the 
third-party patent, which would be costly and would require significant time and attention of our management. Third 
parties may have or obtain valid and enforceable patents or proprietary rights that could block us from developing 
products using our technology. Our failure to obtain a license to any technology that we require may materially harm 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

If we become involved in patent litigation or other proceedings related to a determination of rights, we could incur 
substantial costs and expenses, substantial liability for damages or be required to stop our product development and 
commercialization efforts, any of which could materially adversely affect our liquidity, business prospects and 
results of operations. 

Third parties may sue us for infringing their patent rights. Likewise, we may need to resort to litigation to enforce a 
patent issued or licensed to us or to determine the scope and validity of proprietary rights of others. In addition, a 
third party may claim that we have improperly obtained or used its confidential or proprietary information. 
Furthermore, in connection with our third-party license agreements, we generally have agreed to indemnify the 
licensor for costs incurred in connection with litigation relating to intellectual property rights. The cost to us of any 
litigation or other proceeding relating to intellectual property rights, even if resolved in our favor, could be 
substantial, and the litigation would divert our management’s efforts. Some of our competitors may be able to 
sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater 
resources. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could limit our ability to 
continue our operations.  

If any parties successfully claim that our creation or use of proprietary technologies infringes upon their intellectual 
property rights, we might be forced to pay damages, potentially including treble damages, if we are found to have 
willfully infringed on such parties’ patent rights. In addition to any damages we might have to pay, a court could 
require us to stop the infringing activity or obtain a license. Any license required under any patent may not be made 
available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, such licenses are likely to be non-exclusive and, 
therefore, our competitors may have access to the same technology licensed to us. If we fail to obtain a required 
license and are unable to design around a patent, we may be unable to effectively market some of our technology 
and products, which could limit our ability to generate revenues or achieve profitability and possibly prevent us 
from generating revenue sufficient to sustain our operations. 

For our Senhance System, we rely on our license from the European Union, and any loss of our rights under 
such license agreement, or failure to properly prosecute, maintain or enforce the patent applications underlying 
such license agreement, could materially adversely affect our business prospects for the Senhance System. 

Some of the patents and patent applications in our patent portfolio related to the Senhance System are licensed to 
TransEnterix Italia under a license agreement with the European Union. Presently, we rely on such licensed 
technology for our Senhance System products and may license additional technology from the European Union or 
other third parties in the future. The EU license agreement gives us rights for the commercial exploitation of the 
licensed patents, patent applications and know-how, subject to certain provisions of the license agreement. Failure to 
comply with these provisions could result in the loss of our rights under the EU license agreement. Our inability to 
rely on these patents and patent applications which are the basis of certain aspects of our Senhance System 
technology would have an adverse effect on our business.  

Further, our success will depend in part on the ability of us, the European Union and other third-party licensors to 
obtain, maintain and enforce patent protection for our licensed intellectual property and, in particular, those patents 
to which we have secured exclusive rights. We, the European Union or other third-party licensors may not 
successfully prosecute the patent applications which are licensed to us, may fail to maintain these patents, and may 
determine not to pursue litigation against other companies that are infringing these patents, or may pursue such 
litigation less aggressively than necessary to obtain an acceptable outcome from any such litigation. Without 
protection for the intellectual property we have licensed, other companies might be able to offer substantially 
identical products for sale, which could materially adversely affect our competitive business position, business 
prospects and results of operations. 
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If we or our licensors are unable to protect the confidentiality of our proprietary information and know-how, the 
value of our technology and products could be adversely affected. 

In addition to patent protection, we also rely on other proprietary rights, including protection of trade secrets, know-
how and confidential and proprietary information. To maintain the confidentiality of trade secrets and proprietary 
information, we will seek to enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants and collaborators 
upon the commencement of their relationships with us. These agreements generally require that all confidential 
information developed by the individual or made known to the individual by us during the course of the individual’s 
relationship with us be kept confidential and not disclosed to third parties. Our agreements with employees also 
generally provide and will generally provide that any inventions conceived by the individual in the course of 
rendering services to us shall be our exclusive property. However, we may not obtain these agreements in all 
circumstances, and individuals with whom we have these agreements may not comply with their terms. In the event 
of unauthorized use or disclosure of our trade secrets or proprietary information, these agreements, even if obtained, 
may not provide meaningful protection, particularly for our trade secrets or other confidential information. To the 
extent that our employees, consultants or contractors use technology or know-how owned by third parties in their 
work for us, disputes may arise between us and those third parties as to the rights in related inventions. Adequate 
remedies may not exist in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential information. The disclosure 
of our trade secrets would impair our competitive position and may materially harm our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

If we are unable to obtain and enforce patent protection for our products, our business could be materially 
harmed. 

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to protect proprietary methods and technologies that we develop or 
license under the patent and other intellectual property laws of the United States and other countries, so that we can 
prevent others from unlawfully using our inventions and proprietary information. However, we may not hold 
proprietary rights to some patents required for us to commercialize our proposed products. Because certain U.S. 
patent applications are confidential until patents issue, such as applications filed prior to November 29, 2000, or 
applications filed after such date which will not be filed in foreign countries, third parties may have filed patent 
applications for technology covered by our pending patent applications without our being aware of those 
applications, and our patent applications may not have priority over those applications. For this and other reasons, 
we or our third-party collaborators may be unable to secure desired patent rights, thereby losing desired exclusivity. 
If licenses are not available to us on acceptable terms, we will not be able to market the affected products or conduct 
the desired activities, unless we challenge the validity, enforceability or infringement of the third-party patent or 
otherwise circumvent the third-party patent. 

Our strategy depends on our ability to promptly identify and seek patent protection for our discoveries. In addition, 
we may rely on third-party collaborators to file patent applications relating to proprietary technology that we 
develop jointly during certain collaborations. The process of obtaining patent protection is expensive and time-
consuming. If our present or future collaborators fail to file and prosecute all necessary and desirable patent 
applications at a reasonable cost and in a timely manner, our business will be adversely affected. Despite our efforts 
and the efforts of our collaborators to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may be able to develop and 
use information that we regard as proprietary.  

The issuance of a patent provides a presumption, but does not guarantee that it is valid. Any patents we have 
obtained, or obtain in the future, may be challenged or potentially circumvented. Moreover, the United States Patent 
and Trademark Office, or the USPTO, may commence interference proceedings involving our patents or patent 
applications. Any such challenge to our patents or patent applications would be costly, would require significant 
time and attention of our management and could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, future 
court decisions may introduce uncertainty in the enforceability or scope of any patent, including those owned by 
medical device companies.  

Our pending patent applications may not result in issued patents. The patent position of medical device companies, 
including ours, is generally uncertain and involves complex legal and factual considerations. The standards that the 
USPTO and its foreign counterparts use to grant patents are not always applied predictably or uniformly and can 
change. There is also no uniform, worldwide policy regarding the subject matter and scope of claims granted or 
allowable in medical device patents. Accordingly, we do not know the degree of future protection for our proprietary 
rights or the breadth of claims that will be allowed in any patents issued to us or to others. The legal systems of 
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certain countries do not favor the aggressive enforcement of patents, and the laws of foreign countries may not 
protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Therefore, the enforceability or scope of our 
owned or licensed patents in the United States or in foreign countries cannot be predicted with certainty, and, as a 
result, any patents that we own or license may not provide sufficient protection against competitors. We may not be 
able to obtain or maintain patent protection for our pending patent applications, those we may file in the future, or 
those we may license from third parties. 

We cannot assure you that any patents that will issue, that may issue or that may be licensed to us will be 
enforceable or valid or will not expire prior to the commercialization of our products, thus allowing others to more 
effectively compete with us. Therefore, any patents that we own or license may not adequately protect our future 
products. 

Even if we obtain regulatory clearances or approvals for our products, the terms thereof and ongoing regulation 
of our products may limit how we manufacture and market our products, which could materially impair our 
ability to generate anticipated revenues.  

Once regulatory clearance or approval has been granted, the cleared or approved product and its manufacturer are 
subject to continual review. Any cleared or approved product may be promoted only for its indicated uses. In 
addition, if the FDA or other non-U.S. regulatory authorities clear or approve any of our products, the labeling, 
packaging, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising and promotion for the product will be subject to extensive 
regulatory requirements. We and any outsourced manufacturers of our products are also required to comply with the 
FDA’s Quality System Regulation, or similar requirements of non-U.S. regulatory authorities which includes 
requirements relating to quality control and quality assurance, as well as the corresponding maintenance of records 
and documentation as well as other quality system requirements and regulations from non-U.S. regulatory 
authorities. Further, regulatory agencies must approve our manufacturing facilities for Class III devices before they 
can be used to manufacture our products, and all manufacturing facilities are subject to ongoing regulatory 
inspection. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements of the FDA, either before or after clearance or 
approval, or other non-U.S. regulatory authorities, or if previously unknown problems with our products, 
manufacturers or manufacturing processes are discovered, we could be subject to administrative or judicially 
imposed sanctions, including:  

• restrictions on the products, manufacturers or manufacturing process;  

• adverse inspectional observations (Form 483) warning letters, non-warning letters incorporating 
inspectional observations;  

• civil or criminal penalties or fines;  

• injunctions;  

• product seizures, detentions or import bans;  

• voluntary or mandatory product recalls and publicity requirements;  

• suspension or withdrawal of regulatory clearances or approvals;  

• total or partial suspension of production;  

• imposition of restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements;  

• refusal to clear or approve pending applications or premarket notifications; and  

• import and export restrictions.  

Any of these sanctions could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations and 
financial condition. Furthermore, our key component suppliers may not currently be or may not continue to be in 
compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements, which could result in our failure to produce our products on 
a timely basis and in the required quantities, if at all.  

In addition, the FDA and other non-U.S. regulatory authorities may change their policies and additional regulations 
may be enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory clearance or approval of our products. We cannot predict the 
likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, 
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either in the United States or abroad. If we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we would likely not be 
permitted to market our future products and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.  

The regulatory approval and clearance processes are expensive, time-consuming and uncertain and may prevent 
us from obtaining approvals or clearances, as the case may be, for the commercialization of some or all of our 
products.  

Regulatory approval of a PMA, PMA supplement or clearance pursuant to a 510(k) premarket notification is not 
guaranteed, and the approval or clearance process, as the case may be, is expensive, uncertain and may, especially in 
the case of the PMA application, take several years. The FDA also has substantial discretion in the medical device 
clearance process or approval process. Despite the time and expense exerted, failure can occur at any stage, and we 
could encounter problems that cause us to repeat or perform additional development, standardized testing, pre-
clinical studies and clinical trials. The number of pre-clinical studies and clinical trials that will be required for FDA 
clearance or approval varies depending on the medical device candidate, the disease or condition that the medical 
device candidate is designed to address, and the regulations applicable to any particular medical device candidate. 
The FDA or other non-U.S. regulatory authorities can delay, limit or deny clearance or approval of a medical device 
candidate for many reasons, including:  

• a medical device candidate may not be deemed safe or effective, in the case of a PMA application;  

• a medical device candidate may not be deemed to be substantially equivalent to a device lawfully 
marketed either as a grandfathered device or one that was cleared through the 510(k) premarket 
notification process;  

• a medical device candidate may not be deemed to be in conformance with applicable standards and 
regulations;  

• FDA or other regulatory officials may not find the data from pre-clinical studies and clinical trials 
sufficient;  

• the FDA might not approve our processes or facilities or those of any of our third-party manufacturers 
for a Class III PMA device;  

• other non-U.S. regulatory authorities may not approve our processes or facilities or those of any of our 
third-party manufacturers, thereby restricting export; or  

• the FDA or other non-U.S. regulatory authorities may change clearance or approval policies or adopt 
new regulations.  

The laws governing the regulatory approval or clearance pathways in jurisdictions outside of the United States are 
complex.  We need to ensure that our activities, and the activities of our distributors and agents, comply with such 
laws.  If we do not comply with such laws, we may not be able to sell our products, including the Senhance System, 
in all jurisdictions we have targeted, which could have an adverse effect on our business operations and financial 
condition.   

Once our products are cleared or approved, modifications to our products may require new 510(k) clearances, 
premarket approvals or new or amended CE Certificates of Conformity, and may require us to cease marketing 
or recall the modified products until clearances, approvals or the relevant CE Certificates of Conformity are 
obtained. 

Any modification to a 510(k)-cleared device that could significantly affect its safety or effectiveness, or that would 
constitute a major change in its intended use, design, or manufacture, requires a new 510(k) clearance or, possibly, a 
PMA. The FDA requires every manufacturer to make this determination in the first instance, but the FDA may 
review such determinations. The FDA may not agree with our decisions regarding whether new clearances or 
approvals are necessary. If the FDA disagrees with our determinations for any future changes, or prior changes to 
previously marketed products, as the case may be, we may be required to cease marketing or to recall the modified 
products until we obtain clearance or approval, and we may be subject to significant regulatory fines or penalties. 

Furthermore, the FDA’s ongoing review of the 510(k) program may make it more difficult for us to make 
modifications to our products, either by imposing more strict requirements on when a new 510(k) for a modification 
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to a previously cleared product must be submitted, or applying more onerous review criteria to such submissions. In 
October 2017, the FDA issued guidance documents addressing when to submit a new 510(k) due to modifications to 
510(k) cleared products and the criteria for evaluating substantial equivalence. The interpretation of the guidance 
document by the FDA staff could lead to instances where the FDA disagrees with the Company’s decision regarding 
a change, and could result in warning letters and other enforcement actions. 

Even after clearance or approval for our products is obtained, we are subject to extensive post-market regulation 
by the FDA. Our failure to meet strict regulatory requirements could require us to pay fines, incur other costs or 
even close our facilities. 

Even after we have obtained the proper regulatory clearance or approval to market a product, the FDA has the power 
to require us to conduct post-market studies. These studies can be very expensive and time-consuming to conduct. 
Failure to complete such studies in a timely manner could result in the revocation of clearance or approval and the 
recall or withdrawal of the product, which could prevent us from generating sales from that product in the United 
States. The FDA has broad enforcement powers, and any regulatory enforcement actions or inquiries, or other 
increased scrutiny on us, could dissuade some surgeons from using our products and adversely affect our reputation 
and the perceived safety and efficacy of our products.  

We are also required to comply with the FDA’s QSR, which covers the methods used in, and the facilities and 
controls used for, the design, manufacture, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, sterilization, storage, shipping, 
installation and servicing of our marketed products. The FDA enforces the QSR through periodic announced and 
unannounced inspections of manufacturing facilities. In addition, in the future, regulatory authorities and/or 
customers may require specific packaging of sterile products, which could increase our costs and the price of our 
products. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with our products, including unanticipated adverse 
events or adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, manufacturing problems, or failure to comply with 
regulatory requirements such as QSR, may result in changes to labeling, restrictions on such products or 
manufacturing processes, withdrawal of the products from the market, voluntary or mandatory recalls, a requirement 
to repair, replace or refund the cost of any medical device we manufacture or distribute, fines, suspension of 
regulatory approvals, product seizures, injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties which would 
adversely affect our business, operating results and prospects. 

If one of our products, or a malfunction of one of our products, causes or contributes to a death or a serious 
injury, we will be subject to medical device reporting regulations, which can result in voluntary corrective actions 
or agency enforcement actions. 

Under the FDA’s medical device reporting, or MDR, regulations, we are required to report to the FDA any incident 
in which our product may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or in which our product 
malfunctioned and, if the malfunction were to recur, would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury. 
Repeated product malfunctions may result in a voluntary or involuntary product recall, which could divert 
managerial and financial resources, impair our ability to manufacture our products in a cost-effective and timely 
manner, and have an adverse effect on our reputation, results of operations and financial condition. We are also 
required to follow detailed recordkeeping requirements for all firm-initiated medical device corrections and 
removals, and to report such corrective and removal actions to the FDA if they are carried out in response to a risk to 
health and have not otherwise been reported under the MDR regulations.  

All manufacturers bringing medical devices to market in the European Economic Area, or EEA, are legally bound to 
report any incident that led or might have led to the death or serious deterioration in the state of health of a patient, 
user or other person, and which the manufacturer’s device is suspected to have caused, to the competent authority in 
whose jurisdiction the incident occurred. In such case, the manufacturer must file an initial report with the relevant 
competent authority, which would be followed by further evaluation or investigation of the incident and a final 
report indicating whether further action is required.  Any adverse event involving our products could result in future 
voluntary corrective actions, such as recalls or customer notifications, or agency action, such as inspection or 
enforcement action. Adverse events involving our products have been reported to us in the past, and we cannot 
guarantee that they will not occur in the future. Any corrective action, whether voluntary or involuntary, will require 
the dedication of our time and capital, distract management from operating our business and may harm our 
reputation and financial results. 
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A recall of our products, either voluntarily or at the direction of the FDA or another governmental authority, or 
the discovery of serious safety issues with our products, could have a significant adverse impact on us. 

The FDA and similar foreign governmental authorities such as the competent authorities of the EEA countries have 
the authority to require the recall of commercialized products in the event of material deficiencies or defects in 
design or manufacture or in the event that a product poses an unacceptable risk to health. Manufacturers may, under 
their own initiative, recall a product if any material deficiency in a device is found. A government-mandated or 
voluntary recall by us or one of our distributors could occur as a result of an unacceptable risk to health, component 
failures, manufacturing errors, design or labeling defects or other deficiencies and issues. 

Any future recalls of any of our products would divert managerial and financial resources and could have an adverse 
effect on our reputation, results of operations and financial condition, which could impair our ability to produce our 
products in a cost-effective and timely manner in order to meet our customers’ demands. We may also be required to 
bear other costs or take other actions that may have a negative impact on our future sales and our ability to generate 
profits. 

U.S. legislative or FDA regulatory reforms may make it more difficult and costly for us to obtain regulatory 
approval of our product candidates and to manufacture, market and distribute our products after approval is 
obtained. 

Legislative changes could significantly alter the statutory provisions governing the regulatory approval, manufacture 
and marketing of regulated products. In addition, FDA regulations and guidance could be revised or reinterpreted by 
the FDA in ways that could significantly affect our business and our products. Any new regulations or revisions or 
reinterpretations of existing regulations may impose additional costs or lengthen review times of future products. It 
is impossible to predict whether legislative changes will be enacted or FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations 
changed, and what the impact of such changes, if any, may be. 

Even if we receive regulatory clearance or approval to market our products, the market may not be receptive to 
our products, which could undermine our financial viability. 

Even if our products obtain regulatory clearance or approval, resulting products may not gain market acceptance 
among physicians, patients, health care payors and/or the medical community. We have experienced minimal sales 
of our Senhance System, to date. We believe that the degree of market acceptance will depend on a number of 
factors, including: 

• timing of market introduction of competitive products;  

• safety and efficacy of our products;  

• physician training in the use of our products;  

• prevalence and severity of any side effects;  

• potential advantages or disadvantages over alternative treatments;  

• strength of marketing and distribution support; and  

• price of our future products, both in absolute terms and relative to alternative treatments.  

If applicable, availability of coverage and reimbursement from government and other third-party payors can also 
impact the acceptance of our product offerings. 

If we fail to attract and retain key management and professional personnel, we may be unable to successfully 
commercialize or develop our products.  

We will need to effectively manage our operational, sales and marketing, development and other resources in order 
to successfully pursue our commercialization and research and development efforts for our existing and future 
products. Our success depends on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified personnel.   If 
we are not successful in retaining and recruiting highly qualified personnel, our business may be harmed as a result.  
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We may be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal and state anti-kickback, fraud and abuse, false claims, privacy 
and security and physician payment transparency laws. If we are unable to comply, or have not fully complied, 
with such laws, we could face substantial penalties. 

Our business activities are subject to additional healthcare regulation and enforcement by the federal government 
and by authorities in the states and foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct our business. Such laws include, 
without limitation, state and federal anti-kickback, fraud and abuse, false claims, privacy and security and physician 
payment transparency laws. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of such laws that apply to us, we 
may be subject to penalties, including, without limitation, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, the 
curtailment or restructuring of our operations, exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs 
and imprisonment, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results. 

Current legislation and future legislative or regulatory reform of the health care system may affect our ability to 
sell our products profitably. 

In the United States, there have been, and we expect there to continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory 
initiatives, at both the federal and state government levels, to change the healthcare system in ways that, if approved, 
could affect our ability to sell our products profitably. While many of the proposed policy changes require 
congressional approval to implement, we cannot assure you that reimbursement payments under governmental and 
private third-party payor programs to health care providers will remain at levels comparable to present levels or will 
be sufficient to cover the costs allocable to patients eligible for reimbursement under these programs. Any changes 
that lower reimbursement rates under Medicare, Medicaid or private payor programs could negatively affect our 
business.  

To the extent that any of our products are deemed to be durable medical equipment, or DME, they may be subject to 
distribution under Medicare’s Competitive Acquisition regulations, which could adversely affect the amount that we 
can seek from payors. Non-DME devices used in surgical procedures are normally paid directly by the hospital or 
health care provider and not reimbursed separately by third-party payors. As a result, these types of devices are 
subject to intense price competition that can place a small manufacturer at a competitive disadvantage as hospitals 
and health care providers attempt to negotiate lower prices for products such as the ones we develop and sell.  

With the continued uncertainty regarding the status of the 2010 Health Care Reform Legislation, at this time, the 
Company is not certain as to the impact of federal health care legislation on its business.    

The 2010 Health Care Reform Legislation subjects manufacturers of medical devices to an excise tax of 2.3% on 
certain U.S. sales of medical devices beginning in January 2013. This excise tax was suspended in December 2017 
for two additional years, however, if eventually implemented, this excise tax will likely increase our expenses in the 
future.  

Further, the 2010 Health Care Reform Legislation includes the Open Payments Act (formerly referred to as the 
Physician Payments Sunshine Act), which, in conjunction with its implementing regulations, requires certain 
manufacturers of certain drugs, biologics, and devices that are reimbursed by Medicare, Medicaid and the Children’s 
Health Insurance Program to report annually certain payments or “transfers of value” provided to physicians and 
teaching hospitals and to report annually ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate 
family members during the preceding calendar year. We provided reports under the Open Payments Act to the 
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS. The failure to report appropriate data accurately, timely, and 
completely could subject us to significant financial penalties. Other countries and several states currently have 
similar laws and more may enact similar legislation. 

We are unable to predict what additional legislation or regulation relating to the health care industry or third-party 
coverage and reimbursement may be enacted in the future or what effect such legislation or regulation would have 
on our business. Any cost containment measures or other health care system reforms that are adopted could have a 
material and adverse effect on our ability to commercialize our existing and future products successfully. 
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Because our design, development and manufacturing capabilities are limited, we may rely on third parties to 
design, develop, manufacture or supply some of our products. An inability to find additional or alternate sources 
for these services and products could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of 
operations. 

We have used third-party design and development sources to assist in the design and development of our medical 
device products. In the future, we may choose to use additional third-party sources for the design and development 
of our products. If these design and development partners are unable to provide their services in the timeframe or to 
the performance level that we require, we may not be able to establish a contract and obtain a sufficient alternative 
supply from another supplier on a timely basis and in the manner that we require.  

Our products require precise, high quality manufacturing. We and our contract manufacturers will be subject to 
ongoing periodic unannounced inspection by the FDA and non-U.S. regulatory authorities to ensure strict 
compliance with the quality systems regulations, current “good manufacturing practices” and other applicable 
government regulations and corresponding standards. If we or our contract manufacturers fail to achieve and 
maintain high manufacturing standards in compliance with QSR, we may experience manufacturing errors resulting 
in patient injury or death, product recalls or withdrawals, delays or interruptions of production or failures in product 
testing or delivery, delay or prevention of filing or approval of marketing applications for our products, cost 
overruns or other problems that could seriously harm our business.  

Any performance failure by us or on the part of our design and development partners or contract manufacturers 
could delay product development or regulatory clearance or approval of our products, or commercialization of our 
products and future products, depriving us of potential product revenue and resulting in additional losses. In 
addition, our dependence on any third party for design, development or manufacturing could adversely affect our 
future profit margins. Our ability to replace any then-existing manufacturer may be difficult because the number of 
potential manufacturers is limited and, in the case of Class III devices, the FDA must approve any replacement 
manufacturer before manufacturing can begin. It may be difficult or impossible for us to identify and engage a 
replacement manufacturer on acceptable terms in a timely manner, or at all. 

We may become subject to potential product liability claims, and we may be required to pay damages that exceed 
our insurance coverage. 

Our business exposes us to potential product liability claims that are inherent in the design, testing, manufacture, 
sale and distribution of our products and each of our product candidates that we are seeking to introduce to the 
market. Surgical medical devices involve significant risks of serious complications, including bleeding, nerve injury, 
paralysis, infection, and even death. Any product liability claim brought against us, with or without merit, could 
result in the increase of our product liability insurance rates or in our inability to secure coverage in the future on 
commercially reasonable terms, if at all. In addition, if our product liability insurance proves to be inadequate to pay 
a damage award, we may have to pay the excess of this award out of our cash reserves, which could significantly 
harm our financial condition. If longer-term patient results and experience indicate that our products or any 
component of a product causes tissue damage, motor impairment or other adverse effects, we could be subject to 
significant liability. A product liability claim, even one without merit, could harm our reputation in the industry, lead 
to significant legal fees, and result in the diversion of management’s attention from managing our business. 
 

ITEM 1.B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

None. 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

Our principal corporate office is located at 635 Davis Drive, Suite 300, Morrisville, North Carolina. We lease this 
facility, which consists of 37,328 square feet, for a five-year term, under a lease that commenced on April 1, 2010. 
An amendment to this lease was signed on June 13, 2014, extending the lease term until June 30, 2018. Pursuant to a 
lease entered into on October 24, 2013, we also lease 24,000 square feet of warehouse and office space in Durham, 
North Carolina. That lease commenced in January 2014 and expired in January 2018. 
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Our Italian research and development and demonstration facilities are located at Viale dell'Innovazione 3, 20126 
Milan, Italy. We lease these facilities, which consist of 11,273 square feet, for a six-year term ending on July 31, 
2022, under a lease that commenced on May 12, 2016.  

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS   

None. 
  
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Since April 2, 2014, our common stock has been listed on the NYSE American under the symbol “TRXC.” The 
table below sets forth, for the respective periods indicated, the high and low bid prices for our common stock on the 
NYSE American. The bid prices represent inter-dealer transactions, without adjustments for retail mark-ups, mark-
downs or commissions and may not necessarily represent actual transactions. 
 

    Bid Prices   
    High     Low   

2018                 
First Quarter (through February 27, 2018)   $ 2.19     $ 1.27   

2017                 
First Quarter   $ 1.63     $ 1.05   
Second Quarter     1.26       0.45   
Third Quarter     1.53       0.60   
Fourth Quarter     5.00       1.32   

2016                 
First Quarter   $ 4.79     $ 1.54   
Second Quarter     6.10       1.03   
Third Quarter     1.97       1.16   
Fourth Quarter     2.33       1.30   

 
As of March 1, 2018, there were approximately 228 record holders of our common stock (counting all shares held in 
single nominee registration as one stockholder). 

We paid no dividends or made any other distributions in respect of our common stock during our fiscal years ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, and we have no plans to pay any dividends or make any other distributions in 
the future. In addition, the terms of the Innovatus Loan Agreement prohibit the Company from paying any dividends 
without the consent of the Lender.  

  
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans. 

The Company currently has one equity compensation plan under which it makes awards, the TransEnterix, Inc. 
Amended and Restated Incentive Compensation Plan, (the “Plan”). The Plan was originally approved by the Board 
of Directors and adopted by the majority of our stockholders on November 13, 2007, and amended and restated and 
approved by the Board of Directors and approved by the majority of our stockholders on May 7, 2015 to increase the 
number of shares of common stock authorized under the Plan to 11,940,000 shares, and to make other changes. The 
Plan was amended on June 8, 2016 to increase the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Plan to 
18,940,000 shares. The Plan was amended on May 25, 2017 to increase the number of shares reserved for issuance 
under the Plan to 25,940,000 shares. The Plan is used for plan-based awards for officers, other employees, 
consultants, advisors and non-employee directors. In connection with the 2013 merger transaction with SafeStitch 
Medical, Inc., or the Merger, we assumed all of the options that were issued and outstanding immediately prior to 
the Merger as issued by TransEnterix Surgical, and adjusted based on the Merger at the exchange ratio, which are 
now exercisable for approximately 1,203,825 shares of common stock. Such options were granted under the 
TransEnterix, Inc. 2006 Stock Plan (the “2006 Plan”) which was assumed by the Company in the Merger. The 2006 
Plan is maintained solely for the purpose of the stock options granted under such 2006 Plan that remain outstanding; 
no future awards are authorized to be made under the 2006 Plan.  
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The following table gives information about the Company’s common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of 
options and other equity awards as of December 31, 2017: 
 

Plan Category   

Number of 
securities to be 

issued upon 
exercise of 

outstanding 
options (1)     

Weighted 
average exercise 

price of 
outstanding 

options     

Number of securities 
remaining available 

for future issuance (2)   
Equity compensation plans approved by 
security holders     18,884,506     $ 1.86       6,491,343   
Equity compensation plans not approved by 
security 
   holders (3)     1,203,825     $ 1.04       —   
Total     20,088,331               6,491,343   

 

(1) Includes 14,489,850 shares underlying outstanding stock options awarded under the Plan and 4,394,656 
restricted stock units awarded under the Plan. 

(2) These shares are all available for future awards under the Plan. 
(3) Represents 1,203,825 shares underlying outstanding stock options awarded prior to the Merger under the 2006 

Plan and assumed in the Merger. 

The graph below matches TransEnterix, Inc.'s cumulative 5-year total shareholder return on common stock with the 
cumulative total returns of the NYSE American index and the RDG SmallCap Medical Devices index. The graph tracks 
the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and in each index (with the reinvestment of all dividends) 
from December 31, 2012 to December 31, 2017. 
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The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance. 

Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.  
 
On September 7, 2017, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of common stock warrants to purchase 950,000 
shares to a service provider to the Company.  The issuance of the foregoing securities were exempt from the 
registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, afforded by Section 
3(a)(9) or 4(a)(2) thereof and Regulation D promulgated thereunder, which exception we believe is available 
because the securities were not offered pursuant to a general solicitation and such issuances were otherwise made in 
compliance with the requirements of Regulation D and Rule 506. The securities issued in this transaction may not be 
resold except pursuant to an effective registration statement filed under the Securities Act or pursuant to a valid 
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. 
 
On May 5, 2017, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of a common stock warrant to purchase 1,244,746 
shares at $1.00 per share to Innovatus Life Sciences Lending Fund I, LP, a new Lender under a Loan Agreement 
entered into on May 10, 2017. The issuance of the foregoing securities were exempt from the registration 
requirements of the Securities Act afforded by Section 3(a)(9) or 4(a)(2) thereof, which exception we believe is 
available because the securities were not offered pursuant to a general solicitation.  The securities issued in this 
transaction may not be resold except pursuant to an effective registration statement filed under the Securities Act or 
pursuant to a valid exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.   

On September 14, 2016, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of up to 150,000 shares of common stock to a 
vendor of the Company in lieu of a cash payment.  To date, the Company has issued a total of 95,678 shares of the 
Company’s common stock to such vendor. The issuance of the foregoing securities were exempt from the registration 
requirements of the Securities Act afforded by Section 3(a)(9) or 4(a)(2) thereof and Regulation D promulgated 
thereunder, which exception we believe is available because the securities were not offered pursuant to a general 
solicitation and such issuances were otherwise made in compliance with the requirements of Regulation D and Rule 
506. The securities issued in this transaction may not be resold except pursuant to an effective registration statement 
filed under the Securities Act or pursuant to a valid exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.  

The Company did not purchase any of its common stock during the quarter ended December 31, 2017. 
 

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
The table below shows selected consolidated financial data. The statements of operations and comprehensive loss 
data for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 and the balance sheet data at December 31, 2017 and 
2016 are derived from our financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The statements of 
operations and comprehensive loss data for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the balance sheet data 
at December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 are derived from our financial statements not included in this Annual Report. 
The historical results presented below are not necessarily indicative of financial results to be achieved in future 
periods. 
 
Year ended December 31,   2017(1)     2016(1)     2015 (1)     2014 (2)     2013 (3)(4)   
    (in thousands)   
Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 
Data: 

        
                                

Sales   $ 7,111     $ 1,519     $ —     $ 401     $ 1,431   
Income (loss)   $ (144,796 )   $ (119,980 )   $ (46,948 )   $ (37,652 )   $ (28,358 ) 
Income (loss)  per common share   $ (0.97 )   $ (1.07 )   $ (0.59 )   $ (0.64 )   $ (2.23 ) 

Balance Sheet Data:                                         
Total assets   $ 250,251     $ 176,249     $ 248,602     $ 135,111     $ 116,714   
Long-term obligations (5)   $ 28,473     $ 27,690     $ 40,253     $ 9,175     $ 4,602   

 
(1) Includes the assets and liabilities of TransEnterix Italia acquired and assumed in the Senhance Acquisition, 

which occurred on September 21, 2015. See the description titled “Senhance Acquisition and Related 
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Transactions” under Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” in this Annual Report. 

(2) On March 31, 2014, we effectuated a reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding shares of common stock 
at a ratio of 1 for 5. As a result of the Reverse Stock Split, our issued and outstanding stock decreased from 
244,276,923 to 48,855,255 shares of common stock, all with a par value of $0.001. All information related to 
common stock, preferred stock and earnings per share for prior periods has been retroactively adjusted to give 
effect to the Reverse Stock Split. 

(3) On September 3, 2013, TransEnterix Surgical, Inc. a Delaware corporation, and SafeStitch Medical, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation or SafeStitch consummated a merger transaction whereby TransEnterix Surgical merged 
with a merger subsidiary of SafeStitch, with TransEnterix Surgical as the surviving entity in the merger or 
Merger. As a result of the Merger, TransEnterix Surgical became a wholly owned subsidiary of SafeStitch. On 
December 6, 2013, SafeStitch changed its name to TransEnterix, Inc.  The Merger was a reverse merger for 
accounting purposes with TransEnterix Surgical as the acquiring company. Therefore, from September 3, 
2013 forward the financial statements of the Company are the historical financial statements of TransEnterix 
Surgical with the addition of SafeStitch as of the date of the Merger.  

(4) Represents the financial statements of TransEnterix Surgical for the period from January 1, 2013 to September 
2, 2013. 

(5) Long-term obligations include: (1) cash consideration installments to be paid to Sofar in connection with the 
Senhance Acquisition; (2) outstanding amounts under a Loan Agreement, first entered into by TransEnterix 
Surgical in January 2012 and amended from time to time since such time and replaced in 2017; (3) in 2017, 
2016 and 2015 net deferred tax liabilities; and (4) in 2013, promissory notes of SafeStitch, which were 
converted into equity securities of the Company in 2013.  
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our 
“Risk Factors” and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes to our consolidated financial 
statements included in this Annual Report. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements. See 
cautionary note regarding “Forward-Looking Statements” at the beginning of this Annual Report. 

Overview 

TransEnterix is a medical device company that is digitizing the interface between the surgeon and the patient to 
improve minimally invasive surgery by addressing the clinical and economic challenges associated with current 
laparoscopic and robotic options in today's value-based healthcare environment. The Company is focused on the 
commercialization of the Senhance™ Surgical System, which digitizes laparoscopic minimally invasive surgery. 
The system allows for robotic precision, haptic feedback, surgeon camera control via eye sensing and improved 
ergonomics while offering responsible economics. 

The Senhance System has been granted a CE Mark in Europe for laparoscopic abdominal and pelvic surgery, as well 
as limited thoracic operations excluding cardiac and vascular surgery. In April 2017, the Company submitted a 
510(k) application to the FDA for the Senhance System. On October 13, 2017, the Company received 510(k) 
clearance from the FDA for use in laparoscopic colorectal and gynecologic surgery.  These indications cover 23 
procedures, including benign and oncologic procedures.  We anticipate expanding the indications for use in the 
middle of 2018. The Senhance System is available for sale in the U.S., the EU and select other countries.  

The Senhance System is a multi-port robotic surgery system which allows multiple robotic arms to control 
instruments and a camera. The system features advanced technology to enable surgeons with haptic feedback and 
the ability to move the camera via eye movement. The system replicates laparoscopic motion that is familiar to 
experienced surgeons, and integrates three-dimensional high definition vision technology. The Senhance System 
also offers responsible economics to hospitals by offering robotic technology with reusable instruments thereby 
reducing additional costs per surgery when compared to other robotic solutions. 

The Company has also developed the SurgiBot System, a single-port, robotically enhanced laparoscopic surgical 
platform. On December 18, 2017, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement with Great Belief 
International Limited, or GBIL, to advance the SurgiBot System towards global commercialization.  The agreement 
transfers ownership of the SurgiBot System assets, while the Company retains the option to distribute or co-
distribute the SurgiBot System outside of China. Upon completion of the transfer of all SurgiBot System assets, 
GBIL will have the SurgiBot System manufactured in China and obtain Chinese regulatory clearance from 
the China Food and Drug Administration, or CFDA, while entering into a nationwide distribution agreement with 
China National Scientific and Instruments and Materials Company, or CSIMC, for the Chinese market.  The 
agreement provides the Company with proceeds of at least $29 million, of which $7.5 million was received in 
December 2017. An additional $7.5 million is expected to be received by March 31, 2018, including a $3.0 
million equity investment at $2.33 per share. The remaining $14 million, representing minimum royalties, will be 
paid beginning at the earlier of receipt of Chinese regulatory approval or five years. 

We believe that future outcomes of minimally invasive surgery will be enhanced through our combination of more 
advanced tools and robotic functionality, which are designed to: (i) empower surgeons with improved precision, 
dexterity and visualization; (ii) improve patient satisfaction and enable a desirable post-operative recovery; and 
(iii) provide a cost-effective robotic system, compared to existing alternatives today, for a wide range of clinical 
applications. Our strategy is to focus on the commercialization and further development of the Senhance System. 

From our inception, we devoted a substantial percentage of our resources to research and development and start-up 
activities, consisting primarily of product design and development, clinical studies, manufacturing, recruiting 
qualified personnel and raising capital. 

Since inception, we have been unprofitable. As of December 31, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $447.6 
million. 
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We expect to continue to invest in research and development and sales and marketing and increase selling, general 
and administrative expenses as we grow. As a result, we will need to generate significant revenue in order to achieve 
profitability. 

We operate in one business segment. 

Debt Refinancing 
On May 10, 2017, the Company and its domestic subsidiaries, as co-borrowers, entered into a Loan and Security 
Agreement, or the Innovatus Loan Agreement with Innovatus Life Sciences Lending Fund I, LP, as Lender and 
Collateral Agent, or the Lender.  Under the Innovatus Loan Agreement, the Lender has agreed to make certain term 
loans in the aggregate principal amount of up to $17,000,000. Funding of the first $14,000,000 tranche occurred on 
May 10, 2017. The Company will be eligible to draw on the second tranche of $3,000,000 upon achievement of 
certain milestones. So long as the Company meets each Interest-Only Milestone (as defined below), the Company is 
entitled to make interest-only payments for up to twenty-four (24) months. At the end of the interest-only period, the 
Company will be required to repay the term loans over a two-year period, based on a twenty-four (24) month 
amortization schedule, with a final maturity date occurring on the fourth anniversary of the initial funding 
date.  However, the interest-only period will end if the Company fails to meet any Interest-Only Milestone. 
Commencing on the first day of the month following such failure to achieve an Interest-Only Milestone, the 
Company will be required to repay the term loans over a two year period, based on a twenty-four (24) month 
amortization schedule.  The Interest-Only Milestones require the Company to (i) achieve certain twelve month 
revenue targets, measured quarterly, commencing with quarter ending March 31, 2018, (ii) meet a minimum capital 
raising threshold through the sale and issuance of equity securities during the period from April 10, 2017 through 
May 31, 2018 and (iii) obtain clearance for commercialization of the Senhance System by the U.S. Food and Drug 
Administration, or the Senhance Clearance, by May 30, 2018.  Each such milestone is referred to as an Interest-Only 
Milestone. In connection with its entrance into the Innovatus Loan Agreement, the Company repaid its existing 
credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank and Oxford Finance LLC under the SVB Loan Agreement. 
  
The term loans bear interest at a fixed rate equal to 11% per annum, of which 2.5% can be paid in-kind and added to 
the outstanding principal amount of the term loans until the earlier of (i) the first anniversary following the funding 
date and (ii) the Company’s failure to achieve an Interest-Only Milestone.  The Company will be required to repay 
the term loans if they are accelerated following an event of default.  In addition, the Company is permitted to prepay 
the term loans in full at any time upon five (5) business days’ written notice to the Lender.  Upon the earliest to 
occur of the maturity date, acceleration of the term loan, or prepayment of the term loan, the Company is required to 
make a final payment equal to the total term loan commitment multiplied by four percent (4%); provided, however, 
that in the event the Company refinances its obligations with the Lender after Senhance Clearance, no final fee or 
prepayment fee described below will be due; and provided, further, that if the Company elects to refinance its 
obligations prior to the funding of the second tranche, the final fee with respect to the second tranche shall be paid in 
full on the date of such refinancing. Any prepayment of the term loans in full, whether mandatory or voluntary, must 
include (i) the final fee, (ii) interest at the default rate (which is the rate otherwise applicable plus five percent (5%)) 
with respect to any amounts past due, (iii) the Lender’s expenses and all other obligations that are due and payable 
to the Lender and (iv) a prepayment fee of three percent (3%) if the term loan is paid in full on or before the first 
anniversary of the effective date, two percent (2%) if paid off after the first anniversary but on or before the second 
anniversary of the effective date and one percent (1%) if paid off after the second anniversary but on or before the 
third anniversary of the effective date. 
  
In connection with the funding, the Company paid a facility fee of $170,000 on the date of funding of the first 
tranche.  In addition, the Company issued warrants to the Lender to purchase shares of the Company’s common 
stock.  Additional warrants will be issued on the funding date of each subsequent tranche and will expire five (5) 
years from such issue date. The warrants issued in connection with funding of the first tranche entitle the Lender to 
purchase up to 1,244,746 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share. 
  
The Company’s obligations under the Innovatus Loan Agreement are secured by a security interest in all of the 
assets of the Company and its current and future domestic and material foreign subsidiaries, including a security 
interest in the intellectual property.  The Innovatus Loan Agreement contains customary representations and 
covenants that, subject to exceptions, restrict the Company’s ability to do the following things: declare dividends or 
redeem or repurchase equity interests; incur additional liens; make loans and investments; incur additional 
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indebtedness; engage in mergers, acquisitions, and asset sales; transact with affiliates; undergo a change in control; 
add or change business locations; and engage in businesses that are not related to its existing business. Under the 
terms of the Innovatus Loan Agreement, the Company is required to maintain minimum unrestricted cash in an 
amount equal to (x) six million dollars ($6,000,000) at all times prior to Senhance Clearance; and (y) at all times 
thereafter, the lesser of (i) $6,000,000, (ii) the Company’s trailing three (3) months’ cash used to fund operating 
activities, as determined as of the most recent month end and (iii) the then outstanding principal amount of the term 
loans, together with accrued but unpaid interest. 

Public Offering of Units 
On April 28, 2017, we entered into an underwriting agreement with Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, or 
the Underwriter, relating to an underwritten public offering of an aggregate of 24,900,000 Units, each consisting of 
one share of the Company’s Common Stock, a Series A Warrant to purchase one share of Common Stock and a 
Series B Warrant to purchase 0.75 shares of Common Stock at an offering price to the public of $1.00 per Unit. 
Certain of the Company’s officers, directors and existing stockholders purchased approximately $2.5 million of 
Units in the public offering. The closing of the public offering occurred on May 3, 2017. 

Each Series A Warrant had an initial exercise price of $1.00 per share and was able to be exercised at any time 
beginning on the date of issuance, and from time to time thereafter, through and including the first anniversary of the 
issuance date, unless terminated earlier as provided in the Series A Warrant. Receipt of 510(k) clearance for the 
Senhance System on October 13, 2017, triggered the acceleration of the expiration date of the Series A Warrants to 
October 31, 2017.  As of December 31, 2017, all of the Series A Warrants had been exercised. 

Each Series B Warrant has an initial exercise price of $1.00 per share and may be exercised at any time beginning 
on the date of issuance and from time to time thereafter through and including the fifth anniversary of the issuance 
date, or by May 3, 2022. As of December 31, 2017, Series B Warrants representing approximately 8.9 million shares 
had been exercised. 

The exercise prices and the number of shares issuable upon exercise of the outstanding Series B Warrants are 
subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events, including, but not limited to, stock splits or dividends, 
business combinations, sale of assets, similar recapitalization transactions, or other similar transactions. The Series 
B Warrants are subject to adjustment in the event that the Company issues or is deemed to issue shares of common 
stock for less than the then applicable exercise price of the Series B Warrants. The exercisability of the Series B 
Warrants may be limited if, upon exercise, the holder or any of its affiliates would beneficially own more than 
4.99% of our common stock. If, at any time Series B Warrants are outstanding, any fundamental transaction occurs, 
as described in the Series B Warrants and generally including any consolidation or merger into another corporation, 
the consummation of a transaction whereby another entity acquires more than 50% of the Company’s outstanding 
voting stock, or the sale of all or substantially all of its assets, the successor entity must assume in writing all of the 
obligations to the Series B Warrant holders. Additionally, in the event of a fundamental transaction, each Series B 
Warrant holder will have the right to require the Company, or its successor, to repurchase the Series B Warrants for 
an amount of cash equal to the Black-Scholes value of the remaining unexercised portion of such Series B Warrants. 

The underwriting agreement contains customary representations, warranties and agreements by the Company, 
customary conditions to closing, indemnification obligations of the Company and the Underwriters, including for 
liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, other obligations of the parties and termination provisions. 
The representations, warranties and covenants contained in the underwriting agreement were made only for purposes 
of such agreement and as of specific dates, were solely for the benefit of the parties to such agreement, and may be 
subject to limitations agreed upon by the contracting parties. 

The net proceeds to the Company from the offering were approximately $23.2 million, prior to any exercise of the 
Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated 
offering expenses paid by the Company. The net proceeds to the Company from the exercise of all of the Series A 
Warrants and the Series B Warrants exercised prior to December 31, 2017 were approximately $33.6 million. 

The Units were issued pursuant to a prospectus supplement dated April 28, 2017 and an accompanying base 
prospectus dated June 22, 2016 that form a part of the registration statement on Form S-3 that the Company filed 
with the SEC on November 7, 2014 and was declared effective on December 19, 2014 (File No. 333-199998), and 
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post-effectively amended pursuant to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 on Form S-3, as filed with the SEC on 
March 8, 2016 and declared effective on June 22, 2016 and a related registration statement filed pursuant to Rule 
462(b) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933. 

On December 15, 2017, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-222103) to register shares of 
common stock underlying outstanding Series B Warrants previously issued as part of the Company’s May 3, 2017 
public offering.  The new registration statement replaced the registration statement on Form S-3 that expired on 
December 19, 2017 with respect to these securities.  On January 26, 2018, we filed an Amendment No. 1 to such 
registration statement on Form S-3 to update the information, in the registration statement.  The registration 
statement covers up to 9,579,884 shares of common stock underlying the outstanding Series B Warrants.  This 
registration statement on Form S-3 was declared effective on January 29, 2018.   

Lincoln Park Purchase Agreement 

On December 16, 2016, we entered into a purchase agreement, or the LPC Purchase Agreement, with Lincoln Park 
Capital Fund, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company, or Lincoln Park, pursuant to which we had the right to sell 
to Lincoln Park up to an aggregate of $25,000,000 in shares of our common stock, subject to certain limitations and 
conditions set forth in the LPC Purchase Agreement.  Effective April 27, 2017, we terminated the LPC Purchase 
Agreement. The LPC Purchase Agreement provided us with an election to terminate the Purchase Agreement for 
any reason or for no reason by delivering a notice to Lincoln Park, and we did not incur any early termination 
penalties in connection with the termination of the LPC Purchase Agreement. Prior to termination, we sold shares of 
our common stock to Lincoln Park under the LPC Purchase Agreement for gross proceeds of approximately $5.7 
million. 

At-the-Market Offerings 

On February 9, 2016, we entered into a Controlled Equity Offering SM Sales Agreement, or the “2016 Sales 
Agreement, with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., or Cantor, under which we could offer and sell, through Cantor, up to 
approximately $43.6 million in shares of common stock in an at-the market offering, or the 2016 ATM Offering. 
The 2016 Sales Agreement was terminated, effective September 10, 2017. On February 20, 2015, we had entered 
into a Controlled Equity Offering SM Sales Agreement, or the 2015 Sales Agreement, with Cantor, as sales agent, 
pursuant to which we offered and sold, through Cantor, $25.0 million in shares of common stock in an at-the-market 
offering from February 2015 through February 2016, or the 2015 ATM Offering. All sales of shares under these 
offerings were made pursuant to an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC. We paid 
Cantor a commission of approximately 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds received from all sales of common stock 
under the 2015 Sales Agreement and the 2016 Sales Agreement. 

On August 31, 2017, we entered into an At-the-Market Equity Offering Sales Agreement, or the 2017 Sales 
Agreement, with Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, or Stifel, under which we could offer and sell, through 
Stifel, up to approximately $50.0 million in shares of common stock in an at-the-market offering, or the 2017 ATM 
Offering. All sales of shares were made pursuant to an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 filed with 
the SEC. We paid Stifel a commission of approximately 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds received from all sales 
of common stock under the 2017 Sales Agreement. As of October 31, 2017, the 2017 ATM Offering was completed. 

The following table summarizes the total sales under the 2015 Sales Agreement, 2016 Sales Agreement and 2017 
Sales Agreement for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share amounts): 
 

    
2017 Sales 
Agreement     

2016 Sales 
Agreement     

2015 Sales 
Agreement     

    

Year Ended 
December 

31, 
2017     

Year Ended 
December 

31, 
2016     

Year Ended 
December 

31, 
2016     

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2015     
Total shares of common stock sold     15,998.5       8,763.4       5,710.2       2,014.3     
Average price per share   $ 3.13     $ 4.70     $ 3.23     $ 3.25     
Gross proceeds   $ 50,000     $ 41,156     $ 18,454     $ 6,546     
Commissions earned by Stifel or Cantor   $ 1,500     $ 1,235     $ 553     $ 197     
Other issuance costs   $ 97     $ 185     $ —     $ 259     
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Senhance Acquisition and Related Transactions 
Membership Interest Purchase Agreement and Amendment 
On September 21, 2015, the Company announced that it had entered into a Membership Interest Purchase 
Agreement, dated September 18, 2015 with Sofar S.p.A., as the Seller, Vulcanos S.r.l., as the acquired company, and 
TransEnterix International, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company as the Buyer. The closing of the 
transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement occurred on September 21, 2015.  The Buyer acquired all of 
the membership interests of the acquired company from the Seller, and changed the name of the acquired company 
to TransEnterix Italia S.r.l. On the closing date, pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company completed the 
strategic acquisition from Sofar S.p.A. of all of the assets, employees and contracts related to the advanced robotic 
system for minimally invasive laparoscopic surgery now known as the Senhance System, or the Senhance 
Acquisition. 

Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the consideration consisted of the issuance of 15,543,413 shares of the 
Company’s common stock, or the Securities Consideration, and approximately $25,000,000 U.S. Dollars and 
€27,500,000 Euro in cash consideration, or the Cash Consideration. The Securities Consideration was issued in full 
at closing of the acquisition; the Cash Consideration was or will be paid in four tranches, with US $25,000,000 paid 
at closing and the remaining Cash Consideration of €27,500,000 to be paid in three additional tranches based on 
achievement of negotiated milestones. On December 30, 2016, the Company and Sofar entered into an Amendment 
to the Purchase Agreement to restructure the terms of the second tranche of the Cash Consideration. Under the 
Amendment, the second tranche was restructured to reduce the contingent cash consideration by €5.0 million in 
exchange for the issuance of 3,722,685 shares of the Company’s common stock with an aggregate fair market value 
of €5.0 million, which were issued on January 4, 2017. The price per share was $1.404 and was calculated based on 
the average of the closing prices of the Company’s common stock on ten consecutive trading days ending one day 
before the execution of the Amendment.  

The issuance of the initial Securities Consideration was effected as a private placement of securities under Section 
4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, and Regulation D promulgated thereunder.  The issuance of the additional shares in 
January 2017 was made under an existing shelf registration statement on Form S-3. 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company has paid all Cash Consideration due under the second tranche and €1.8 
million due under the fourth tranche. 

The Purchase Agreement contains customary representations and warranties of the parties and the parties have 
customary indemnification obligations, which are subject to certain limitations described further in the Purchase 
Agreement. 

Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreements 
In connection with the Senhance Acquisition, we also entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of 
September 21, 2015, with the Seller, pursuant to which we agreed to register the Securities Consideration shares for 
resale following the end of the lock-up periods described below. The resale Registration Statement has been filed 
and is effective. 

In connection with the Senhance Acquisition, Sofar entered into a Lock-Up Agreement with us pursuant to which 
Sofar agreed, subject to certain exceptions, not to sell, transfer or otherwise convey any of the Securities 
Consideration over a two-year period following the Closing Date. As of September 21, 2017, all of the Securities 
Consideration was released from the lock-up restrictions and is eligible to be resold under the effective resale 
registration statement.   

2015 Public Offering 

On June 11, 2015, we sold 16,666,667 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $3.00 per share for 
aggregate gross proceeds of $50.0 million in an underwritten firm commitment public offering. We granted the 
underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days, to purchase up to an additional 2,500,000 shares of common stock 
to cover over-allotments. The common stock was offered and sold pursuant to our shelf registration statement on 
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Form S-3 (File No. 333-199998) registering an aggregate of $100.0 million of our designated securities. The closing 
of the public offering occurred on June 17, 2015. On July 10, 2015, the underwriters exercised a portion of their 
over-allotment option to acquire an additional 2,075,000 shares at the public offering price of $3.00 per share for 
aggregate additional gross proceeds of $6.2 million. The purchase of the over-allotment shares closed on July 15, 
2015. Total proceeds were $52.2 million, net of issuance costs of $4.0 million. 

Results of Operations 
Our results of operations include the operations of TransEnterix Italia from the Senhance Acquisition date of 
September 21, 2015 forward. 
 

Revenue 

In 2017, our revenue consisted of product and service revenue resulting from a total of four Senhance Systems: 
Europe (two), Asia (one) and the United States (one), and related instruments, accessories and services. In 2016, our 
revenue consisted of product and service revenue resulting from the sale in Europe of a Senhance System, 
instruments and accessories, and related services. We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence that an 
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or service has been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable, and 
collectability is reasonably assured. Amounts billed in excess of the associated revenue recognized are deferred. 

We expect to experience some unevenness in the number and trend, and average selling price, of units sold on a 
quarterly basis given the early stage of commercialization of our products. 

Product and service revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased to $7.1 million compared to $1.5 
million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The $5.6 million increase was the result of the revenue recognized 
on the sale of four Senhance Systems, net of deferred revenue. 

Product and service revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased to $1.5 million compared to $0 for the 
year ended December 31, 2015. The $1.5 million increase was the result of the revenue recognized on the sale of 
one Senhance System, net of deferred revenue, during the third quarter of 2016. 

Cost of Revenue 

Cost of revenues consists primarily of costs related to contract manufacturing, materials, and manufacturing 
overhead. We expense all inventory provisions as cost of revenues. The manufacturing overhead costs include the 
cost of quality assurance, material procurement, inventory control, facilities, equipment depreciation and operations 
supervision and management. We expect overhead costs as a percentage of revenues to become less significant as 
our production volume increases. We expect cost of revenues to increase in absolute dollars to the extent our 
revenues grow and as we continue to invest in our operational infrastructure to support anticipated growth. 

Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased to $6.7 million as compared to $1.1 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2016.  This increase over the prior year period was the result of increased sales and costs 
for manufacturing overhead and field service. 

Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased to $1.1 million as compared to $0 for the year 
ended December 31, 2015.  This increase over the prior year period was the result of the costs recognized in 
connection with the sale of one Senhance System during the third quarter of 2016. The $1.1 million cost of revenue 
primarily represents the fair value of the Senhance System determined using the acquisition method of accounting at 
the Senhance Acquisition date.  

Research and Development 

Research and development, or R&D expenses primarily consist of engineering, product development and regulatory 
expenses incurred in the design, development, testing and enhancement of our products and legal services associated 
with our efforts to obtain and maintain broad protection for the intellectual property related to our products. In future 
periods, we expect R&D expenses to remain consistent or be modestly lower as we continue to transition our 
investments into commercial activities. R&D expenses are expensed as incurred. 
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R&D expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 decreased 25% to $22.0 million as compared to $29.3 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2016. The $7.3 million decrease resulted primarily from decreased personnel costs 
of $4.0 million, decreased supplies expense of $1.9 million, decreased contract engineering services, consulting and 
other outside services of $2.0 million and decreased other costs of $0.1 million, offset by increased stock 
compensation costs of $0.7 million 

R&D expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased 1% to $29.3 million as compared to $29.7 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2015. The $0.4 million decrease resulted primarily from decreased supplies 
expense of $3.7 million and decreased contract engineering services, consulting and other outside services of 
$3.6 million, offset by increased preclinical lab expense of $3.8 million, increased facility costs of $0.9 million, 
increased stock compensation costs of $0.8 million, increased travel related expenses of $0.5 million, increased 
other costs of $0.6 million and increased personnel related costs of $0.3 million. 

Sales and Marketing 

Sales and marketing expenses include costs for sales and marketing personnel, travel, demonstration product, market 
development, physician training, tradeshows, marketing clinical studies and consulting expenses. We expect sales 
and marketing expenses to increase significantly in 2018 in support of our Senhance System commercialization.  

Sales and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased 90% to $17.5 million compared to 
$9.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The $8.3 million increase was primarily related to increased 
personnel related costs of $3.0 million, increased consulting and outside service costs of $1.8 million, increased 
depreciation expense $1.0 million, increased travel related expenses of $0.8 million, increased stock compensation 
costs of $0.5 million, increased demonstration product costs of $0.5 million, increased tradeshow costs of $0.4 
million and increased other costs of $0.3 million, as we increased our U.S. sales and marketing team following 
receipt of 510(k) clearance for the Senhance System. 

Sales and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased 217% to $9.2 million compared to 
$2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The $6.3 million increase was primarily related to increased 
personnel related costs of $2.6 million, increased travel related expenses of $1.0 million, increased consulting costs 
of $0.9 million, increased tradeshow costs of $0.5 million, increased stock compensation costs of $0.5 million, 
increased other costs of $0.6 million and increased depreciation expense of $0.2 million. 

General and Administrative 

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel costs related to the executive, finance and human resource 
functions, as well as professional service fees, legal fees, accounting fees, insurance costs, and general corporate 
expenses. In future periods, we expect general and administrative expenses to increase to support our sales, 
marketing, and research and development efforts.  

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased 14% to $12.3 million 
compared to $10.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The $1.5 million increase was primarily due to 
increased stock compensation costs of $0.7 million, increased personnel costs of $0.5 million and increased other 
costs of $1.0 million offset by decreased legal, accounting, and investor relation fees and other public company costs 
of $0.7 million. 

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased 38% to $10.8 million 
compared to $7.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The $3.0 million increase was primarily due to 
increased legal, accounting, and investor relation fees and other public company costs of $1.8 million, increased 
stock compensation costs of $0.5 million, increased personnel costs of $0.4 million, and increased other costs of 
$0.3 million. 

Amortization of Intangible Assets 

Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased to $7.9 million compared to $7.0 
million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The $0.9 million increase was primarily the result of amortization of 
developed technology related to the acquisition of the Senhance System on September 21, 2015 and the amortization 
of in-process research and development transferred to intellectual property in October 2017. 
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Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased to $7.0 million compared to $2.2 
million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The $4.8 million increase was primarily the result of amortization of 
developed technology related to the acquisition of the Senhance System on September 21, 2015. 

Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration 

The change in fair value of contingent consideration in connection with the Senhance Acquisition was $2.0 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily related to the change in expected timelines for the achievement of 
milestones, the effect of the passage of time on the fair value measurement and the impact of foreign currency 
exchange rates.   

The change in fair value of contingent consideration in connection with the Senhance Acquisition was $0.5 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily related to the Amendment to the Purchase Agreement for the 
second tranche, the change in expected timelines for the achievement of milestones, the effect of the passage of time 
on the fair value measurement and the impact of foreign currency exchange rates.   

Issuance costs for Warrants 
Issuance costs of $0.6 million were allocated to the Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants issued in April 2017. 

Inventory write-down related to restructuring 
On April 19, 2016, the FDA notified the Company that the SurgiBot System did not meet the criteria for substantial 
equivalence based on the data submitted in the 510(k) submission. As a result, we reprioritized our near-term 
regulatory efforts to the 510(k) submission for the Senhance System. Consequently, in May 2016, the Company 
implemented a restructuring plan.  Under this plan, we recorded a $2.6 million write-down of inventory related to 
the SurgiBot System. 

Restructuring and other charges 
Under the restructuring plan executed in May 2016, we recorded $3.1 million in restructuring and other charges. The 
restructuring charges included: (i) $0.5 million to be paid in cash, of which $0.4 million related to employee 
severance costs and $0.1 million related to cancellation of certain contracts; and (ii) $2.6 million for other non-cash 
charges, of which $1.0 million related to the write-off of long-lived assets for the abandonment of certain equipment 
and tooling and $1.6 million related to the write-off of intellectual property for certain patents. 

Goodwill impairment 
The Company performs an annual impairment test of goodwill at December 31, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our one reporting unit may not be recoverable. During 
the second quarter of 2016, we were notified by the FDA that the SurgiBot System did not meet the criteria for 
substantial equivalency, negatively impacting our market capitalization, and warranting an interim two-step 
quantitative impairment test.  Based on the impairment test, we recorded goodwill impairment of $61.8 million 
during the second quarter of 2016.  No charge for goodwill impairment was required as of December 31, 2017. 

Acquisition Related Costs 

Acquisition related costs consist primarily of legal, accounting and other professional fees related to the Senhance 
Acquisition. We incurred $4.2 million of acquisition-related expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities 
The change in fair value of Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants issued in April 2017 was $83.7 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2017. The increase was primarily the result of our increased stock price at the time the 
warrants were exercised and increased stock price for the remaining outstanding warrants at December 31, 2017. 
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Interest Expense, Net 

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased to $2.1 million compared to $1.9 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2016. The $0.2 million increase was primarily related to the increase in interest rate on 
refinanced notes payable. 

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased to $1.9 million compared to $1.6 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2015. The $0.3 million increase was primarily related to the increase in notes payable of 
approximately $10.0 million in August 2015. 

Income Tax Benefit 

Income tax benefit consists primarily of taxes related to the amortization of purchase accounting intangibles in 
connection with the Italian taxing jurisdiction for TransEnterix Italia as a result of the acquisition of the Senhance 
System. We recognized $3.3 million, $5.5 million and $1.0 million of income tax benefit for the year ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Sources of Liquidity 

Since our inception we have incurred significant losses and, as of December 31, 2017, we had an accumulated 
deficit of $447.6 million. We have not yet achieved profitability and we cannot assure investors that we will achieve 
profitability with our existing capital resources. As of December 31, 2017, the Company's cash and restricted cash 
balance was approximately $97.6 million. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with cash 
received from sales of our products, will be sufficient to fund operations through at least the next 12 months. We 
expect to continue to fund sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses 
at similar to current or higher levels and, as a result, we will need to generate significant revenues to achieve 
profitability. Our principal sources of cash to date have been proceeds from public offerings of common stock, 
private placements of common and preferred stock, incurrence of debt and the sale of equity securities held as 
investments. 

We currently have one effective shelf registration statement on file with the SEC, which registers up to 
$150.0 million of debt securities, common stock, preferred stock, or warrants, or any combination thereof for future 
financing transactions.  The shelf registration statement was declared effective by the SEC on May 19, 2017. We 
have raised $50.0 million in gross proceeds and approximately $48.5 in net proceeds under such shelf registration 
statement through the sale of all the shares available under the 2017 ATM Offering. As of December 31, 2017, we 
had $100.0 million available for future financings under such shelf registration statement.   

At December 31, 2017, we had cash and cash equivalents, excluding restricted cash, of approximately $91.2 million. 

Consolidated Cash Flow Data 
 

    Years Ended December 31,   
    2017     2016     2015   

(in millions)                         
Net cash (used in) provided by                         

Operating activities   $ (39.8 )   $ (52.4 )   $ (38.8 ) 
Investing activities     (2.0 )     (1.4 )     (26.2 ) 
Financing activities     104.4       49.9       68.4   
Effect of exchange rate changes on 
cash and 
   cash equivalents     0.4       —       —   
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash 
   equivalents and restricted cash   $ 63.0     $ (3.9 )   $ 3.4   
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Operating Activities 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, cash used in operating activities of $39.8 million consisted of net loss of 
$144.8 million offset by cash provided by working capital of $3.4 million and non-cash items of $101.6 million. The 
non-cash items primarily consisted of $83.7 million change in fair value of warrant liabilities, $7.1 million of stock-
based compensation expense, $2.5 million of depreciation, $7.9 million of amortization, and $2.0 million change in 
fair value of contingent consideration, offset by $3.3 million deferred income tax benefit. The increase in cash from 
changes in working capital included $2.1 million increase in accrued expenses, $7.5 million increase for cash 
received for the sale of the SurgiBot assets and $1.1 million increase for deferred revenue, offset by $3.0 million 
increase in inventories, $0.5 million decrease in accounts payable, $3.3 million increase in other current and long 
term assets and $0.4 million increase in accounts receivable. 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, cash used in operating activities of $52.4 million consisted of net loss of 
$120.0 million and cash used for working capital of $8.5 million, offset by non-cash items of $76.1 million. The 
non-cash items primarily consisted of $61.8 million goodwill impairment, $2.6 million inventory write-down related 
to restructuring, $2.6 million non-cash restructuring and other charges, $5.0 million of stock-based compensation 
expense, $1.9 million of depreciation, $7.1 million of amortization, and $0.5 million change in fair value of 
contingent consideration, offset by $5.6 million deferred income tax benefit. The decrease in cash from changes in 
working capital included $6.6 million increase in inventories, $0.4 million decrease in accounts payable, $1.5 
million increase in other current and long term assets and $1.0 million increase in accounts receivable, offset by  
$1.1 million increase in accrued expenses. 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, cash used in operating activities of $38.8 million consisted of net loss of 
$46.9 million, offset by non-cash items of $5.5 million and cash provided by working capital of $2.6 million. The 
non-cash items primarily consisted of $3.3 million of stock-based compensation expense, $1.3 million of 
depreciation, and $2.3 million of amortization, offset by $1.0 million deferred income tax benefit and $0.4 million 
change in fair value of contingent consideration. The increase in cash from changes in working capital included $1.9 
million increase in inventories and $2.0 million increase in other current and long term assets. These amounts were 
partially offset by $1.1 million increase in accounts payable, $5.4 million increase in accrued expenses and $0.1 
million decrease in accounts receivable. 

Investing Activities 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, net cash used in investing activities was $2.0 million. This amount reflected 
the purchases of property and equipment and intellectual property. 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, net cash used in investing activities was $1.4 million. This amount reflected 
the purchases of property and equipment. 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, net cash used in investing activities was $26.2 million. This amount 
reflected the $25.0 million payment for the Senhance Acquisition and $1.2 million paid for the purchases of property 
and equipment. 

Financing Activities 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, net cash provided by financing activities was $104.4 million. This amount 
was primarily related to $77.6 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock and warrants, net of issuance 
costs, $13.0 million in proceeds from the issuance of debt and $34.5 million proceeds from the exercise of warrants, 
partially offset by $13.3 million in payments of debt and $7.2 million in payments of contingent consideration. 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, net cash provided by financing activities was $49.9 million. This amount 
was primarily related to $58.0 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs, 
partially offset by $6.9 million in payments of debt and $1.2 million in payments of contingent consideration. 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, net cash provided by financing activities was $68.4 million. This amount 
was primarily related $58.3 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs, and $9.9 
million proceeds from the issuance of debt, and $0.2 million proceeds from the issuance of stock options and 
warrants. 
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Operating Capital and Capital Expenditure Requirements 

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with cash received from sales of our products, will 
be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs through at least the next 12 months. We intend to spend substantial 
amounts on commercial activities, on research and development activities, including product development, 
regulatory and compliance, clinical studies in support of our future product offerings, the enhancement and 
protection of our intellectual property, on notes payable payments as they come due, and on contingent 
consideration payments in connection with the acquisition of the Senhance System. We will need to obtain 
additional financing to pursue our business strategy, to respond to new competitive pressures or to take advantage of 
opportunities that may arise. To meet our capital needs, we are considering multiple alternatives, including, but not 
limited to, additional equity financings, debt financings, strategic collaborations and other funding transactions. 
There can be no assurance that we will be able to complete any such transaction on acceptable terms or otherwise. If 
we are unable to obtain the necessary capital, we will need to pursue a plan to license or sell our assets, seek to be 
acquired by another entity, cease operations and/or seek bankruptcy protection. 

Cash and cash equivalents held by our foreign subsidiaries totaled $1.8 million at December 31, 2017, including 
restricted cash. We do not intend or currently foresee a need to repatriate cash and cash equivalents held by our 
foreign subsidiary. If these funds are needed in the U.S., we believe that the potential U.S. tax impact to repatriate 
these funds would be immaterial. 

Innovatus Loan Agreement 
On May 10, 2017, the Company and its domestic subsidiaries, as co-borrowers, entered into the Innovatus Loan 
Agreement with Innovatus Life Sciences Lending Fund I, LP, as Lender and Collateral Agent.  Please see the 
description of the Innovatus Loan Agreement above in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations‑D ebt R efinancing.   

SVB Loan Agreement 
In connection with its entrance into the Innovatus Loan Agreement on May 10, 2017, the Company repaid its 
existing credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank and Oxford Finance LLC, or the Prior Lenders, under the SVB 
Loan Agreement, , initially entered into in January 2012, as subsequently amended or amended and restated, or, 
collectively, the SVB Loan Agreement. A number of the amendments related to the Senhance Acquisition or the 
growth of our business in non-U.S. jurisdictions. Under the SVB Loan Agreement, our current borrowing capacity 
was $20.0 million, all of which was borrowed under term loans. We had periods of interest-only payments during 
the SVB Loan Agreement, and had been making principal payments since January 2016. The maturity date of the 
term loans was July 1, 2018. 

In connection with the entry into the Innovatus Loan Agreement, we were obligated to pay final payment and 
facility fees under the SVB Loan Agreement. The final payment fee obligation was $1.3 million. 
 

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments 

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2017 (in millions): 
 

    Payments due by period           

    Total     
Less than 

1 year     1 to 3 years     3 to 5 years     Thereafter   
Long-term debt obligations (1)   $ 16.5     $ 5.5     $ 11.0     $ —     $ —   
Operating leases   $ 2.2     $ 0.9     $ 1.0     $ 0.3     $ —   
License and supply agreements   $ 9.6     $ 3.6     $ 1.8     $ 1.2     $ 3.0   
Total contractual obligations (2)   $ 28.3     $ 10.0     $ 13.8     $ 1.5     $ 3.0   
 
(1) Long-term debt obligations include principal and interest payments on our notes payable.  
 

(2) As of December 31, 2017, the contingent consideration that may be paid under the Purchase Agreement with 
Sofar upon the achievement of milestones is approximately €15.7 million. Due to uncertainty regarding the 
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timing and amount of future payments related to these liabilities, these amounts are excluded from the 
contractual obligations table above. 

Long-term debt obligations include future payments under the Innovatus Loan Agreement. 

Operating lease amounts include future minimum lease payments under all our non-cancelable operating leases with 
an initial term in excess of one year. We rent office space in North Carolina under an operating lease which expires 
in 2018, with options to extend the lease through 2021. We also rent space for a warehouse facility in North 
Carolina which expired in January 2018. In Italy, we rent space for research and development and demonstration 
facilities under an operating lease which expires in 2022. This table does not include obligations for any lease 
extensions. 

License, supply and third party vendor agreements include agreements assumed as part of the Senhance Acquisition 
and other third party vendor agreements. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

As of December 31, 2017, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations set forth above under the headings 
“Results of Operations” and “Liquidity and Capital Resources” have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP 
and should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and notes thereto appearing in Item 8 of this Annual 
Report. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our critical accounting policies and estimates, including identifiable 
intangible assets and goodwill, in-process research and development, contingent consideration, warrant liabilities, 
stock-based compensation, inventory, and revenue recognition. We base our estimates on historical experience and 
on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. A more detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies can be found in 
Note 2 in the Notes to the Financial Statements set forth in our financial statements for the years ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 which are included as Item 8 of this Annual Report. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. 

While all accounting policies impact the financial statements, certain policies may be viewed as critical. Critical 
accounting policies are those that are both most important to the portrayal of financial condition and results of 
operations and that require management’s most subjective or complex judgments and estimates. Our management 
believes the policies that fall within this category are the policies on accounting for identifiable intangible assets and 
goodwill, in-process research and development, contingent consideration, warrants liabilities, stock-based 
compensation, inventory and revenue recognition. 

Identifiable Intangible Assets and Goodwill  
Identifiable intangible assets consist of purchased patent rights recorded at cost and developed technology acquired 
as part of a business acquisition recorded at estimated fair value. Intangible assets are amortized over 5 to 10 years. 
We periodically evaluate identifiable intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  
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Indefinite-lived intangible assets, such as goodwill, are not amortized. We test the carrying amounts of goodwill for 
recoverability on an annual basis or when events or changes in circumstances indicate evidence of potential 
impairment exists by performing either a qualitative evaluation or a two-step quantitative test. The qualitative 
evaluation is an assessment of factors, including industry, market and general economic conditions, market value, 
and future projections to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less 
than it’s carrying amount, including goodwill. Prior to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2017-
14, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment (“ASU 2017-04”), as of the beginning of fiscal year 2017, in 
certain instances, we elected to bypass this qualitative assessment and perform a two-step quantitative test. The 
quantitative goodwill impairment test was performed using a two-step approach. In the first step, the fair value of 
the reporting unit was determined and compared to the reporting unit's carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair 
value of the reporting unit was less than its carrying value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test was 
performed to measure the amount of impairment, if any. In the second step, the fair value of the reporting unit was 
allocated to the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit as if it had been acquired in a business combination and the 
purchase price was equivalent to the fair value of the reporting unit. The excess of the fair value of the reporting unit 
over the amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities was referred to as the implied fair value of goodwill. The 
implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill was then compared to the actual carrying value of goodwill. If the 
implied fair value of goodwill was less than the carrying value of goodwill, an impairment loss was recognized for 
the difference. ASU 2017-04 removes Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. 

During the second quarter of 2016, the FDA notified the Company that the SurgiBot System did not meet the criteria 
for substantial equivalency, negatively impacting the Company’s market capitalization, and warranting an interim 
two-step quantitative impairment test.  We determined the fair value of our reporting unit using a discounted cash 
flow analysis derived from our long-term plans.  The fair value of the reporting unit was corroborated using market 
prices for TransEnterix, Inc.  The inputs used to determine the fair values were classified as Level 3 in the fair value 
hierarchy. Based on the impairment test, we recorded goodwill impairment of $61.8 million during the second 
quarter of 2016.  We performed a qualitative assessment during the annual impairment review for fiscal 2016 as of 
December 31, 2016 and concluded that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of our single reporting unit 
was less than its carrying amount. Therefore, the two-step goodwill impairment test for the reporting unit was not 
necessary as of December 31, 2016. 

During the second quarter of 2017, our stock price experienced a significant decline and as of June 30, 2017 we 
performed a Step 1 goodwill impairment test as of the second quarter.  Our analysis included utilizing our market 
capitalization with a control premium. To determine the appropriate control premium, we considered recent merger 
and acquisition transaction activity of comparable public healthcare equipment companies.  Based on this analysis, 
we determined a control premium range of approximately 19% to 46%, and selected the mid-range of approximately 
32.5%.  After applying a 32.5% control premium, our market value exceeded our carrying value by 13%. Based on 
this analysis, we determined that no charge to goodwill for impairment was required during the second quarter of 
2017. As of December 31, 2017, we elected to bypass the qualitative assessment and calculated the fair value of our 
reporting unit, which exceeded the carrying amount. Accordingly, no charge for goodwill impairment was required 
as of December 31, 2017. 

A significant amount of judgment is involved in determining if an indicator of goodwill impairment has occurred. 
Such indicators may include, among others: a significant decline in expected future cash flows; a sustained, 
significant decline in the Company's stock price and market capitalization; a significant adverse change in legal 
factors or in the business climate; adverse assessment or action by a regulator; and unanticipated competition. Key 
assumptions used in the annual goodwill impairment test are highly judgmental and include: selection of comparable 
companies and amount of control premium. Any change in these indicators or key assumptions could have a 
significant negative impact on the Company's financial condition, impact the goodwill impairment analysis or cause 
the Company to perform a goodwill impairment analysis more frequently than once per year. 

In-Process Research and Development 
In-process research and development, or IPR&D, assets are considered to be indefinite-lived until the completion or 
abandonment of the associated research and development projects. IPR&D assets represent the fair value assigned to 
technologies that we acquire, which at the time of acquisition have not reached technological feasibility and have no 
alternative future use. During the period that the assets are considered indefinite-lived, they are tested for 
impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if we become aware of any events occurring or changes in 
circumstances that indicate that the fair value of the IPR&D assets are less than their carrying amounts. If and when 
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development is complete, which generally occurs when we have regulatory approval and are able to commercialize 
products associated with the IPR&D assets, these assets are then deemed definite-lived and are amortized based on 
their estimated useful lives at that point in time. If development is terminated or abandoned, we may have a full or 
partial impairment charge related to the IPR&D assets, calculated as the excess of carrying value of the IPR&D 
assets over fair value. 

Contingent Consideration 
Contingent consideration is recorded as a liability and measured at fair value using a discounted cash flow model 
utilizing significant unobservable inputs including the probability of achieving each of the potential milestones and 
an estimated discount rate associated with the risks of the expected cash flows attributable to the various milestones. 
Significant increases or decreases in any of the probabilities of success or changes in expected timelines for 
achievement of any of these milestones would result in a significantly higher or lower fair value of these milestones, 
respectively, and commensurate changes to the associated liability. The fair value of the contingent consideration at 
each reporting date will be updated by reflecting the changes in fair value in our statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss. 

Warrant Liabilities 
For the Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants, the warrants are recorded as liabilities and are revalued at each 
reporting period. The change in fair value is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss. The selection of the appropriate valuation model and the inputs and assumptions that are 
required to determine the valuation requires significant judgment and requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amount of the related liability and reported amounts of the change in fair value. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates, and changes in these estimates are recorded when known. As the 
warrant liability is required to be measured at fair value at each reporting date, it is reasonably possible that these 
estimates and assumptions could change in the near term.     

Stock-Based Compensation 
We recognize as expense, the grant-date fair value of stock options and other stock based compensation issued to 
employees and non-employee directors over the requisite service periods, which are typically the vesting periods. 
We use the Black-Scholes-Merton model to estimate the fair value of our stock-based payments. The volatility 
assumption used in the Black-Scholes-Merton model is based on the calculated historical volatility based on an 
analysis of reported data for a peer group of companies as well as the Company’s historical volatility. The expected 
term of options granted by us has been determined based upon the simplified method, because we do not have 
sufficient historical information regarding our options to derive the expected term. Under this approach, the 
expected term is the mid-point between the weighted average of vesting period and the contractual term. The risk-
free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury rates whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock options. 
We have not paid and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our shares of common stock; therefore, the 
expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero. We estimate forfeitures based on our historical experience and adjust 
the estimated forfeiture rate based upon actual experience. We adopted ASU 2016-09, Compensation – Stock 
Compensation (Topic 718) – Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting as of the beginning of 
fiscal year 2017 and did not elect to account for forfeitures when they occur, but will continue to estimate the 
number of awards that are expected to vest. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Inventory 
Inventory, which includes material, labor and overhead costs, is stated at the lower of cost, determined on a first-in, 
first-out basis, or net realizable value. We record reserves, when necessary, to reduce the carrying value of inventory 
to its net realizable value. At the point of loss recognition, a new, lower-cost basis for that inventory is established, 
and any subsequent improvements in facts and circumstances do not result in the restoration or increase in that 
newly established cost basis. 

Revenue Recognition 
Our revenue consists of product revenue resulting from the sales of systems, instruments and accessories, and 
service revenue. We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or 
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service has been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue is 
presented net of taxes collected from customers that are remitted to government authorities. We generally recognize 
revenue at the following points in time: 
 

• System sales.  For systems sold directly to end customers, revenue is recognized when acceptance 
occurs, which is deemed to have occurred upon customer acknowledgment of delivery or installation, 
depending on the terms of the arrangement. The Senhance Systems are delivered with a software 
component. However, because the software and non-software elements function together to deliver the 
system’s essential functionality, our arrangements are excluded from being accounted for under 
software revenue recognition guidance. 

• Instruments and accessories. Revenue from sales of instruments and accessories is generally recognized 
at the time of shipment.  Revenue from services related to the supply and management of instruments 
and accessories is recognized as the services are rendered. 

• Service.  Service revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the service period. Revenue related to 
services performed on a time-and-materials basis is recognized when it is earned and billable. 

Our system sale arrangements contain multiple elements including a system(s), instruments, accessories, and system 
service. We generally deliver all of the elements, other than service, within days of entering into the system sale 
arrangement. Each of these elements is a separate unit of accounting. System instruments, accessories and service 
are also sold on a stand-alone basis. 

For multiple-element arrangements, revenue is allocated to each unit of accounting based on their relative selling 
prices. Relative selling prices are based first on vendor specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSOE”), then on 
third-party evidence of selling price (“TPE”) when VSOE does not exist, and then on management's best estimate of 
the selling price (“BESP”) when VSOE and TPE do not exist. 

Our system sale arrangements generally include a one-year period of free service, and the right for the customer to 
purchase service annually thereafter. The revenue allocated to the free service period is deferred and recognized 
ratably over the free service period. Deferred revenue was primarily comprised of deferred revenue related to service 
contracts for the periods presented. 

Because we have neither VSOE nor TPE for our systems, the allocation of revenue is based on BESP for the 
systems sold. The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which we would transact a sale, had the product 
been sold on a stand-alone basis. We determine BESP for our systems by considering multiple factors, including, 
but not limited to, features and functionality of the system, geographies, type of customer, and market conditions. 
We regularly review BESP and maintain internal controls over establishing and updating these estimates. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

See “Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in 
“Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report for a full description of recent 
accounting pronouncements including the respective expected dates of adoption and effects on our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss. 
 
 
ITEM 7.A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

General 

We have limited exposure to market risks from instruments that may impact the Balance Sheets, Statements of 
Operations and Comprehensive Loss, and Statements of Cash Flows. Such exposure is due primarily to changing 
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. 

Interest Rates 

The primary objective for our investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing yields without 
significantly increasing risk. This is accomplished by investing excess cash in money market funds and Treasury 
securities. As of December 31, 2017, approximately 100% of the investment portfolio was in cash equivalents with 
very short term maturities and therefore not subject to any significant interest rate fluctuations. 
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk 

We conduct operations in several different countries, including the U.S. and throughout Europe, and portions of our 
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros or other currencies. Since our 
consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, we must translate revenues, income and expenses, as 
well as assets and liabilities, into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect during or at the end of each reporting 
period. We have not historically hedged our exposure to foreign currency fluctuations.  Accordingly, increases or 
decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar against the Euro and other currencies could materially affect our net 
operating revenues, operating income and the value of balance sheet items denominated in foreign currencies. 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, 82% of our revenue and approximately 39% of our expenses were 
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, most notably the Euro. Based on actual results over the past 
year, a hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the U.S. dollar against the Euro would have increased or decreased 
revenue by approximately $0.6 million and operating expenses by approximately $2.4 million. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Stockholders and Board of Directors 
TransEnterix, Inc. 
Morrisville, North Carolina 

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TransEnterix, Inc. (the “Company”) and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 
31, 2017, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, 
the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company 
and subsidiaries at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (“PCAOB”), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) and our report dated March 8, 2018 expressed an 
unqualified opinion thereon. 

Basis for Opinion 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public 
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in 
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.  

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures 
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 

/s/ BDO USA, LLP 

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2013. 

Raleigh, North Carolina 
March 8, 2018 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Stockholders and Board of Directors 
TransEnterix, Inc. 
Morrisville, North Carolina 

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

We have audited TransEnterix, Inc.’s (the “Company’s”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria”). In our opinion, the Company 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, 
based on the COSO criteria.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (“PCAOB”), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes and our report dated 
March 8, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Basis for Opinion 

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying 
Item 9A, “Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting”. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting 
firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with 
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and 
the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and 
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit 
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that 
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.  

/s/ BDO USA, LLP 

Raleigh, North Carolina 
March 8, 2018 
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TransEnterix, Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(in thousands, except share amounts) 
 
    December 31,     December 31,   

    2017     2016   
Assets                 
Current Assets                 

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 91,217     $ 24,165   
Accounts receivable, net     1,536       621   
Inventories     10,817       7,883   
Interest receivable     80       12   
Other current assets     9,344       5,335   

Total Current Assets     112,994       38,016   
Restricted cash     6,389       10,425   
Accounts receivable, net of current portion     —       266   
Property and equipment, net     6,670       5,772   
Intellectual property, net     52,638       37,090   
In-process research and development     —       15,920   
Goodwill     71,368       68,697   
Other long term assets     192       63   

Total Assets   $ 250,251     $ 176,249   
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity                 
Current Liabilities                 

Accounts payable   $ 3,771     $ 3,984   
Accrued expenses     10,974       8,206   
Deferred revenue     1,088       —   
Deferred gain on sale of SurgiBot assets     7,500       —   
Contingent consideration – current portion     719       10,502   
Notes payable - current portion, net of debt discount     4,788       7,997   

Total Current Liabilities     28,840       30,689   
Long Term Liabilities                 

Contingent consideration – less current portion     11,699       12,298   
Notes payable - less current portion, net of debt discount     8,385       4,995   
Warrant liabilities     14,090       —   
Net deferred tax liabilities     8,389       10,397   

Total Liabilities     71,403       58,379   
Commitments and Contingencies                 
Stockholders’ Equity                 

Common stock $0.001 par value, 750,000,000 shares authorized at 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively; 199,282,003 and 115,781,030 
shares issued at December 31, 2017 and  2016, respectively; and 
199,282,003 and 115,687,351 
   shares outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively     199       115   
Additional paid-in capital     621,261       426,609   
Accumulated deficit     (447,640 )     (302,844 ) 
Treasury stock at cost, 0 and 93,679 shares at December 31, 2017 and 
2016, 
   respectively     —       (241 ) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     5,028       (5,769 ) 

Total Stockholders’ Equity     178,848       117,870   
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity   $ 250,251     $ 176,249   
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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TransEnterix, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 

(in thousands except per share amounts) 
 

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2017     2016     2015   

Revenue   $ 7,111     $ 1,519     $ —   
Cost of revenue     6,727       1,069       —   

Gross profit     384       450       —   
Operating Expenses                         

Research and development     21,989       29,273       29,669   
Sales and marketing     17,536       9,151       2,855   
General and administrative     12,275       10,813       7,831   
Amortization of intangible assets     7,858       6,967       2,185   
Change in fair value of contingent consideration     2,026       482       (400 ) 
Issuance costs for warrants     627       —       —   
Inventory write-down related to restructuring     —       2,565       —   
Restructuring and other charges     —       3,064       —   
Goodwill impairment     —       61,784       —   
Acquisition related costs     —       —       4,231   

Total Operating Expenses     62,311       124,099       46,371   
Operating Loss     (61,927 )     (123,649 )     (46,371 ) 
Other Expense                         

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     (83,734 )     —       —   
Interest expense, net     (2,135 )     (1,889 )     (1,601 ) 
Other (expense) income     (300 )     35       —   

Total Other Expense, net     (86,169 )     (1,854 )     (1,601 ) 
Loss before income taxes   $ (148,096 )   $ (125,503 )   $ (47,972 ) 

Income tax benefit     3,300       5,523       1,024   
Net loss   $ (144,796 )   $ (119,980 )   $ (46,948 ) 
Other comprehensive loss                         
Foreign currency translation gain (loss)     10,797       (2,603 )     (3,166 ) 
Comprehensive loss   $ (133,999 )   $ (122,583 )   $ (50,114 ) 
Net loss per share - basic and diluted   $ (0.97 )   $ (1.07 )   $ (0.59 ) 
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted   148,744       112,185       79,628   
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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TransEnterix, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity  

(in thousands) 
 

    Common Stock     Treasury Stock     
Additional 

Paid-in     Accumulated     

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive     
Total 

Stockholders’   
    Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Loss     Equity   

Balance, December 31, 2014     63,183     $ 63       —     $ —     $ 257,642     $ (135,916 )   $ —     $ 121,789   
Stock-based compensation     —       —       —       —       3,311       —       —       3,311   
Issuance of common stock, net of 
issuance costs     20,756       21       —       —       58,310       —       —       58,331   
Issuance of common stock, acquisition     15,543       15       —       —       43,662       —       —       43,677   
Exercise of stock options and restricted 
stock units     698       1       —       —       258       —       —       259   
Return of common stock to pay 
withholding taxes 
   on restricted stock     —       —       (31 )     (73 )     —       —       —       (73 ) 
Issuance of warrants     —       —       —       —       97       —       —       97   
Other comprehensive loss     —       —       —       —       —       —       (3,166 )     (3,166 ) 
Net loss     —       —       —       —       —       (46,948 )     —       (46,948 ) 

Balance, December 31, 2015     100,180     $ 100       (31 )   $ (73 )   $ 363,280     $ (182,864 )   $ (3,166 )   $ 177,277   
Stock-based compensation     —       —       —       —       5,033       —       —       5,033   
Issuance of common stock, net of 
issuance costs     15,086       15       —       —       58,014       —       —       58,029   
Exercise of stock options and restricted 
stock units     419       —       —       —       166       —       —       166   
Return of common stock to pay 
withholding taxes 
   on restricted stock     —       —       (63 )     (168 )     —       —       —       (168 ) 
Issuance of common stock for services     96       —       —       —       116       —       —       116   
Other comprehensive loss     —       —       —       —       —       —       (2,603 )     (2,603 ) 
Net loss     —       —       —       —       —       (119,980 )     —       (119,980 ) 

Balance, December 31, 2016     115,781     $ 115       (94 )   $ (241 )   $ 426,609     $ (302,844 )   $ (5,769 )   $ 117,870   
Stock-based compensation     —       —       —       —       7,078       —       —       7,078   
Non-employee warrant awards     —       —       —       —       838       —       —       838   
Issuance of common stock and treasury 
stock, net of 
   issuance costs     44,689       45       213       409       68,410       —       —       68,864   
Exercise of stock options and warrants     34,749       35       —       —       112,803       —       —       112,838   
Award of  restricted stock units     340       —       —       —       —       —       —       —   
Return of common stock to pay 
withholding taxes on 
   restricted stock     —       —       (119 )     (168 )     —       —       —       (168 ) 
Issuance of common stock in exchange 
for contingent 
   consideration     3,723       4       —       —       5,223       —       —       5,227   
Relative fair value of warrants issued 
with debt     —       —       —       —       300       —       —       300   
Other comprehensive loss     —       —       —       —       —       —       10,797       10,797   
Net loss     —       —       —       —       —       (144,796 )     —       (144,796 ) 

Balance, December 31, 2017     199,282     $ 199       —     $ —     $ 621,261     $ (447,640 )   $ 5,028     $ 178,848   
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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TransEnterix, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(in thousands) 
 
    Twelve Months Ended   

    December 31,   
    2017     2016     2015   

Operating Activities                         
Net loss   $ (144,796 )   $ (119,980 )   $ (46,948 ) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash and cash equivalents 
used in 
   operating activities:                         

Depreciation     2,486       1,942       1,248   
Amortization of intangible assets     7,858       6,967       2,185   
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs     510       177       142   
Stock-based compensation     7,078       5,033       3,311   
Non-employee warrant awards     838       —       —   
Common stock issued for services     —       116       —   
Inventory write-down related to restructuring     —       2,565       —   
Loss on disposal of property     —       —       34   
Non-cash restructuring and other charges     —       2,556       —   
Goodwill impairment     —       61,784       —   
Deferred tax benefit     (3,300 )     (5,562 )     (1,024 ) 
Loss on extinguishment of debt     308       —       —   
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     83,734       —       —   
Change in fair value of contingent consideration     2,026       482       (400 ) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of 
acquisition:                         

Accounts receivable     (381 )     (1,041 )     133   
Interest receivable     23       (6 )     (5 ) 
Inventories     (2,981 )     (6,647 )     (4,630 ) 
Other current and long term assets     (3,348 )     (1,528 )     728   
Accounts payable     (531 )     (356 )     1,096   
Accrued expenses     2,093       1,112       5,371   
Deferred revenue     1,088       —       —   
Deferred gain on sale of SurgiBot assets     7,500       —       —   

Net cash and cash equivalents used in operating activities     (39,795 )     (52,386 )     (38,759 ) 
Investing Activities                         

Payment for acquisition of a business     —       —       (25,000 ) 
Purchase of property and equipment     (1,566 )     (1,361 )     (1,234 ) 
Purchase of intellectual property     (425 )     —       —   

Net cash and cash equivalents used in investing activities     (1,991 )     (1,361 )     (26,234 ) 
Financing Activities                         

Payment of debt     (13,343 )     (6,902 )     —   
Proceeds from issuance of debt and warrants, net of issuance costs     13,005       —       9,887   
Payment of contingent consideration     (7,181 )     (1,182 )     —   
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrants, net of issuance 
costs     77,579       58,029       58,331   
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of vesting of restricted stock 
units     (168 )     (168 )     (73 ) 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants     34,479       166       259   

Net cash and cash equivalents provided by financing activities     104,371       49,943       68,404   
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     431       (55 )     22   
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     63,016       (3,859 )     3,433   
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period     34,590       38,449       35,016   
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period   $ 97,606     $ 34,590     $ 38,449   
Supplemental Disclosure for Cash Flow Information                         

Interest paid   $ 899     $ 1,289     $ 973   
Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities                         

Transfer of inventory to property and equipment   $ 1,258     $ 3,198     $ —   
Issuance of common stock as contingent consideration   $ 5,227     $ —     $ —   



 

 53 

Relative fair value of warrants issued with debt   $ 300     $ —     $ —   
Reclass of warrant liability to common stock and additional paid in capital   $ 78,359     $ —     $ —   
Transfer of in-process research and development to intellectual property   $ 17,913     $ —     $ —   
Cashless exercise of warrants   $ 149     $ —     $ —   
Issuance of common stock warrants   $ —     $ —     $ 97   
Contingent consideration related to acquisition   $ —     $ —     $ 23,900   
Issuance of common stock related to acquisition   $ —     $ —     $ 43,677   

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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TransEnterix, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
 

1. Organization and Capitalization 

TransEnterix is a medical device company that is digitizing the interface between the surgeon and the patient to 
improve minimally invasive surgery by addressing the clinical and economic challenges associated with current 
laparoscopic and robotic options in today's value-based healthcare environment. The Company is focused on the 
commercialization of the Senhance™ Surgical System, which digitizes laparoscopic minimally invasive surgery. 
The system allows for robotic precision, haptic feedback, surgeon camera control via eye sensing and improved 
ergonomics while offering responsible economics. 

The Senhance System has been granted a CE Mark in Europe for laparoscopic abdominal and pelvic surgery, as well 
as limited thoracic operations excluding cardiac and vascular surgery. In April 2017, the Company submitted a 
510(k) application to the FDA for the Senhance System. On October 13, 2017, the Company received 510(k) 
clearance from the FDA for use in laparoscopic colorectal and gynecologic surgery.  The Senhance System is 
available for sale in the U.S., the EU and select other countries.  

The Senhance System is a multi-port robotic surgery system which allows multiple robotic arms to control 
instruments and a camera. The system features advanced technology to enable surgeons with haptic feedback and 
the ability to move the camera via eye movement. The system replicates laparoscopic motion that is familiar to 
experienced surgeons, and integrates three-dimensional high definition (“3DHD”) vision technology. The Senhance 
System also offers responsible economics to hospitals by offering robotic technology with reusable instruments 
thereby reducing additional costs per surgery when compared to other robotic solutions. 

The Company also developed the SurgiBot™ System, a single-port, robotically enhanced laparoscopic surgical 
platform. On December 18, 2017, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement with Great Belief 
International Limited (“GBIL”) to advance the SurgiBot System towards global commercialization.  The agreement 
transfers ownership of the SurgiBot System assets, while the Company retains the option to distribute or co-
distribute the SurgiBot System outside of China. Upon completion of the transfer of all SurgiBot System assets, 
GBIL will have the SurgiBot System manufactured in China and obtain Chinese regulatory clearance from 
the China Food and Drug Administration (“CFDA”), while entering into a nationwide distribution agreement with 
China National Scientific and Instruments and Materials Company (“CSIMC”) for the Chinese market.  The 
agreement provides the Company with proceeds of at least $29 million, of which $7.5 million was received in 
December 2017. An additional $7.5 million is expected to be received by March 31, 2018, which includes a $3.0 
million equity investment at $2.33 per share. The remaining $14 million, representing minimum royalties, will be 
paid beginning at the earlier of receipt of Chinese regulatory approval or five years. 

On September 18, 2015, the Company entered into a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, (the “Purchase 
Agreement”) with Sofar S.p.A., (“Sofar”) as seller, Vulcanos S.r.l. (“Vulcanos”), as the acquired company, and 
TransEnterix International, Inc. (“TransEnterix International”), a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of the Company 
which was incorporated in September 2015, as buyer. The closing of the transactions occurred on September 21, 
2015 (the “Closing Date”) pursuant to which the Company acquired all of the membership interests of Vulcanos 
from Sofar (now known as the “Senhance Acquisition”), and changed the name of Vulcanos to TransEnterix Italia 
S.r.l (“TransEnterix Italia”). The Senhance Acquisition included all of the assets, employees and contracts related to 
the Senhance System. See Note 3 for a description of the related transactions. 

On September 3, 2013, TransEnterix Surgical, Inc. a Delaware corporation (“TransEnterix Surgical”), and 
SafeStitch Medical, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“SafeStitch”) consummated a merger transaction whereby 
TransEnterix Surgical merged with a merger subsidiary of SafeStitch, with TransEnterix Surgical as the surviving 
entity in the merger (the “Merger”). As a result of the Merger, TransEnterix Surgical became a wholly owned 
subsidiary of SafeStitch. On December 6, 2013, SafeStitch changed its name to TransEnterix, Inc. and increased the 
authorized shares of common stock from 225,000,000 to 750,000,000, and authorized 25,000,000 shares of preferred 
stock, par value $0.01 per share.  
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As used herein, the term “Company” refers to the combination of SafeStitch and TransEnterix Surgical after giving 
effect to the Merger, and includes TransEnterix International, Inc.; TransEnterix Italia S.r.l.; TransEnterix Europe 
S.à.R.L; Bertrange, Swiss Branch, Lugano; TransEnterix Asia Pte. Ltd.; and TransEnterix Taiwan Ltd. after giving 
effect to the Senhance Acquisition, the term “SafeStitch” refers to the historic business of SafeStitch Medical, Inc. 
prior to the Merger, and the term “TransEnterix Surgical” refers to the historic business of TransEnterix Surgical, 
Inc. prior to the Merger. 
 
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) and include the accounts of the Company and its direct and indirect 
wholly owned subsidiaries, SafeStitch LLC, TransEnterix Surgical, Inc., TransEnterix International, Inc., 
TransEnterix Italia S.r.l., TransEnterix Europe S.à.R.L, Bertrange, Swiss Branch, Lugano, TransEnterix Asia Pte. 
Ltd. and TransEnterix Taiwan Ltd. All inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant items subject to such estimates and 
assumptions include identifiable intangible assets and goodwill, contingent consideration, warrant liabilities, stock 
compensation expense, restructuring and other charges, excess and obsolete inventory reserves, and deferred tax 
asset valuation allowances. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less at the time of 
purchase to be cash equivalents.  

Restricted cash at December 31, 2017 includes $6.0 million in a money market account, held in connection with the 
Company’s notes payable (see Note 13) and $389,000 in cash accounts held as collateral primarily under the terms 
of an office operating lease, credit cards and automobile leases. 
 

Concentrations and Credit Risk 

The Company’s principal financial instruments subject to potential concentration of credit risk are cash and cash 
equivalents, including amounts held in money market accounts. The Company places cash deposits with a federally 
insured financial institution. The Company maintains its cash at banks and financial institutions it considers to be of 
high credit quality; however, the Company’s cash deposits may at times exceed the FDIC insured limit. Balances in 
excess of federally insured limitations may not be insured. The Company has not experienced losses on these 
accounts, and management believes that the Company is not exposed to significant risks on such accounts. 

The Company’s accounts receivable are derived from net revenue to customers located throughout the world. The 
Company evaluates its customers’ financial condition and, generally, requires no collateral from its customers. The 
Company provides reserves for potential credit losses but has not experienced significant losses to date. The 
Company had eight customers who constituted 100% of the Company’s net accounts receivable at December 31, 
2017. The Company had one customer who constituted 100% of the Company’s net accounts receivable at 
December 31, 2016 and one customer who constituted 100% of the Company’s net accounts receivable at 
December 31, 2015. The Company had eight customers who accounted for 100% of sales in 2017, one customer 
who accounted for 100% of sales in 2016. There were no sales in 2015. 
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Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable are recorded at net realizable value, which includes an allowance for estimated uncollectable 
accounts. The allowance for uncollectible accounts was determined based on historical collection experience. 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined on a first-in, first-out basis) or net realizable value. Inventory 
costs include direct materials, direct labor, and normal manufacturing overhead. The Company records reserves, 
when necessary, to reduce the carrying value of inventory to its net realizable value. Management considers forecast 
demand in relation to the inventory on hand, competitiveness of product offerings, market conditions and product 
life cycles when determining excess and obsolescence and net realizable value adjustments. At the point of loss 
recognition, a new, lower-cost basis for that inventory is established, and any subsequent improvements in facts and 
circumstances do not result in the restoration or increase in that newly established cost basis. Any inventory on hand 
at the measurement date in excess of the Company’s current requirements based on anticipated levels of sales is 
classified as long-term on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 

Identifiable Intangible Assets and Goodwill 

Identifiable intangible assets are recorded at cost, or when acquired as part of a business acquisition, at estimated 
fair value. Certain intangible assets are amortized over 5 to 10 years. Similar to tangible personal property and 
equipment, the Company periodically evaluates identifiable intangible assets for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  

Intellectual property consists of purchased patent rights and developed research and development acquired as part of 
a business acquisition. Amortization of the patent rights is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful life of the patents of 10 years. Amortization of the developed research and development is recorded using the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 5 to 7 years. This method approximates the period over which 
the Company expects to receive the benefit from these assets. See Note 17 for additional information related to the 
write-off of purchased patents in connection with the restructuring plan executed in May 2016.  No impairment 
existed at December 31, 2017. 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, such as goodwill, are not amortized. The Company tests the carrying amounts of 
goodwill for recoverability on an annual basis at December 31 or when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
evidence a potential impairment exists, using a fair value based test. The Company continues to operate in one 
segment, which is considered to be the sole reporting unit and therefore, goodwill is tested for impairment at the 
enterprise level. See Note 10 for additional information related to goodwill impairment recorded during the second 
quarter of 2016. No impairment existed at December 31, 2017 or 2015. 

In-Process Research and Development 

In-process research and development (“IPR&D”) assets represent the fair value assigned to technologies that were 
acquired, which at the time of acquisition have not reached technological feasibility and have no alternative future 
use. IPR&D assets are considered to be indefinite-lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated 
research and development projects. During the period that the IPR&D assets are considered indefinite-lived, they are 
tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if the Company becomes aware of any events occurring 
or changes in circumstances that indicate that the fair value of the IPR&D assets are less than their carrying 
amounts. If and when development is complete, which generally occurs upon regulatory approval, and the Company 
is able to commercialize products associated with the IPR&D assets, these assets are then deemed definite-lived and 
are amortized based on their estimated useful lives at that point in time. If development is terminated or abandoned, 
the Company may have a full or partial impairment charge related to the IPR&D assets, calculated as the excess of 
carrying value of the IPR&D assets over fair value. The IPR&D was acquired on September 21, 2015. No 
impairment existed at December 31, 2016 and 2015.  

On October 13, 2017, upon regulatory approval and the ability to commercialize the products associated with the 
IPR&D assets, the assets were deemed definite-lived, reclassified to intellectual property and are now amortized 
based on their estimated useful lives.  
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Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consists primarily of machinery, manufacturing equipment, demonstration equipment, 
computer equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements, which are recorded at cost. 

Depreciation is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 
 

Machinery, manufacturing and 
   demonstration equipment   3-5 years 
Computer equipment   3 years 
Furniture   5 years 
Leasehold improvements   Lesser of lease term or 3 to 10 years 

 
Upon retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation and amortization are 
removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited or charged to operations. Repairs and 
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
The Company reviews its long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. To determine the recoverability of its 
long-lived assets, the Company evaluates the probability that future estimated undiscounted net cash flows will be 
less than the carrying amount of the assets. If such estimated cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the 
long-lived assets, then such assets are written down to their fair value. The Company’s estimates of anticipated cash 
flows and the remaining estimated useful lives of long-lived assets could be reduced in the future, resulting in a 
reduction to the carrying amount of long-lived assets. 

Contingent Consideration 

Contingent consideration is recorded as a liability and is the estimate of the fair value of potential milestone 
payments related to business acquisitions. Contingent consideration is measured at fair value using a discounted 
cash flow model utilizing significant unobservable inputs including the probability of achieving each of the potential 
milestones and an estimated discount rate associated with the risks of the expected cash flows attributable to the 
various milestones. Significant increases or decreases in any of the probabilities of success or changes in expected 
timelines for achievement of any of these milestones would result in a significantly higher or lower fair value of 
these milestones, respectively, and commensurate changes to the associated liability. The contingent consideration is 
revalued at each reporting period and changes in fair value are recognized in the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive loss. 

Deferred Gain on Sale of SurgiBot Assets 

In conjunction with the agreement with GBIL in relation to the transfer of the SurgiBot System assets, the Company 
received $7.5 million in December 2017.  This amount was included in deferred gain in sale of SurgiBot assets on 
the consolidated balance sheet pending transfer of the assets.  

Warrant Liabilities 
The Company’s Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants (see Note 16) are measured at fair value using a 
simulation model which takes into account, as of the valuation date, factors including the current exercise price, the 
expected life of the warrant, the current price of the underlying stock, its expected volatility, holding cost and the 
risk-free interest rate for the term of the warrant (see Note 5). The warrant liability is revalued at each reporting 
period and changes in fair value are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 
The selection of the appropriate valuation model and the inputs and assumptions that are required to determine the 
valuation requires significant judgment and requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of the related liability and reported amounts of the change in fair value. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates, and changes in these estimates are recorded when known. As the warrant liability is required 
to be measured at fair value at each reporting date, it is reasonably possible that these estimates and assumptions 
could change in the near term. 
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Translation of Foreign Currencies 

The functional currency of the Company’s operational foreign subsidiaries is Euros. The assets and liabilities of the 
Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. 
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. The cumulative 
translation effect for a subsidiary using a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar is included in accumulated 
other comprehensive income or loss as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. 

The Company’s intercompany accounts are denominated in the functional currency of the foreign subsidiary. Gains 
and losses resulting from the remeasurement of intercompany receivables that the Company considers to be of a 
long-term investment nature are recorded as a cumulative translation adjustment in accumulated other 
comprehensive income or loss as a separate component of stockholders’ equity, while gains and losses resulting 
from the remeasurement of intercompany receivables from a foreign subsidiary for which the Company anticipates 
settlement in the foreseeable future are recorded in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. 
The net gains and losses included in net loss in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for 
the years December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 were not significant. 

Business Acquisitions 

Business acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, “Business Combinations.” ASC 805 requires, among other things, that assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed be recognized at their fair values, as determined in accordance with ASC 820, “Fair 
Value Measurements,” as of the acquisition date. For certain assets and liabilities, book value approximates fair 
value. In addition, ASC 805 establishes that consideration transferred be measured at the closing date of the 
acquisition at the then-current market price. Under ASC 805, acquisition related costs (i.e., advisory, legal, valuation 
and other professional fees) and certain acquisition-related restructuring charges impacting the target company are 
expensed in the period in which the costs are incurred. The application of the acquisition method of accounting 
requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions related to the estimated fair values of net assets acquired. 

Significant judgments are used during this process, particularly with respect to intangible assets. Generally, 
intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangibles are 
not amortized, but are annually assessed for impairment. Therefore, the purchase price allocation to intangible assets 
and goodwill has a significant impact on future operating results. 

Risk and Uncertainties 

The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to other similarly-sized companies in the medical device 
industry. These risks include, without limitation, the historical lack of profitability; the Company’s ability to raise 
additional capital; its ability to successfully develop, clinically test and commercialize its products; the timing and 
outcome of the regulatory review process for its products; changes in the health care and regulatory environments of 
the United States, Italy, other countries in the European Union, and other countries in which the Company intends to 
operate; its ability to attract and retain key management, marketing and scientific personnel; competition from new 
entrants; its ability to successfully prepare, file, prosecute, maintain, defend and enforce patent claims and other 
intellectual property rights; its ability to successfully transition from a research and development company to a 
marketing, sales and distribution concern; competition in the market for robotic surgical devices; and its ability to 
identify and pursue development of additional products. 

Revenue Recognition 

The Company’s revenue consists of product revenue resulting from the sales of systems, instruments and 
accessories, and service revenue. The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement 
exists, delivery has occurred or service has been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is 
reasonably assured. Revenue is presented net of taxes collected from customers that are remitted to government 
authorities. The Company generally recognizes revenue at the following points in time: 

• System sales.  For systems sold directly to end customers, revenue is recognized when acceptance 
occurs, which is deemed to have occurred upon customer acknowledgment of delivery or installation, 
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depending on the terms of the arrangement. The Senhance Systems are delivered with a software 
component. However, because the software and non-software elements function together to deliver the 
system’s essential functionality, the Company's arrangements are excluded from being accounted for 
under software revenue recognition guidance. 

• Instruments and accessories.  Revenue from sales of instruments and accessories is generally 
recognized at the time of shipment. Revenue from services related to the supply and management of 
instruments and accessories is recognized as the services are rendered. 

• Service.  Service revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the service period. Revenue related to 
services performed on a time-and-materials basis is recognized when it is earned and billable. 

The Company's system sale arrangements contain multiple elements including a system(s), instruments, accessories, 
and system service. The Company generally delivers all of the elements, other than service, within days of entering 
into the system sale arrangement. Each of these elements is a separate unit of accounting. System accessories, 
instruments, and service are also sold on a stand-alone basis. 
  
For multiple-element arrangements, revenue is allocated to each unit of accounting based on their relative selling 
prices. Relative selling prices are based first on vendor specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSOE”), then on 
third-party evidence of selling price (“TPE”) when VSOE does not exist, and then on management's best estimate of 
the selling price (“BESP”) when VSOE and TPE do not exist. 
  
The Company’s system sale arrangements generally include a one-year period of free service, and the right for the 
customer to purchase service annually thereafter. The revenue allocated to the free service period is deferred and 
recognized ratably over the free service period.  
  
Because the Company has neither VSOE nor TPE for its systems, the allocation of revenue is based on BESP for the 
systems sold. The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which the Company would transact a sale, had the 
product been sold on a stand-alone basis. The Company determines BESP for its systems by considering multiple 
factors, including, but not limited to, features and functionality of the system, geographies, type of customer, and 
market conditions. The Company regularly reviews BESP and maintains internal controls over establishing and 
updating these estimates. 

Cost of Revenue 

Cost of revenue sold consists of contract manufacturing, materials, labor and manufacturing overhead incurred 
internally to produce the products. Shipping and handling costs incurred by the Company are included in cost of 
revenue. 

Research and Development Costs 

Research and development expenses primarily consist of engineering, product development and regulatory 
expenses, incurred in the design, development, testing and enhancement of our products. Research and development 
costs are expensed as incurred. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company follows ASC 718 (“Stock Compensation”) and ASC 505-50 (“Equity-Based Payments to Non-
employees”), which provide guidance in accounting for share-based awards exchanged for services rendered and 
requires companies to expense the estimated fair value of these awards over the requisite service period. For awards 
granted to non-employees, the Company determines the fair value of the stock-based compensation awards granted 
as either the fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, whichever is 
more reliably measurable. If the fair value of the equity instruments issued is used, it is measured using the stock 
price and other measurement assumptions as of the earlier of either (1) the date at which a commitment for 
performance by the counterparty to earn the equity instruments is reached, or (2) the date at which the counterparty’s 
performance is complete. 
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The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock-based awards based on estimated fair values on the date 
of grant for awards granted to employees. The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model to 
determine the fair value of stock options. The fair value of restricted stock units is determined by the market price of 
the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The expense associated with stock-based compensation is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of each award. 

The Company records as expense the fair value of stock-based compensation awards, including stock options and 
restricted stock units. Compensation expense for stock-based compensation was approximately $7,078,000, 
$5,033,000 and $3,311,000 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of 
deferred tax assets or liabilities for the temporary differences between financial reporting and tax basis of the 
Company’s assets and liabilities, and for tax carryforwards at enacted statutory rates in effect for the years in which 
the asset or liability is expected to be realized. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in 
income during the period that includes the enactment date. In addition, valuation allowances are established when 
necessary to reduce deferred tax assets and liabilities to the amounts expected to be realized. 
 
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Legislation”) was enacted into law, which reduced the US 
federal corporate income tax rate to 21% for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. As a result of the newly 
enacted tax rate, the Company adjusted its U.S. deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2017, by applying the new 
21% rate, which resulted in a decrease to the deferred tax assets and a corresponding decrease to the valuation 
allowance of approximately $36.1 million. 
  
The Tax Legislation also implements a territorial tax system. Under the territorial tax system, in general, the 
Company's foreign earnings will no longer be subject to tax in the U.S. As part of transition to the territorial tax 
system the Tax Legislation includes a mandatory deemed repatriation of all undistributed foreign earnings that are 
subject to a U.S. income tax. The Company estimates that the deemed repatriation will not result in any additional 
U.S. income tax liability as it estimates it currently has no undistributed foreign earnings. 
  
The SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 118 which will allow the Company to record 
provisional amounts related to accounting for the Tax Legislation during a measurement period which is similar to 
the measurement period used when accounting for business combinations. The Company is following the guidance 
set forth by SAB 118 and any amounts calculated are provisional estimates and will be reevaluated as more 
information or guidance becomes available. The Company will continue to assess the impact of the Tax Legislation 
on its business and consolidated financial statements. 

Comprehensive Loss 

Comprehensive loss is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and 
other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. 

Segments 

The Company operates in one business segment—the research, development and sale of medical device robotics to 
improve minimally invasive surgery. The Company’s chief operating decision maker (determined to be the Chief 
Executive Officer) does not manage any part of the Company separately, and the allocation of resources and 
assessment of performance are based on the Company’s consolidated operating results. Approximately 60% and 
49% of the Company’s total consolidated assets are located within the U.S. as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively. The remaining assets are mostly located in Europe and are primarily related to the Company’s facility 
in Italy, and include goodwill, intellectual property, other current assets, property and equipment, cash, accounts 
receivable and inventory of $99.9 million and $90.4 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively associated 
with the Senhance Acquisition in September 2015. Total assets outside of the U.S. excluding goodwill amounted to 
31% and 40% of total consolidated assets at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Company recognizes 
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sales by geographic area based on the country in which the customer is based. For the years ended December 31, 
2017, 2016, and 2015, 18%, 0%, and 0%, respectively, of net revenue were generated in the United States; and 61%, 
100%, and 0% were generated in Europe; and 21%, 0% and 0% were generated in Asia. 

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards   
 

In July 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2017-11, Earnings Per Share (Topic 
260); Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (Topic 480); Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): (Part I) Accounting 
for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Features, (Part II) Replacement of the Indefinite Deferral for 
Mandatorily Redeemable Financial Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable 
Noncontrolling Interests with a Scope Exception. The amendments in this update are intended to simplify the 
accounting for certain equity-linked financial instruments and embedded features with down round features that 
result in the strike price being reduced on the basis of the pricing of future equity offerings. Under the new guidance, 
a down round feature will no longer need to be considered when determining whether certain financial instruments 
or embedded features should be classified as liabilities or equity instruments. That is, a down round feature will no 
longer preclude equity classification when assessing whether an instrument or embedded feature is indexed to an 
entity's own stock. In addition, the amendments clarify existing disclosure requirements for equity-classified 
instruments. These amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after 
December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this ASU should not have a material impact on 
the consolidated financial statements. 

In January 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for 
Goodwill Impairment. Under the new standard, goodwill impairment would be measured as the amount by which a 
reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying value of goodwill. This ASU 
eliminates existing guidance that requires an entity to determine goodwill impairment by calculating the implied fair 
value of goodwill by hypothetically assigning the fair value of a reporting unit to all of its assets and liabilities as if 
that reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination. This ASU is effective prospectively to annual and 
interim impairment tests beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company early 
adopted this ASU as of the beginning of fiscal year 2017. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact 
on the consolidated financial statements. 

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) which addresses changes to 
reduce the presentation diversity of certain cash receipts and cash payments in the statement of cash flows, including 
debt prepayment or extinguishment costs, settlement of certain debt instruments, contingent consideration payments 
made after a business combination, proceeds from the settlement of insurance claims, and distributions received 
from equity method investees.  The guidance becomes effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, 
including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. An entity that elects early 
adoption must adopt all of the amendments in the same period. The new standard will be applied retrospectively, but 
may be applied prospectively if retrospective application would be impracticable.  The Company expects certain 
reclassifications within the consolidated statements of cash flows related to payments of contingent consideration. 

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) – Improvements 
to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. Under ASU 2016-09, the tax effects of stock compensation will be 
recognized as income tax expense or benefit in the income statement and the tax effects of exercised or vested 
awards will be treated as discrete items in the reporting period in which they occur. Along with other income tax 
cash flows, excess tax benefits will be classified as operating activities, and cash paid by an employer when directly 
withholding shares for tax withholding purposes will be classified as financing activities. Entities may make an 
entity-wide accounting policy election to either estimate the number of awards that are expected to vest (current 
GAAP) or account for forfeitures when they occur. The threshold to qualify for equity classification permits 
withholding up to the maximum statutory tax rates in the applicable jurisdictions. For public companies, ASU 2016-
09 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual 
periods. Early adoption is permitted, however, an entity that elects early adoption must adopt all amendments under 
the new standard in the same period.  The Company adopted this ASU as of the beginning of fiscal year 2017 and 
did not elect to account for forfeitures when they occur, but will continue to estimate the number of awards that are 
expected to vest. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases. The new standard establishes a right-of-use (ROU) 
model that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms 
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longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the 
pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. A modified retrospective transition 
approach is required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available. The 
Company currently expects that upon adoption, ROU assets and lease liabilities will be recognized in the balance 
sheet in amounts that the Company does not expect will have a material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements based on the Company’s current leases.  
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which sets forth a 
single, comprehensive revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers to improve comparability. 
Subsequently, the FASB has issued several standards related to ASU 2014-09 (collectively, the “New Revenue 
Standard”). The New Revenue Standard requires revenue recognition to depict the transfer of goods or services to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that the entity expects to receive in exchange for those goods 
or services. In addition, the New Revenue Standard requires expanded disclosures. This New Revenue Standard 
permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method when adopted. The New Revenue 
Standards becomes effective for the Company in the first quarter of fiscal year 2018. 

The Company will adopt the New Revenue Standard in the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 using the modified 
retrospective method resulting in a cumulative catch-up adjustment to opening retained earnings in the period of 
adoption. The Company has substantially completed its evaluation of the impact of the New Revenue Standard on 
its historical financial statements. The Company’s performance obligations under its existing contracts primarily 
include the sale of systems, instruments and accessories, as well as services.  The product revenues will be 
recognized at a point in time upon delivery or installation, depending on the terms of the agreement.  The service 
revenue will be recognized ratably over time.  The Company has concluded that the timing and measurement of 
revenue recognition will be materially consistent under the New Revenue Standard, except for the future billings 
related to future service included in its multi-year contracts that should be part of the consideration allocated to all 
performance obligations under the New Revenue Standard. Under the current standard, future service billings are 
considered to be contingent revenue, and therefore, are not included in the consideration allocated. Accordingly, the 
amount of consideration allocated to the performance obligations identified in the Company’s system arrangements 
will be different under the New Revenue Standard than the amount allocated under the current standard. In general, 
this will result in an acceleration of the amount of revenue recognized for system sales with multi-year service 
contracts. Due to limited sales to date, the Company has evaluated its contracts and has quantified an immaterial 
cumulative catch-up adjustment upon adoption. The Company continues to evaluate the required disclosures. 
 
The New Revenue Standard is principles based and interpretation of those principles may vary from company to 
company based on their unique circumstances. It is possible that interpretation, industry practice, and guidance may 
evolve as companies and the accounting profession work to implement this new standard. While substantially 
complete, the Company is still in the process of finalizing its evaluation of the effect of the New Revenue Standard 
on the Company’s historical financial statements and disclosures. The Company will finalize its accounting 
assessment and quantitative impact of the adoption of the New Revenue Standard during the first quarter of fiscal 
year 2018. As the Company completes its evaluation of this new standard, new information may arise that could 
change the Company’s current understanding of the impact to revenue and expense recognized. Additionally, the 
Company will continue to monitor industry activities and any additional guidance provided by regulators, standards 
setters, or the accounting profession and adjust the Company’s assessment and implementation plans accordingly. 

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory (Topic 330). This update 
requires inventory within the scope of the standard to be measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. 
Previous guidance required inventory to be measured at the lower of cost or market (where market was defined as 
replacement cost, with a ceiling of net realizable value and floor of net realizable value less a normal profit margin). 
This update is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2016. The Company adopted 
these provisions in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017 with no material impact on its consolidated financial 
statements. 
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3. Acquisition of Senhance Surgical Robotic System 

On September 21, 2015, the Company completed the strategic acquisition, through its wholly owned subsidiary 
TransEnterix International, from Sofar, of all of the assets, employees and contracts related to the advanced robotic 
system for minimally invasive laparoscopic surgery now known as the Senhance System and changed the name of 
the acquired company from Vulcanos S.r.l. to TransEnterix Italia S.r.l. 

Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the consideration consisted of the issuance of 15,543,413 shares of the 
Company’s common stock (the “Securities Consideration”) and approximately $25.0 million U.S. Dollars and 
€27.5 million Euro in cash consideration (the “Cash Consideration”). The Securities Consideration was issued in full 
at the closing of the Senhance Acquisition; the Cash Consideration was or will be paid in four tranches, as follows: 

(1) $25.0 million of the Cash Consideration was paid at closing. 
(2) On December 30, 2016, the Company and Sofar entered into an Amendment to the Purchase 
Agreement (the “Amendment”) to restructure the terms of the second tranche of the Cash Consideration 
(the “Second Tranche”). Under the Amendment, the Second Tranche was restructured to be paid 
through the (A) the issuance of 3,722,685 shares of the Company’s common stock with an aggregate 
fair market value of €5.0 million and (B) the payment of €5.0 million in cash upon the occurrence of 
either (i) receipt of clearance from the FDA for the Senhance System; or (ii) the Company having cash 
on hand of at least $50.0 million, or (iii) successfully completing a financing, raising at least $50.0 
million in gross proceeds after September 2015, exclusive of any financing proceeds related to the 
December 2016 purchase agreement between the Company and Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC.; with 
payment of simple interest at a rate of 9.0% per annum beginning on December 31, 2016. The Five 
Million Euro (€ 5,000,000) cash payment began to accrue simple interest at a rate of 9% per annum 
beginning on December 31, 2016 and continued to accrue interest until November 15, 2017 when it was 
paid in full. Prior to December 30, 2016, the Second Tranche of the Cash Consideration of €10.0 million 
was payable after the achievement of both of the following milestones (i) the earlier of approval from 
the FDA for the Senhance System or December 31, 2016, and (ii) the Company having cash on hand of 
at least $50.0 million, or successfully completing a financing, raising at least $50.0 million in gross 
proceeds; with payment of simple interest at a rate of 9.0% per annum between the achievement of the 
first milestone event and the payment date. 

(3) The third tranche of the Cash Consideration (the “Third Tranche”) of €15.0 million shall be payable 
upon achievement of trailing revenues from sales or services contracts of the Senhance System of at 
least €25.0 million over a calendar quarter. 
(4) The fourth tranche of the Cash Consideration of €2.5 million shall be payable by December 31 of 
each year as reimbursement for certain debt payments made by Sofar under an existing Sofar loan 
agreement in such year, with payments beginning as of December 31, 2016. As of December 31, 2017, 
the Company had paid €1.8 million of the fourth tranche. 

The Third Tranche would have been payable even if the Second Tranche was not then payable. In addition, the 
Third Tranche payments will be accelerated in the event that (i) the Company or TransEnterix International is 
acquired, (ii) the Company significantly reduces or suspends selling efforts of the Senhance System, or (iii) the 
Company acquires a business that offers alternative products that are directly competitive with the Senhance 
System.  

Under the Purchase Agreement, 10% of the Securities Consideration was being held in escrow to support Sofar’s 
representations and warranties under the Purchase Agreement. In accordance with a related escrow agreement, the 
escrowed shares were released in September 2016. The Company, a subsidiary and Sofar also entered into a Security 
Agreement, which provides that 10% of the membership interests of TransEnterix Italia have a lien placed thereon 
by and in favor of Sofar to support the Company’s representations and warranties under the Purchase Agreement. 
The security interest period was twenty-four months after the closing of the Senhance Acquisition and expired on 
September 21, 2017. 
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The Purchase Agreement contains customary representations and warranties of the parties and the parties have 
customary indemnification obligations, which are subject to certain limitations described further in the Purchase 
Agreement. 

In connection with the Senhance Acquisition, the Company also entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, dated 
as of September 21, 2015, with Sofar, pursuant to which the Company agreed to register the Securities 
Consideration shares for resale following the end of the lock-up periods described below. The resale registration 
statement has been filed and is effective. 

In connection with the Senhance Acquisition, Sofar entered into a Lock-Up Agreement with the Company pursuant 
to which Sofar agreed, subject to certain exceptions, not to sell, transfer or otherwise convey any of the Securities 
Consideration over a two-year period following the Closing Date. As of September 21, 2017, all of the Securities 
Consideration was released from the lock-up restrictions and is eligible to be resold under the effective resale 
registration statement. 

The Senhance Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination utilizing the methodology prescribed in 
ASC 805. The purchase price for the Senhance Acquisition has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed based on their estimated fair values. 
  
The Senhance Acquisition-date fair value of the consideration is as follows (in thousands, except for per share 
amounts): 
 

Common shares issued     15,543   
Closing price per share   $ 2.81   
    $ 43,677   
Cash consideration     25,000   
Contingent consideration     23,900   
Total consideration   $ 92,577   

 
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on 
September 21, 2015, the date of acquisition (in thousands): 
 

Accounts receivable   $ 78   
Inventories     2,800   
Current deferred tax asset     526   
Other current assets     4,180   
Property and equipment     1,384   
Intellectual property     48,500   
In-process research and development     17,100   
Goodwill     38,348   
Total assets acquired   $ 112,916   
Accounts payable and other liabilities     1,915   
Long-term deferred tax liabilities     18,424   
Net assets acquired   $ 92,577   

 
The Company allocated $48.5 million of the purchase price to identifiable intangible assets of intellectual property 
that met the separability and contractual legal criterion of ASC 805. The intellectual property is being amortized 
using the straight-line method over 7 years. 
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IPR&D is principally the estimated fair value of the Senhance System technology which had not reached 
commercial technological feasibility nor had alternative future use at the time of the acquisition and therefore the 
Company considered IPR&D, with assigned values to be allocated among the various IPR&D assets acquired. 

Goodwill is calculated as the difference between the acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred and 
the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The goodwill resulting from this acquisition arises 
largely from synergies expected from combining the operations of TransEnterix Italia with the Company’s existing 
operations. The goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes. 

All legal, consulting and other costs related to the acquisition, aggregating approximately $4.2 million, have been 
expensed as incurred and are included in operating expenses in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations 
and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2015. The results of operations for TransEnterix Italia are 
included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the period from the 
September 21, 2015 acquisition date. 

The following unaudited pro forma information presents the combined results of operations for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, as if the Company had completed the Senhance Acquisition at the beginning of fiscal 
2014. The pro forma financial information is provided for comparative purposes only and is not necessarily 
indicative of what actual results would have been had the acquisition occurred on the date indicated, nor does it give 
effect to synergies, cost savings, fair market value adjustments, immaterial amortization expense and other changes 
expected to result from the acquisition. Accordingly, the pro forma financial results do not purport to be indicative 
of consolidated results of operations as of the date hereof, for any period ended on the date hereof, or for any other 
future date or period. The pro forma consolidated financial information has been calculated after applying the 
Company’s accounting policies and includes adjustments for transaction-related costs and amortization of 
intellectual property. 
 

    
Year Ended 

December 31,   
    2015     2014   

    
(In thousands except 
per share amounts)   

Revenue   $ 77     $ 401   
Net loss     53,994       46,874   
Net loss per share   $ 0.57     $ 0.63   

 
 
4. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash consist of the following: 
 

    December 31,     December 31,   
    2017     2016   
    (In thousands)   

Cash   $ 4,039     $ 1,975   
Money market     87,178       22,190   
Total cash and cash equivalents   $ 91,217     $ 24,165   
Restricted cash   $ 6,389     $ 10,425   
Total   $ 97,606     $ 34,590   

 
Restricted cash at December 31, 2017 includes $6.0 million in a money market account, held in connection with the 
Company’s notes payable and $389,000 in cash accounts held as collateral primarily under the terms of an office 
operating lease, credit card agreement and automobile leases.  Restricted cash at December 31, 2016 includes $10.0 
million in a money market account, held in connection with the Company’s notes payable and $425,000 in cash 
accounts held as collateral primarily under the terms of an office operating lease, credit card agreement and 
automobile leases.  
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5. Fair Value 

The Company held certain assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. 
These assets and liabilities include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, contingent consideration and warrant 
liabilities. ASC 820-10 (“Fair Value Measurement Disclosure”) requires the valuation using a three-tiered approach, 
which requires that fair value measurements be classified and disclosed in one of three tiers. These tiers are: Level 1, 
defined as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2, defined as valuations based on 
observable inputs other than those included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in 
active markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable input data; and Level 3, 
defined as valuations based on unobservable inputs reflecting the Company’s own assumptions, consistent with 
reasonably available assumptions made by other market participants. The Company did not have any transfers of 
assets and liabilities between Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

For assets and liabilities recorded at fair value, it is the Company’s policy to maximize the use of observable inputs 
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when developing fair value measurements, in accordance with the fair 
value hierarchy. Fair value measurements for assets and liabilities where there exists limited or no observable 
market data and therefore, are based primarily upon estimates, are often calculated based on the economic and 
competitive environment, the characteristics of the asset or liability and other factors. Therefore, the results cannot 
be determined with precision and may not be realized in an actual sale or immediate settlement of the asset or 
liability. Additionally, there may be inherent weaknesses in any calculation technique, and changes in the underlying 
assumptions used, including discount rates and estimates of future cash flows, could significantly affect the results 
of current or future values. The Company utilizes fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain 
assets and liabilities and to determine fair value disclosures. 

As prescribed by U.S. GAAP, the Company groups assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels, based on the 
markets in which the assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair 
value. An adjustment to the pricing method used within either Level 1 or Level 2 inputs could generate a fair value 
measurement that effectively falls in a lower level in the hierarchy. 

The determination of where an asset or liability falls in the hierarchy requires significant judgment. The Company 
evaluates its hierarchy disclosures and based on various factors, it is possible that an asset or liability may be 
classified differently from period to period. However, the Company expects changes in classifications between 
levels will be rare. 

The carrying values of accounts receivable, interest receivable, accounts payable, and certain accrued expenses at 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these items. The 
Company’s notes payable balance also approximates fair value as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, as the interest 
rates on the notes payable approximate the rates available to the Company as of these dates. 
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The following are the major categories of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2017 
and 2016, using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1); significant other observable inputs 
(Level 2); and significant unobservable inputs (Level 3): 
 

    December 31, 2017   
    (In thousands)   
    (unaudited)   

Description   

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1)     

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)     

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs 

(Level 3)     Total   
Assets measured at fair value                                 
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 91,217     $ —     $ —     $ 91,217   
Restricted cash     6,389       —       —       6,389   
Total Assets measured at fair value   $ 97,606     $ —     $ —     $ 97,606   
Liabilities measured at fair value                                 
Contingent consideration   $ —     $ —     $ 12,418     $ 12,418   
Warrant liabilities     —       —     $ 14,090     $ 14,090   
Total liabilities measured at fair value   $ —     $ —     $ 26,508     $ 26,508   

 
    December 31, 2016   
    (In thousands)   

Description   

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1)     

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)     

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs 

(Level 3)     Total   
Assets measured at fair value                                 
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 24,165     $ —     $ —     $ 24,165   
Restricted cash     10,425     $ —     $ —       10,425   
Total Assets measured at fair value   $ 34,590     $ —     $ —     $ 34,590   
Liabilities measured at fair value                                 
Contingent consideration   $ —     $ —     $ 22,800     $ 22,800   
Total liabilities measured at fair value   $ —     $ —     $ 22,800     $ 22,800   

 
The Company’s financial liabilities consisted of contingent consideration potentially payable to Sofar related to the 
Senhance Acquisition in September 2015 (Note 3). This liability is reported as Level 3 as estimated fair value of the 
contingent consideration related to the acquisition requires significant management judgment or estimation and is 
calculated using the income approach, using various revenue and cost assumptions and applying a probability to 
each outcome. The change in fair value of the contingent consideration of $2.0 million for the year ended December 
31, 2017 was primarily due to the change in expected timelines for the achievement of milestones, the effect of the 
passage of time on the fair value measurement and the impact of foreign currency exchange rates. The change in fair 
value of the contingent consideration of $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 was primarily due to the 
Amendment to the Purchase Agreement for the Second Tranche (Note 3), the change in expected timelines for the 
achievement of milestones, the effect of the passage of time on the fair value measurement and the impact of foreign 
currency exchange rates. Adjustments associated with the change in fair value of contingent consideration are 
included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 
 
On April 28, 2017, the Company sold 24.9 million units (the “Units”), each consisting of one share of the 
Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”), a Series A warrant to purchase one 
share of Common Stock with an exercise price of $1.00 per share  (the “Series A Warrants”), and a Series B warrant 
to purchase 0.75 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $1.00 per share (the “Series B Warrants,” 
together with the Series A Warrants, the “Warrants”), at an offering price of $1.00 per Unit. Each Series A Warrant 
was exercisable at any time beginning on the date of issuance, and from time to time thereafter, through and 
including the first anniversary of the issuance date, unless terminated earlier as provided in the Series A Warrant. 
Receipt of 510(k) clearance for the Senhance System on October 13, 2017, triggered the acceleration of the 
expiration date of the Series A Warrants to October 31, 2017 (see Note 19). Each Series B Warrant may be 



 

 68 

exercised at any time beginning on the date of issuance and from time to time thereafter through and including the 
fifth anniversary of the issuance date. 
  
The fair value of the Series A Warrants of $2.5 million at the date of issuance was estimated using the Black-
Scholes Merton model which used the following inputs: term of 1 year, risk free rate of 1.07%, no dividends, 
volatility of 73.14%, and share price of $0.65 per share based on the trading price of the Company’s common stock. 
The fair value of the Series B Warrants of $6.2 million at the date of issuance was estimated using the Black-Scholes 
Merton model which used the following inputs: term of 5 years, risk free rate of 1.81%, no dividends, volatility of 
73.14%, and share price of $0.65 per share based on the trading price of the Company’s common stock. All Series A 
Warrants were exercised as of December 31, 2017. The fair value of the Series B Warrants of $14.1 million at 
December 31, 2017 was estimated using the Monte Carlo valuation model which used the following inputs: term of 
4.33 years, risk free rate of 2.13%, volatility of 80.6%, share price of $1.93 per share based on the trading price of 
the Company’s common stock, and probability of additional financing in 2018 of 25% and 2019 of 75%. The 
change in fair value of warrants for the year ended December 31, 2017 of $83.7 million was included in the 
Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 

The following table presents quantitative information about the inputs and valuation methodologies used for the 
Company’s fair value measurements classified in Level 3 as of December 31, 2016 and 2017: 
 

    
Valuation 

Methodology   
Significant 

Unobservable Input   

Weighted Average 
(range, if 

applicable) 
Contingent  consideration 

  
Probability weighted 
income approach   

Milestone dates 
  

2018 to 2020 

  
      

Discount rate 
Probability of occurrence   

7.5% to 12% 
100% 

 
The following table summarizes the change in fair value, as determined by Level 3 inputs, for all assets and 
liabilities using unobservable Level 3 inputs for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015: 
 

    

Fair Value 
Measurement at 
Reporting Date 

(Level 3)   
    (In thousands)   

    
Common 

stock     Contingent   
    warrants     consideration   

Balance at December 31, 2014   $ —     $ —   
Additions for contingent consideration     —       23,900   
Change in fair value     —       (400 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2015     —       23,500   
Payment for contingent consideration     —       (1,182 ) 
Change in fair value     —       482   
Balance at December 31, 2016     —       22,800   
Issuance of common stock in exchange for 
contingent consideration     —       (5,227 ) 
Issuance of warrants     8,715       —   
Payment for contingent consideration     —       (7,181 ) 
Exercise of warrants     (78,359 )     —   
Change in fair value     83,734       2,026   
Balance at December 31, 2017     14,090     $ 12,418   
Current portion     —       719   
Long-term portion     14,090       11,699   
Balance at December 31, 2017   $ 14,090     $ 12,418   

 



 

 69 

 
6. Accounts Receivable, Net 

The following table presents the components of accounts receivable: 
 

    December 31,     December 31,   
    2017     2016   
    (In thousands)   

Gross accounts receivable   $ 1,609     $ 960   
Allowance for uncollectible accounts     (73 )     (73 ) 
Total accounts receivable, net   $ 1,536     $ 887   
Short-term portion   $ 1,536     $ 621   
Long-term portion     —       266   
Total accounts receivable   $ 1,536     $ 887   

 
 
7. Inventories 

The components of inventories are as follows: 
 

    December 31,     December 31,   
    2017     2016   
    (In thousands)   

Finished goods   $ 4,432     $ 4,698   
Raw materials     6,385       3,185   
Total inventories   $ 10,817     $ 7,883   

 
As disclosed in Note 17, the Company executed a restructuring plan in May 2016 and wrote down inventory related 
to the SurgiBot System.  The write down of inventory of $2.6 million is included in the accompanying consolidated 
statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2016. There were no such write-
downs for the year ended December 31, 2017 or 2015. 
 
 
8. Other Current Assets 

The following table presents the components of other current assets: 
 

    December 31,     December 31,   
    2017     2016   
    (In thousands)   

Prepaid expenses   $ 1,519     $ 2,186   
Advances to vendors     6,403       1,806   
Other receivables     1,422       1,343   
Total   $ 9,344     $ 5,335   
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9. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consisted of the following: 
 

    December 31,     December 31,   
    2017     2016   
    (In thousands)   

Machinery, manufacturing and demonstration 
equipment   $ 10,866     $ 7,579   
Computer equipment     2,187       2,124   
Furniture     598       614   
Leasehold improvements     2,237       2,028   
Total property and equipment     15,888       12,345   
Accumulated depreciation and amortization     (9,218 )     (6,573 ) 
Property and equipment, net   $ 6,670     $ 5,772   

 
As disclosed in Note 17, the Company executed a restructuring plan in May 2016 and disposed of certain long-lived 
assets, primarily equipment and fixtures related to the SurgiBot System.  The disposal of long-lived assets of $1.0 
million is included as a component of restructuring and other charges in the accompanying consolidated statement of 
operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2016.  There were no such disposals for the 
year ended December 31, 2017 or 2015. 
 
Depreciation expense was $2,486,000, $1,942,000 and $1,248,000, for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 
and 2015, respectively. 
 
 
10. Goodwill, In-Process Research and Development and Intellectual Property 

Goodwill 

Goodwill of $93.8 million was recorded in connection with the Merger, as described in Note 1, and goodwill of 
$38.3 million was recorded in connection with the Senhance Acquisition, as described in Note 3. The carrying value 
of goodwill and the change in the balance for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 
 

    Goodwill   

    (In thousands)   
Balance at December 31, 2015   $ 130,869   
Foreign currency translation impact     (388 ) 
Impairment loss     (61,784 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2016     68,697   
Foreign currency translation impact     2,671   
Balance at December 31, 2017   $ 71,368   

 
Accumulated impairment of goodwill as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $61.8 million. 
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The Company performs an annual impairment test of goodwill at December 31, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicates that the carrying value of the Company’s one reporting unit may not be 
recoverable. During the second quarter of 2016, the FDA notified the Company that the SurgiBot System did not 
meet the criteria for substantial equivalency, negatively impacting the Company’s market capitalization, and 
warranting an interim two-step quantitative impairment test. Prior to adopting ASU 2017-04 as of the beginning of 
fiscal year 2017, goodwill was tested for impairment using a two-step approach. In the first step, the fair value of the 
reporting unit was determined and compared to the reporting unit's carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair 
value of the reporting unit was less than its carrying value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test was 
performed to measure the amount of impairment, if any. In the second step, the fair value of the reporting unit was 
allocated to the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit as if it had been acquired in a business combination and the 
purchase price was equivalent to the fair value of the reporting unit. The excess of the fair value of the reporting unit 
over the amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities was referred to as the implied fair value of goodwill. The 
implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill was then compared to the actual carrying value of goodwill. If the 
implied fair value of goodwill was less than the carrying value of goodwill, an impairment loss was recognized for 
the difference. ASU 2017-04 removes Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. 
  
The Company determined the fair value of the reporting unit using a discounted cash flow analysis derived from the 
Company’s long-term plans.  The fair value of the reporting unit was corroborated using market prices for 
TransEnterix, Inc.  The inputs used to determine the fair values were classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 
Based on the impairment test, the Company recorded goodwill impairment of $61.8 million during the second 
quarter of 2016. No impairment was recorded as of December 31, 2017 or 2015. 

The Company performed a qualitative assessment during the annual impairment review for fiscal 2016 as of 
December 31, 2016 and concluded that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of the Company’s single 
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. Therefore, the two-step goodwill impairment test for the reporting 
unit was not necessary at December 31, 2016. During the second quarter of 2017, the Company’s stock price 
experienced a significant decline. The Company performed a Step 1 goodwill impairment test as of the second 
quarter and determined that no charge to goodwill for impairment was required during the second quarter of 2017. 
As of December 31, 2017, the Company elected to bypass the qualitative assessment and calculated the fair value of 
the Company’s reporting unit, which exceeded the carrying amount. Accordingly, no charge for goodwill 
impairment was required as of December 31, 2017. 

In-Process Research and Development 

As described in Note 3, on September 21, 2015, the Company acquired all of the assets related to the Senhance 
System and recorded $17.1 million of IPR&D. The estimated fair value of the IPR&D was determined using a 
probability-weighted income approach, which discounts expected future cash flows to present value. The projected 
cash flows were based on certain key assumptions, including estimates of future revenue and expenses, taking into 
account the stage of development of the technology at the acquisition date and the time and resources needed to 
complete development. The Company used a discount rate of 45% and cash flows that have been probability 
adjusted to reflect the risks of product commercialization, which the Company believes are appropriate and 
representative of market participant assumptions. 

On October 13, 2017, upon receipt of regulatory clearance to commercialize the products associated with the 
IPR&D assets in the United States, the assets were deemed definite-lived, transferred to developed technology and 
are amortized based on their estimated useful lives.  
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The carrying value of the Company’s IPR&D assets and the change in the balance for the years ended December 31, 
2016 and 2017 is as follows: 
 

    

In-Process 
Research and 
Development   

    (In thousands)   
Balance at December 31, 2015     16,511   
Foreign currency translation impact     (591 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2016     15,920   
Foreign currency translation impact     1,993   
Transfer to developed technology     (17,913 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2017   $ —   

 

Intellectual Property 

In 2009, the Company purchased certain patents from an affiliated company for $5.0 million in cash and 
concurrently terminated a license agreement related to the patents. The patent expiration dates begin in 2027. In 
addition, as described in Note 3, on September 21, 2015, the Company acquired all of the developed technology 
related to the Senhance System and recorded $48.5 million of intellectual property. The estimated fair value of the 
intellectual property was determined using a probability-weighted income approach, which discounts expected 
future cash flows to present value. The projected cash flows were based on certain key assumptions, including 
estimates of future revenue and expenses, taking into account the stage of development of the technology at the 
acquisition date and the time and resources needed to complete development. The Company used a discount rate of 
45% and cash flows that have been probability adjusted to reflect the risks of product commercialization, which the 
Company believes are appropriate and representative of market participant assumptions. 

In November 2016, the Company agreed to enter into a technology and patents purchase agreement with Sofar to 
acquire from Sofar certain technology and intellectual property rights related to the Senhance Acquisition, and 
formerly licensed by the Company.  The technology and patents were acquired in 2017 at an acquisition price of 
$400,000. 

As disclosed in Note 17, the Company executed a restructuring plan in May 2016 and wrote-off certain intellectual 
property consisting of patents related to the SurgiBot System.  The write-off of intellectual property of $1.6 million 
is included as a component of restructuring and other charges in the accompanying consolidated statement of 
operations and comprehensive losses for the year ended December 31, 2016.  There were no such write offs for the 
year ended December 31, 2015 or 2017. 

The components of gross intellectual property, accumulated amortization, and net intellectual property as of 
December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 
 

    December 31, 2017       December 31, 2016   
    (In thousands)       (In thousands)   

    

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount     

Accumulated 
Amortization     

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
impact     

Net 
Carrying 
Amount       

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount     

Accumulated 
Amortization     

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
impact     

Write-
off     

Net 
Carrying 
Amount   

Patents   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —       $ 5,000     $ (3,438 )   $ —     $ (1,562 )   $ —   
Developed technology     66,413       (19,724 )     5,529       52,218         48,500       (8,458 )     (2,952 )     —       37,090   
Technology and patents 
purchased     400       (30 )     50       420         —       —       —       —       —   
Total intellectual 
property   $ 66,813     $ (19,754 )   $ 5,579     $ 52,638       $ 53,500     $ (11,896 )   $ (2,952 )   $ (1,562 )   $ 37,090   
 
The weighted average remaining useful life of the developed technology and technology and patents purchased was 
4.8 years and 9.3 years, respectively as of December 31, 2017.   
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The estimated future amortization expense of intangible assets as of December 31, 2017 is as follows: 
 

    
Years ending 
December 31,   

    (In thousands)   
2018   $ 10,552   
2019     10,552   
2020     10,552   
2021     10,552   
2022     10,210   
Thereafter     220   
Total   $ 52,638   

 
 
11. Income Taxes 

The components for the income tax expense (benefit) are as follows for the years ended December 31 (in 
thousands): 
 

    2017     2016     2015   
Current income taxes                         

Federal   $ —     $ —     $ —   
State     —       —       —   
Foreign     —       —       —   

Deferred income taxes                         
Federal     —       —       —   
State     —       —       —   
Foreign     (3,300 )     (5,523 )     (1,024 ) 

Total income tax expense (benefit)   $ (3,300 )   $ (5,523 )   $ (1,024 ) 
 
The United States and foreign components of loss from operations before taxes are as follows for the years ended 
December 31 (in thousands): 
 

    2017     2016     2015   
United States   $ (124,418 )   $ (88,624 )   $ (44,438 ) 
Foreign     (23,678 )     (36,879 )     (3,534 ) 
Total loss from operations before taxes   $ (148,096 )   $ (125,503 )   $ (47,972 ) 
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets consist of the following at December 31 (in 
thousands): 
 

    2017     2016   
Noncurrent deferred tax assets:                 

Stock-based compensation     2,216       2,300   
Inventory     375       204   
Accrued expenses and other     637       564   
Research credit carryforward     5,540       4,970   
Fixed assets     450       557   
Capitalized start-up costs and other intangibles     2,130       3,586   
Net operating loss carryforwards     64,300       82,298   

      75,648       94,479   
Valuation allowance     (71,520 )     (91,885 ) 
Net noncurrent deferred tax asset     4,128       2,594   
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities                 

Fixed assets     (334 )     (292 ) 
Purchase accounting intangibles     (12,183 )     (12,699 ) 

Net noncurrent deferred tax liability     (12,517 )     (12,991 ) 
Net deferred tax asset (liability)   $ (8,389 )   $ (10,397 ) 

 
At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company has provided a full valuation allowance against its net deferred 
assets in the U.S. Luxembourg, and Swiss tax jurisdiction, since realization of these benefits is not more likely than 
not. The valuation allowance decreased approximately $20.4 million from the prior year. At December 31, 2017, the 
Company had federal and state net operating loss tax carryforwards of approximately $254.6 million and $204.8 
million, respectively. These net operating loss carryforwards expire in various amounts starting in 2027 and 2022, 
respectively. At December 31, 2017, the Company had federal research credit carryforwards in the amount of $5.5 
million. These carryforwards begin to expire in 2027. The utilization of the federal net operating loss carryforwards 
and credit carryforwards will depend on the Company’s ability to generate sufficient taxable income prior to the 
expiration of the carryforwards. In addition, the maximum annual use of net operating loss and research credit 
carryforwards is limited in certain situations where changes occur in stock ownership.  

At December 31, 2017, the Company had foreign operating loss carryforwards in Italy of approximately $15.6 
million, which can be carried forward indefinitely; foreign operating loss carryforwards in Luxembourg of 
approximately $0.2 million, which can be carried forward indefinitely; and foreign operating loss carryforwards in 
Switzerland of approximately $16.7 million, which begin to expire in 2023.  

As of December 31, 2017 the Company has adopted ASU 2016-09 which is effective for public companies for 
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. The ASU requires all excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies to 
be recognized as income tax expense or benefit in the income statement in the year in which they occur. As such, the 
Company has grossed up its net operating loss deferred tax asset to include all excess tax benefits as of December 
31, 2017. 

The Company has evaluated its tax positions to consider whether it has any unrecognized tax benefits. As of 
December 31, 2017, the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $1.2 million. Of the total, 
none would reduce the Company’s effective tax rate if recognized. The Company does not anticipate a significant 
change in total unrecognized tax benefits or the Company’s effective tax rate due to the settlement of audits or the 
expiration of statutes of limitations within the next twelve months. Furthermore, the Company does not expect any 
cash settlement with the taxing authorities as a result of these unrecognized tax benefits as the Company has 
sufficient unutilized carryforward attributes to offset the tax impact of these adjustments. 
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The following is a tabular reconciliation of the Company’s change in gross unrecognized tax positions at 
December 31 (in thousands): 
 

    2017     2016     2015   
Beginning balance   $ 1,048     $ 862     $ 606   
Gross increases for tax positions related to current 
periods     143       186       256   
Gross increases for tax positions related to prior 
periods     11       —       —   
Ending balance   $ 1,202     $ 1,048     $ 862   

 
The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in the provision for income taxes. 
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had no accrued interest or penalties related to uncertain tax 
positions. 

The Company has analyzed its filing positions in all significant federal, state, and foreign jurisdictions where it is 
required to file income tax returns, as well as open tax years in these jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the 
Company is no longer subject to United States Federal, state, and local tax examinations by tax authorities for years 
before 2014, although carryforward attributes that were generated prior to 2014 may still be adjusted upon 
examination by the taxing authorities if they either have been or will be used in a future period. No income tax 
returns are currently under examination by taxing authorities. The North Carolina Department of Revenue recently 
completed an examination of the North Carolina state income tax returns for the 2013, 2014, and 2015 tax years for 
the Company’s subsidiary, TransEnterix Surgical, Inc. No material changes were made as a result of the audit, and 
those tax years are now effectively settled. 

Taxes computed at the then-current statutory federal income tax rate of 34% are reconciled to the provision for 
income taxes as follows for the years ended December 31: 
 

    2017     2016     2015   
            % of Pretax             % of Pretax             % of Pretax   
    Amount     Earnings     Amount     Earnings     Amount     Earnings   

United States federal tax at statutory rate   $ (50,352 )     34.0 %   $ (42,671 )     34.0 %   $ (16,311 )     34.0 % 
State taxes (net of deferred benefit)     (4,663 )     3.1 %     (2,487 )     2.0 %     (1,121 )     2.3 % 
Nondeductible expenses     466       (0.3 %)     667       (0.5 %)     1,797       (3.7 %) 
Change in fair market value of contingent 
   consideration     777       (0.5 %)     —       —       —       —   
Warrant remeasurement and financing 
costs     32,348       (21.8 %)     —       —       —       —   
Research & Development credits     (712 )     0.5 %     (922 )     0.7 %     (1,281 )     2.7 % 
Change in unrecognized tax benefits     142       (0.1 %)     186       (0.1 %)     256       (0.5 %) 
Foreign tax rate differential     3,619       (2.4 %)     3,969       (3.2 %)     175       (0.4 %) 
Goodwill impairment     —       0.0 %     20,816       (16.6 %)     —       —   
Change in enacted tax rates and other, net     35,440       (24.1 %)     (1,069 )     0.8 %     532       (1.2 %) 
Change in valuation allowance     (20,365 )     13.8 %     15,988       (12.7 %)     14,929       (31.1 %) 
Income tax benefit   $ (3,300 )     2.2 %   $ (5,523 )     4.4 %   $ (1,024 )     2.1 % 
 
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Legislation”) was enacted into law, which reduced the US 
federal corporate income tax rate to 21% for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. As a result of the newly 
enacted tax rate, the Company adjusted its U.S. deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2017, by applying the new 
21% rate, which resulted in a decrease to the deferred tax assets and a corresponding decrease to the valuation 
allowance of approximately $36.1 million. The newly enacted tax rate had no impact on deferred tax liabilities as 
they do not relate to U.S. amounts. 

The Tax Legislation also implements a territorial tax system. Under the territorial tax system, in general, the 
Company's foreign earnings will no longer be subject to tax in the U.S. As part of transition to the territorial tax 
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system the Tax Legislation includes a mandatory deemed repatriation of all undistributed foreign earnings that are 
subject to a U.S. income tax. The Company estimates that the deemed repatriation will not result in any additional 
U.S. income tax liability as it estimates it currently has no undistributed foreign earnings.  

The SEC staff issued SAB 118 which will allow the Company to record provisional amounts related to accounting 
for the Tax Legislation during a measurement period which is similar to the measurement period used when 
accounting for business combinations. The Company is following the guidance set forth by SAB 118 and any 
amounts calculated are provisional estimates and will be reevaluated as more information or guidance becomes 
available.  The Company will continue to assess the impact of the Tax Legislation on its business and consolidated 
financial statements. 
 

12. Accrued Expenses 
 

The following table presents the components of accrued expenses: 
 

    December 31,     December 31,   
    2017     2016   
    (In thousands)   

Compensation and benefits   $ 4,533     $ 2,328   
Taxes and other assessments     3,192       2,676   
Consulting and other vendors     1,414       1,428   
Deferred rent     595       323   
Other     504       49   
Legal and professional fees     386       243   
Interest and final payment fee     309       1,000   
Royalties     41       159   
Total   $ 10,974     $ 8,206   

 
 
13. Notes Payable 
 
On May 10, 2017, the Company and its domestic subsidiaries, as co-borrowers, entered into a Loan and Security 
Agreement (the “Innovatus Loan Agreement”) with Innovatus Life Sciences Lending Fund I, LP, as Lender and 
Collateral Agent (the “Lender”).  Under the Innovatus Loan Agreement, the Lender agreed to make certain term 
loans in the aggregate principal amount of up to $17,000,000. Funding of the first $14,000,000 tranche occurred on 
May 10, 2017. The Company will be eligible to draw on the Second Tranche of $3,000,000 upon achievement of 
certain milestones, including Senhance Clearance (as defined below). So long as the Company meets each Interest-
Only Milestone (as defined below), the Company is entitled to make interest-only payments for up to twenty-four 
(24) months. At the end of the interest-only period, the Company will be required to repay the term loans over a 
two-year period, based on a twenty-four (24) month amortization schedule, with a final maturity date occurring on 
the fourth anniversary of the initial funding date.  However, the interest-only period will end if the Company fails to 
meet any Interest-Only Milestone. Commencing on the first day of the month following such failure to achieve an 
Interest-Only Milestone, the Company will be required to repay the term loans over a two year period, based on a 
twenty-four (24) month amortization schedule.  The Interest-Only Milestones require the Company to (i) achieve 
certain twelve month revenue targets, measured quarterly, commencing with the quarter ending March 31, 2018, (ii) 
meet a minimum capital raising threshold through the sale and issuance of equity securities during the period from 
April 10, 2017 through May 31, 2018 and (iii) obtain clearance for commercialization of the Senhance System by 
the FDA (“Senhance Clearance”) by May 30, 2018 (each such milestone, an “Interest-Only Milestone”). 
   
The term loans bear interest at a fixed rate equal to 11% per annum, of which 2.5% can be paid in-kind and added to 
the outstanding principal amount of the term loans until the earlier of (i) the first anniversary following the funding 
date and (ii) the Company’s failure to achieve an Interest-Only Milestone.  The Company will be required to repay 
the term loans if they are accelerated following an event of default.  In addition, the Company is permitted to prepay 
the term loans in full at any time upon five (5) business days’ written notice to the Lender.  Upon the earliest to 
occur of the maturity date, acceleration of the term loan, or prepayment of the term loan, the Company is required to 
make a final payment equal to the total term loan commitment multiplied by four percent (4%) (the “Final Fee”); 
provided, however, that in the event the Company refinances its obligations with the Lender after Senhance 
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Clearance, no Final Fee or Prepayment Fee (as defined below) will be due thereunder; and provided, further, that if 
the Company elects to refinance its obligations prior to the funding of the Second Tranche, the Final Fee with 
respect to the Second Tranche shall be paid in full on the date of such refinancing. Any prepayment of the term 
loans in full, whether mandatory or voluntary, must include (i) the Final Fee, (ii) interest at the default rate (which is 
the rate otherwise applicable plus five percent (5%)) with respect to any amounts past due, (iii) the Lender’s 
expenses and all other obligations that are due and payable to the Lender and (iv) a prepayment fee of three percent 
(3%) if the term loan is paid in full on or before the first anniversary of the effective date, two percent (2%) if paid 
off after the first anniversary but on or before the second anniversary of the effective date and one percent (1%) if 
paid off after the second anniversary but on or before the third anniversary of the effective date (the “Prepayment 
Fee”). 

In connection with the funding, the Company paid a facility fee of $170,000 on the date of funding of the first 
tranche and incurred additional debt issuance costs of approximately $1.2 million, recorded as debt discount.  In 
addition, the Company issued warrants to the Lender to purchase shares of the Company’s common 
stock.  Additional warrants will be issued on the funding date of each subsequent tranche and will expire five (5) 
years from such issue date. The warrants issued in connection with funding of the first tranche entitle the Lender to 
purchase up to 1,244,746 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share. The 
Company estimated the fair value of the warrants to be $300,000. The value of the warrants was classified as equity 
and recorded as a discount to the loan.  The debt discount is amortized as interest expense using the effective interest 
method over the life of the loan. As of December 31, 2017, the unamortized debt discount was $209,000. 
 
The Company’s obligations under the Innovatus Loan Agreement are secured by a security interest in all of the 
assets of the Company and its current and future domestic and material foreign subsidiaries, including a security 
interest in the intellectual property.  The Innovatus Loan Agreement contains customary representations and 
covenants that, subject to exceptions, restrict the Company’s ability to do the following things: declare dividends or 
redeem or repurchase equity interests; incur additional liens; make loans and investments; incur additional 
indebtedness; engage in mergers, acquisitions, and asset sales; transact with affiliates; undergo a change in control; 
add or change business locations; and engage in businesses that are not related to its existing business. Under the 
terms of the Innovatus Loan Agreement, the Company is required to maintain minimum unrestricted cash in an 
amount equal to (x) six million dollars ($6,000,000), at all times prior to Senhance Clearance; and (y) at all times 
thereafter, the least of (i) $6,000,000, (ii) the Company’s trailing three (3) months’ cash used to fund operating 
activities, as determined as of the most recent month end and (iii) the then outstanding principal amount of the term 
loans, together with accrued but unpaid interest. 
 
 
 
 

As of December 31, 2017 future principal payments, including paid in-kind interest, under the Innovatus Loan 
Agreement are as follows: 
 

Years ending December 31,         
(In thousands)         
2018   $ 4,788   
2019     7,181   
2020     2,394   
Total   $ 14,363   

 
In connection with its entrance into the Innovatus Loan Agreement, the Company repaid its existing credit facility 
with Silicon Valley Bank and Oxford Finance LLC (the “Prior Lenders”), which loan and security agreement, as 
subsequently amended and restated is referred to as the “SVB Loan Agreement.” The Company recognized a loss of 
$308,000 on the extinguishment of notes payable for the year ended December 31, 2017, which is included in 
interest expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company paid $1.3 
million in final payment obligations and $255,000 in facility fees under the SVB Loan Agreement upon repayment. 
  
The SVB Loan Agreement was initially entered into on January 17, 2012. In connection with the Merger, the 
Company assumed and became the borrower under the SVB Loan Agreement. 
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On August 14, 2015, the Company entered into the First Amendment to the SVB Loan Agreement (the “First 
Amendment”) with the Prior Lenders. The first tranche of the First Amendment increased the Company’s 
borrowings at August 14, 2015 from $10,000,000 to $20,000,000. The First Amendment allowed for interest-only 
payments at 7.5% per annum through April 30, 2016 and had a maturity date of October 1, 2018. 

On September 18, 2015, in connection with entry into the Purchase Agreement with Sofar S.p.A. (see Note 3 for a 
description of the related transactions), the Company and the Prior Lenders entered into the Consent and Second 
Amendment (the “Second Amendment”) to the SVB Loan Agreement. The Second Amendment modified the period 
in which the Company could make interest-only payments at 7.5% per annum on the term loans until January 31, 
2016. The Second Amendment had a maturity date of July 1, 2018. 

In addition, in connection with the borrowings under the SVB Loan Agreement, the Company issued warrants to the 
Prior Lenders to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock amounting to an aggregate of 430,815 warrants 
under the SVB Loan Agreement. The warrants expire seven years from their respective issue date. 
 
In accordance with ASC 470-50 Debt – Modifications and Extinguishments, it was determined that a debt 
refinancing of the SVB Loan Agreement on September 26, 2014, was considered to be a debt modification. 
Accordingly, the Company recorded approximately $129,000 of debt discount, consisting of the $75,000 facility fee 
and the relative fair value of warrants on the issue date of $54,000. Additionally, approximately $30,000 of legal 
fees was recorded as a result of the transaction. The debt discount and deferred financing costs were amortized over 
the life of the new debt agreement using the effective interest method into interest expense, net, until the debt was 
extinguished in May 2017. 

In accordance with ASC 470-50 Debt – Modifications and Extinguishments, it was determined that debt refinancings 
of the SVB Loan Agreement on August 14, 2015, September 18, 2015, April 19, 2016 and September 7, 2016 were 
considered to be debt modifications. The Company recorded a debt discount of approximately $210,000 for these 
amendments. Accordingly, the unamortized debt discount was presented as a reduction of the related debt liability in 
the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The debt discount was amortized over the life of the new debt agreement 
using the effective interest method into interest expense, net, until the debt was extinguished in May 2017. 

In connection with the issuance of the notes payable and amendments under the SVB Loan Agreement, TransEnterix 
Surgical incurred approximately $371,000 in debt issuance costs paid to the Prior Lenders and third parties and 
$280,000 in debt issuance costs related to issuance of warrants to the Prior Lenders. The unamortized balance 
of $107,000 as of December 31, 2016, was amortized using the effective interest method, until the debt was 
extinguished in May 2017. At the time of extinguishment in May 2017, $63,000 of unamortized debt issuance costs 
were included in the loss on extinguishment of notes payable. 
 
 
14. Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company’s stock-based compensation plans include the TransEnterix, Inc. Amended and Restated Incentive 
Compensation Plan,  previously named the TransEnterix, Inc. 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”), as 
well as options outstanding under the TransEnterix, Inc. Stock Option Plan (the “2006 Plan”). As part of the Merger, 
options outstanding, whether vested or unvested, under the 2006 Plan were adjusted by the Exchange Ratio of 
1.1533, and assumed by the Company concurrent with the closing of the Merger. 

The Plan was initially approved by the majority of the stockholders on November 13, 2007. The Plan was amended 
on June 19, 2012 to increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance to 1,000,000 and was 
amended on October 29, 2013 to (a) increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under 
the Plan from 1,000,000 shares of common stock to 4,940,000 shares of common stock, (b) increase the per-person 
award limitations for options or stock appreciation rights from 200,000 to 1,000,000 shares and for restricted stock, 
deferred stock, performance shares and/or other stock-based awards from 100,000 to 500,000 shares, and (c) change 
the name of the Plan to reflect the Merger-related change. The Plan was again amended on May 7, 2015 to 
(i) increase the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Plan to 11,940,000 shares; (ii) extend the term of 
the Plan until May 7, 2025; and (iii) make other changes and updates to the Plan and was further amended in 
October 2015 to add French Sub-Plan amendments applicable to awards made to France-based employees. The Plan 
was further amended on June 8, 2016 to (a) approve an increase in the number of shares reserved for issuance under 
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the Plan to 18,940,000 shares and (b) establish maximum equity award limits for initial awards and annual awards to 
non-employee directors. The Plan was subsequently amended as of May 25, 2017, increasing the number of shares 
of Common Stock authorized under the Plan to 25,940,000. 

The October 2013, May 2015, June 2016 and May 2017 amendments were approved by the Board of Directors and 
stockholders; the French Sub-Plan was approved by the Board of Directors. Under the Plan, which is administered 
by the Compensation Committee, the Company may grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock 
and/or deferred stock to employees, officers, directors, consultants and vendors. The exercise price of stock options 
or stock appreciation rights may not be less than the fair market value of the Company’s shares at the date of grant. 
Additionally, no stock options or stock appreciation rights granted under the Plan may have a term exceeding ten 
years. 

The 2006 Plan was adopted and approved by stockholders in September 2006 and provided for the granting of up to 
80,000 stock options to employees, directors, and consultants. Under the 2006 Plan, both employees and non-
employees were eligible for such stock options. In 2009, the 2006 Plan was amended to increase the total options 
pool to 1,110,053. In 2011, the 2006 Plan was amended to increase the total options pool to 3,378,189. The 
amendments were approved by the Board of Directors and stockholders. The Board of Directors had the authority to 
administer the plan and determine, among other things, the exercise price, term and dates of the exercise of all 
options at their grant date. Under the 2006 Plan, options become vested generally over four years, and expire not 
more than 10 years after the date of grant. As part of the Merger, options outstanding under the 2006 Plan were 
adjusted by the Conversion Ratio, and remain in existence as options of TransEnterix. 

During the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized $7,078,000, $5,033,000 and 
$3,311,000, respectively, of stock-based compensation expense, including stock options and restricted stock units.  

The Company recognizes as expense, the grant-date fair value of stock options and other stock based compensation 
issued to employees and non-employee directors over the requisite service periods, which are typically the vesting 
periods. The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton model to estimate the fair value of its stock-based payments. 
The volatility assumption used in the Black-Scholes-Merton model is based on the calculated historical volatility based 
on an analysis of reported data for a peer group of companies as well as the Company’s historical volatility. The 
expected term of options granted by the Company has been determined based upon the simplified method, because the 
Company does not have sufficient historical information regarding its options to derive the expected term. Under this 
approach, the expected term is the mid-point between the weighted average of vesting period and the contractual term. 
The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury rates whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock 
options. The Company has not paid and does not anticipate paying cash dividends on its shares of common stock; 
therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero. The Company estimates forfeitures based on the historical 
experience of the Company and adjusts the estimated forfeiture rate based upon actual experience. 

The fair value of options granted were estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model based on the 
assumptions in the table below: 
 

    Years ended December 31,   
    2017     2016     2015   

Expected dividend yield     0%       0%       0%   
Expected volatility   70% - 72%     47%     45% - 56%   
Risk-free interest rate   1.84% - 

2.29%   
  1.13% - 

2.09%   
  1.44% - 

1.95%   
Expected life (in years)   5.5 - 6.3     5.5 - 6.3     5.5 - 6.3   
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The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity, including grants to non-employees, for the 
year ended December 31, 2017: 
 

                    Weighted-   
                    Average   
            Weighted-     Remaining   
    Number of     Average     Contractual   

    Shares     
Exercise 

Price     
Term 

(Years)   
Options outstanding at December 31, 2016     12,488,551     $ 2.66       8.08   
Granted     4,746,250       1.25           
Forfeited     (574,773 )     2.35           
Cancelled     (227,419 )     4.16           
Exercised     (738,934 )     0.59           
Options outstanding at December 31, 2017     15,693,675     $ 2.32       7.78   

 
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2017: 
 

                    Weighted   
                    Average   
            Weighted     Remaining   
    Number of     Average     Contractual   

    Shares     
Exercise 

Price     
Term 

(Years)   
Exercisable at December 31, 2017     7,113,007     $ 2.78       6.78   
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2017     15,195,280     $ 2.34       7.75   

 
The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding, exercisable, and vested or expected to vest at December 
31, 2017 was approximately $5.2 million, $1.6 million, and $4.9 million, respectively. This amount is before 
applicable income taxes and represents the closing market price of the Company’s common stock at December 31, 
2017 less the exercise price, multiplied by the number of stock options that had an exercise price that is less than the 
closing market price. This amount represents the amount that would have been received by the optionees had these 
stock options been exercised on that date. 

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2017, 2016 and 2015 was approximately $2,179,000, $519,000 
and $1,603,000, respectively. 

The Company granted 4,746,250, 5,368,755 and 4,407,758 options to employees and non-employees during the 
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, with a weighted-average grant date fair value of 
$0.82, $1.30 and $1.37, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had future employee stock-based compensation expense of approximately 
$8,457,000 related to unvested share awards, which is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted-
average period of 2.5 years. 
 
 
15. Restricted Stock Units 

In 2015, 2016 and 2017, the Company issued Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) to certain employees which vest over 
three years. The RSUs vest on defined vesting dates, subject to the continuous service with the Company at the 
applicable vesting event. Vesting can be accelerated by upon a change in control under the Plan if the RSUs are not 
assumed by the successor company.  When vested, the RSUs represent the right to be issued the number of shares of 
the Company’s common stock that is equal to the number of RSUs granted. The fair value of each RSU is estimated 
based upon the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. Share-based compensation expense 
related to RSUs is recognized over the requisite service period as adjusted for estimated forfeitures. 
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The following is a summary of the RSU activity for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015: 
 

            Weighted   
    Number of     Average   
    Restricted     Grant   
    Stock Units     Date Fair   
    Outstanding     Value   

Unvested, December 31, 2014     140,000     $ 7.19   
Granted     380,000       2.94   
Vested     (70,000 )     7.19   
Forfeited     (27,500 )     2.94   
Unvested, December 31, 2015     422,500     $ 3.64   
Granted     660,331       3.74   
Vested     (187,503 )     4.53   
Unvested, December 31, 2016     895,328     $ 3.53   
Granted     3,873,000       0.82   
Vested     (337,618 )     3.46   
Forfeited     (36,054 )     3.60   
Unvested, December 31, 2017     4,394,656     $ 1.15   

 
As of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Company recorded approximately $1,751,000, $1,463,000 and 
$816,000, respectively, in compensation expense for the RSUs. As of December 31, 2017, the unrecognized stock-
based compensation expense related to unvested RSUs was approximately $3.2 million, which is expected to be 
recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2.3 years. The weighted average grant date fair value 
of the RSUs granted in 2015 was $2.94. The weighted average grant date fair value of the RSUs granted in 2016 was 
$3.74. The weighted average grant date fair value of the RSUs granted in 2017 was $0.82. 
 
 
16. Warrants 

On March 22, 2013, SafeStitch entered into a stock purchase agreement with approximately 17 investors (the “2013 PIPE 
Investors”) pursuant to which the 2013 PIPE Investors purchased an aggregate of approximately 2,420,000 shares of 
common stock at a price of $1.25 per share for aggregate consideration of approximately $3.0 million. Included in this 
private placement was the issuance of warrants to purchase approximately 1,209,600 common shares, representing one 
warrant for every two common shares purchased, with an exercise price of $1.65 per share and five year expiration. 
Among the 2013 PIPE Investors purchasing shares were related parties who purchased 1.28 million shares and received 
640,000 warrants. There were approximately 1.2 million warrants outstanding that were assumed as of the Merger. During 
the year ended December 31, 2017, 240,000 of these warrants were exercised. During the years ended December 31, 2016 
and 2015, none of these warrants were exercised.   

On January 17, 2012, TransEnterix Surgical entered into the original Loan Agreement with the Prior Lenders. 
Pursuant to such agreement, TransEnterix Surgical issued preferred stock warrants to the Prior Lenders on 
January 17, 2012 and December 21, 2012, respectively, to purchase shares of TransEnterix Surgical preferred stock. 
The preferred stock warrants expire 10 years from the issue date. The preferred stock warrants were remeasured 
immediately prior to the Merger. As of the Merger, the preferred stock warrants converted to common stock 
warrants, adjusted based on a Merger exchange ratio of 1.1533, and the preferred stock warrant liability was 
reclassified to additional paid-in capital. These warrants are exercisable for an aggregate of approximately 279,588 
shares of common stock, with an exercise price of $1.45 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2013, 
139,794 of these warrants were exercised in a cashless transaction for 112,766 shares of common stock. None of 
these warrants were exercised during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 or 2015. 

On September 26, 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to the SVB Loan Agreement with the Prior Lenders. 
In connection with the first tranche borrowings under such amendment, the Company issued 38,324 common stock 
warrants to the Prior Lenders to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock, with an exercise price of $4.015 per 
share. The warrants expire seven years from their respective issue date. The Company concluded that the warrants are 
considered equity instruments. The warrants were recognized at the relative fair value on the issuance date as a debt 
discount and will be amortized using the effective interest method from issuance to the maturity of the term loans. None of 
these warrants were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2017, 2016 or 2015. 
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On August 14, 2015, in connection with an amendment to the SVB Loan Agreement and first tranche borrowings 
thereunder, the Company issued 112,903 common stock warrants to the Prior Lenders to purchase shares of the 
Company’s common stock, with an exercise price of $3.10 per share. The warrants expire seven years from their 
respective issue date. The Company concluded that the warrants are considered equity instruments. The warrants 
were recognized at the relative fair value on the issuance date as a debt discount and will be amortized using the 
effective interest method from issuance to the maturity of the note. None of these warrants were exercised during the 
year ended December 31, 2017, 2016 or 2015. 

On April 28, 2017, the Company sold 24.9 million Units, each consisting of one share of Common Stock, a Series A 
Warrant to purchase one share of Common Stock with an exercise price of $1.00 per share, and a Series B Warrant 
to purchase 0.75 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $1.00 per share at an offering price of $1.00 per 
Unit.  Each Series A Warrant may be exercised at any time beginning on the date of issuance, and from time to time 
thereafter, through and including the first anniversary of the issuance date, unless terminated earlier as provided in 
the Series A Warrant. Receipt of 510(k) clearance for the Senhance System on October 13, 2017, triggered the 
acceleration of the expiration date of the Series A Warrants to October 31, 2017. All of the Series A Warrants were 
exercised prior to the expiration date. 

Each Series B Warrant has an initial exercise price of $1.00 per share and may be exercised at any time beginning 
on the date of issuance and from time to time thereafter through and including the fifth anniversary of the issuance 
date. 

The exercise prices and the number of shares issuable upon exercise of each of the Series B Warrants are subject to 
adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events, including, but not limited to, stock splits or dividends, business 
combinations, sale of assets, similar recapitalization transactions, or other similar transactions. The Series B 
Warrants are subject to adjustment in the event that the Company issues or is deemed to issue shares of Common 
Stock for less than the then applicable exercise prices of each of the Series B Warrants. The exercisability of the 
Series B Warrants may be limited if, upon exercise, the holder or any of its affiliates would beneficially own more 
than 4.99% of the Common Stock. If, at any time Series B Warrants are outstanding, any fundamental transaction 
occurs, as described in the Series B Warrants and generally including any consolidation or merger into another 
corporation, the consummation of a transaction whereby another entity acquires more than 50% of the Company’s 
outstanding voting stock, or the sale of all or substantially all of its assets, the successor entity must assume in 
writing all of the obligations to the Series B Warrant holders. Additionally, in the event of a fundamental 
transaction, each Series B Warrant holder will have the right to require the Company, or its successor, to repurchase 
the Series B Warrants for an amount of cash equal to the Black-Scholes value of the remaining unexercised portion 
of such Series B Warrants. During the year ended December 31, 2017, 8,893,700 Series B Warrants were 
exercised.    

On May 10, 2017, in connection with the entry into the Innovatus Loan Agreement, the Company issued warrants to 
the Lender to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock.  The warrants are issued on the funding date of each 
tranche and will expire five (5) years from such issue date. The warrants issued in connection with funding of the 
first tranche will entitle the Lender to purchase up to 1,244,746 shares of the Company’s common stock at an 
exercise price of $1.00 per share. None of these warrants were exercised as of December 31, 2017. 

On September 12, 2017, the Company entered into a service agreement with a third party vendor. In connection with 
the service agreement, the Company issued 950,000 common stock warrants (“Service Warrants”) to purchase 
shares of the Company’s common stock, with an exercise price of $1.00 per share. The Service Warrants vest as 
follow: (a) twenty-five percent (25%) on the date of execution of the services agreement; (b) fifty percent (50%) 
upon completion of hiring the sales team; and (c) the remaining twenty-five percent (25%) upon achieving 
cumulative product revenue of $15.0 million. The Service Warrants expire ten years from their issue date. The 
Company concluded that the Service Warrants are considered equity instruments. The fair value of the Service 
Warrants on the issuance date was determined using a Black-Scholes Merton model. The initial expense of $0.6 
million was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2017.  The fair value of the remaining Service Warrants 
will be updated each reporting period and the expense will be recorded over the service period. None of these 
warrants were exercised as of December 31, 2017. 
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                    Weighted           
            Weighted     Average           
            Average     Remaining     Weighted   
    Number of     Exercise     Contractual     Average   

    Warrants     Price     
Life (in 
years)     Fair Value   

Outstanding at December 31, 2014     1,313,719     $ 1.70       3.9     $ 1.75   
Granted     112,903       3.10       6.6       0.86   
Exercised     —       —       —       —   
Outstanding at December 31, 2015     1,426,622     $ 1.81       3.2     $ 1.54   
Granted     —       —       —       —   
Exercised     —       —       —       —   
Outstanding at December 31, 2016     1,426,622     $ 1.81       2.2     $ 1.54   
Granted     45,769,746       1.00       4.8       0.22   
Exercised     (34,033,700 )     1.00       —       —   
Outstanding at December 31, 2017     13,162,668     $ 1.08       4.5     $ 0.39   

 
 

The aggregate intrinsic value of the common stock warrants in the above table was $11.2 million, $0 and $1.0 
million at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value is before applicable 
income taxes and is calculated based on the difference between the exercise price of the warrants and the estimated 
fair market value of the applicable stock as of the respective dates. 
 
 
17. Restructuring 
On April 19, 2016, the FDA notified the Company that the SurgiBot System did not meet the criteria for substantial 
equivalence based on the data submitted in the 510(k) submission. In May 2016, the Company implemented a 
restructuring plan.  Under the restructuring plan, the Company reduced headcount, discontinued efforts on the 
SurgiBot System, and cancelled certain contracts.  The restructuring charges amounted to $5.7 million, of which 
$2.6 million was included as inventory write down related to restructuring and $3.1 million was included as 
restructuring and other charges in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, during the 
second quarter of 2016. 

The restructuring and other charges of $3.1 million included: (i) $0.5 million to be paid in cash, of which $0.4 
million related to employee severance costs and $0.1 million related to cancellation of certain contracts; and (ii) $2.6 
million for other non-cash charges, of which $1.0 million related to the disposal of long-lived assets for the 
abandonment of certain equipment and tooling directly relating to the SurgiBot System and $1.6 million related to 
the write-off of intellectual property for certain patents also relating to the SurgiBot System. There were no future 
payments under the restructuring plan as of December 31, 2017 or 2016. 
 
 
18. Purchase Agreement, Controlled Equity Offering and Public Offering of Common Stock 

On April 28, 2017, the Company sold 24.9 million units, each consisting of one share of the Company’s common 
stock, a Series A warrant to purchase one share of common stock, and a Series B warrant to purchase 0.75 shares of 
common stock, at a public offering price of $1.00 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $24.9 million in an 
underwritten firm commitment public offering. Net proceeds after issuance costs were $23.2 million, assuming no 
exercise of the warrants. The closing of the public offering occurred on May 3, 2017. 

On December 16, 2016, the Company entered into a purchase agreement (the “LPC Purchase Agreement”) with 
Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC, (“Lincoln Park”), pursuant to which the Company had the right to sell to Lincoln 
Park up to an aggregate of $25.0 million in shares of the Company’s common stock, (the “Common Stock”), subject 
to certain limitations and conditions set forth in the LPC Purchase Agreement. The Company issued to Lincoln Park 
345,421 shares of Common Stock as commitment shares in consideration for the LPC Purchase Agreement through 
April 27, 2017. Sales under the LPC Purchase Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2016 were 300,000 
shares, with gross proceeds of $412,500 and net proceeds of $392,500. Sales under the LPC Purchase Agreement for 
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the year ended December 31, 2017 were 3,972,741 shares, with gross and net proceeds of $5,304,000. Effective 
April 27, 2017, the Company terminated the LPC Purchase Agreement. The LPC Purchase Agreement provided the 
Company with an election to terminate the Purchase Agreement for any reason or for no reason by delivering a 
notice to Lincoln Park, and the Company did not incur any early termination penalties in connection with the 
termination of the LPC Purchase Agreement. 
 
On June 11, 2015, the Company sold 16,666,667 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $3.00 per 
share for aggregate gross proceeds of $50.0 million in an underwritten firm commitment public offering. Net 
proceeds after issuance costs were $46.4 million. The closing of the public offering occurred on June 17, 2015. The 
Company granted the underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days, to purchase up to an additional 2,500,000 
shares of Common Stock. 
  
On July 10, 2015, the underwriters exercised a portion of their option to acquire an additional 2,075,000 shares at 
the public offering price of $3.00 per share for aggregate additional gross proceeds of $6.2 million. Net proceeds 
after issuance costs were $5.8 million. The purchase of the option shares closed on July 15, 2015. Total proceeds 
(including the option) were $52.2 million, net of issuance costs of $4.0 million. The common stock was offered and 
sold pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement filed in November 2014 (the “November 2014 Shelf Registration 
Statement”), which was declared effective on December 19, 2014. The November 2014 Shelf Registration Statement 
allowed the Company to raise up to $100.0 million through the sale of debt securities, common stock, preferred 
stock, warrants, or any combination thereof. On March 3, 2016, the Company filed an amendment to the November 
2014 Shelf Registration Statement increasing the amount available from $100.0 million to $150.0 million. 

On February 20, 2015, the Company entered into a Controlled Equity Offering SM Sales Agreement (the “2015 
Sales Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (“Cantor”), as sales agent, pursuant to which the Company sold 
through Cantor, from time to time, up to $25.0 million in shares of common stock in an at-the-market offering. The 
Company pays Cantor a commission of approximately 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds received from all sales of 
common stock under the Sales Agreement. Sales under the 2015 Sales Agreement have been fully sold as of 
February 9, 2016, with cumulative shares of 7,724,488, gross proceeds of $25.0 million and net proceeds of $24.0 
million. 

On February 9, 2016, the Company entered into a Controlled Equity Offering SM Sales Agreement (the “2016 Sales 
Agreement”) with Cantor, as sales agent, pursuant to which the Company can sell through Cantor, from time to 
time, up to $43.6 million in shares of common stock in an at-the-market offering. The Company pays Cantor a 
commission of approximately 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds received from all sales of common stock under 
the 2016 Sales Agreement.  

On August 31, 2017, the Company entered into an At-the-Market Equity Offering Sales Agreement (the “2017 Sales 
Agreement”) with Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (“Stifel”), as sales agent, pursuant to which the 
Company can sell through Stifel, from time to time, up to $50.0 million in shares of common stock in an at-the-
market offering. The Company pays Stifel a commission of approximately 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds 
received from all sales of common stock under the 2017 Sales Agreement. Unless otherwise terminated earlier, the 
2017 Sales Agreement continues until all shares available under the Sales Agreement have been sold. 
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The following table summarizes the total sales under the 2015 Sales Agreement, 2016 Sales Agreement and the 
2017 Sales Agreement for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share amounts): 
 

  
2017 Sales 
Agreement     

2016 Sales 
Agreement     

2015 Sales 
Agreement   

  

Year Ended 
December 

31, 
2017     

Year  Ended 
December 

31, 
2016     

Year Ended 
December 

31, 
2016     

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2015   
Total shares of common stock sold   15,998.5       8,763.4       5,710.2       2,014.3   
Average price per share $ 3.13     $ 4.70     $ 3.23     $ 3.25   
Gross proceeds $ 50,000     $ 41,156     $ 18,454     $ 6,546   
Commissions earned by Cantor $ 1,500     $ 1,235     $ 553     $ 197   
Other issuance costs $ 97     $ 185     $ —     $ 259   

 
 
 

19. Basic and Diluted Net Loss per Share 

Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per common share is 
computed giving effect to all dilutive potential common shares that were outstanding during the period. Diluted 
potential common shares consist of incremental shares issuable upon exercise of stock options, warrants and 
restricted stock units. In computing diluted net loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 
2015, no adjustment has been made to the weighted average outstanding common shares as the assumed exercise of 
outstanding options, warrants and restricted stock units would be anti-dilutive. 

Potential common shares not included in calculating diluted net loss per share are as follows: 
 

    December 31,   
    2017     2016     2015   

Stock options     15,693,675       12,488,551       8,300,819   
Stock warrants     13,162,668       1,426,622       1,426,622   
Nonvested restricted stock units     4,394,656       895,328       422,500   
Total     33,250,999       14,810,501       10,149,941   

 
 
20. Related Person Transactions 

Synergy Life Science Partners, L.P. and Synecor, LLC collectively owned approximately 2.9% and 5% of the 
Company’s common stock at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. A member of the Company’s Board of 
Directors is managing partner of Synergy Life Science Partners, L.P. and an executive officer of Synecor, LLC. Various 
research and development services were purchased by the Company from Synecor, LLC and its wholly owned 
subsidiary Synchrony Labs LLC pursuant to arms’ length terms approved by the Audit Committee and totaled 
approximately $0, $5,000 and $435,000 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

On September 18, 2015, TransEnterix Italia entered into a services agreement for receipt of administrative services 
from Sofar and payment of rent to Sofar, a stockholder that owned approximately 9.7% and 13% of the Company’s 
common stock at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Expenses under this agreement were approximately 
$55,000, $232,000 and $89,000 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The services 
agreement terminated in 2017. 

In November 2016, the Company agreed to enter into a technology and patents purchase agreement with Sofar to 
acquire from Sofar certain technology and intellectual property rights related to the Senhance Acquisition, and 
formerly licensed by the Company.  The acquisition price was $400,000. 

As discussed in Note 3, in September 2015, the Company completed the Senhance Acquisition using a combination 
of cash, stock and potential post-acquisition milestone payments. On December 30, 2016, the Company entered into 
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an Amendment to the Senhance Acquisition purchase agreement with Sofar to restructure the terms of the Second 
Tranche of the Cash Consideration. Under the Amendment, the Second Tranche was restructured to reduce the 
contingent cash consideration by €5.0 million in exchange for the issuance of 3,722,685 shares of the Company’s 
common stock with an aggregate fair market value of €5.0 million.  On January 4, 2017, the Company issued to 
Sofar 3,722,685 shares of the common stock with a fair value of €5.0 million. The price per share was $1.404 and 
was calculated based on the average of the closing prices of the Company’s common stock on ten consecutive 
trading days ending one day before the execution of the Amendment. 

In March 2018, TransEnterix Europe entered into a Service Supply Agreement with 1Med S.A. for certain 
regulatory consulting services. Andrea Biffi, a current member of the Company’s Board of Directors, owns a non-
controlling interest in 1Med S.A. 
 
 
21. Commitments and Contingencies 

Contingent Consideration 

As discussed in Note 3, in September 2015, the Company completed the Senhance Acquisition using a combination 
of cash, stock and potential post-acquisition milestone payments. These milestone payments may be payable in the 
future, depending on the achievement of certain regulatory and commercial milestones. On December 30, 2016, the 
Company entered into an Amendment to restructure the terms of the Second Tranche of the Cash Consideration. 
Under the Amendment, the Second Tranche was restructured to reduce the contingent cash consideration by 
€5.0 million in exchange for the issuance of 3,722,685 shares of the Company’s common stock with an aggregate 
fair market value of €5.0 million.  As of December 31, 2017, the fair value of the contingent consideration was 
$12.4 million.   

Legal Proceedings  
 

When determining the estimated probable loss or range of losses, significant judgment is required to be exercised in 
order to estimate the amount and timing of the loss to be recorded.  Estimating an amount or range of possible losses 
resulting from litigation proceedings is inherently difficult and requires an extensive degree of judgment, 
particularly where the matters involve indeterminate claims for monetary damages, are in the early stages of the 
proceedings, and are subject to appeal.  In addition, because most legal proceedings are resolved over extended 
periods of time, potential losses are subject to change due to, among other things, new developments, changes in 
legal strategy, the outcome of intermediate procedural and substantive rulings and other parties’ settlement posture 
and their evaluation of the strength or weakness of their case against the Company.  For these reasons, the Company 
is currently unable to predict the ultimate timing or outcome of, or reasonably estimate the possible losses or a range 
of possible losses resulting from, the matters described above. Based on information currently available, the 
Company does not believe that any reasonably possible losses arising from currently pending legal matters will be 
material to the Company’s results of operations or financial condition. However, in light of the inherent 
uncertainties involved in such matters, an adverse outcome in one or more of these matters could materially and 
adversely affect the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows in any particular reporting 
period.  
 
No liability or related charge was recorded to earnings in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for legal 
contingencies for the year ended December 31, 2017, as all pending litigation, including two putative derivative 
claims were dismissed in 2017 with prejudice in the Company's favor. 
. 
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Operating Leases  

On November 2, 2009, TransEnterix Surgical entered into an operating lease for its corporate offices for a period of 
five years commencing in April 2010. On June 12, 2014, the Company entered into a lease amendment extending 
the term of the lease for a period of 3 years and 2 months commencing on May 1, 2015 and expiring on June 30, 
2018, with an option to renew for an additional three years. On January 8, 2018, the Company entered into a lease 
amendment extending the term of the lease for a period of eighteen months commencing on July 1, 2018 and 
expiring on December 31, 2019, with an option to renew for an additional five years. On October 25, 2013, the 
Company entered into an operating lease for its warehouse for a period of four years and four months commencing 
in January 2014, with an option to renew for an additional six years. On December 27, 2017 the Company entered 
into an agreement to terminate this lease effective January 31, 2018. On May 12, 2016 TransEnterix Italia entered 
into an operating lease for research and development and demonstration facilities for a period of 6 years 
commencing in July 2016. Rent expense was approximately $1,135,000, $907,000 and $513,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Company’s approximate future minimum payments for its 
operating lease obligations that have initial or remaining noncancelable terms in excess of one year are as follow: 
 

    
Years ending 
December 31,   

    (In thousands)   
2018     800   
2019     789   
2020     260   
2021     260   
2022     87   
Total   $ 2,196   

 
 
License and Supply Agreements 

As discussed in Note 3, in September 2015, the Company completed the Senhance Acquisition. As part of this 
transaction, the Company assumed certain license and supply agreements. Commitments under these agreements 
amount to approximately $2,966,000 in 2018, $1,152,000 in 2019, $600,000 in 2020, $600,000 in 2021, $600,000 in 
2021 and $3.0 million thereafter until termination in 2027. 

On February 13, 2014, TransEnterix Surgical, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a 
Robotic Development and Supply Agreement (the “Robotic Agreement”) with Microline Surgical, Inc. 
(“Microline”). Under the Robotic Agreement, Microline was developing a flexible sealer product for exclusive use 
by the Company with the SurgiBot System in open, minimally invasive and laparoscopic surgery. Payments under 
the Robotic Agreement were $0 and $400,000 for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. As part 
of the restructuring related to the SurgiBot System, the Robotic Agreement was terminated in 2016.  

The Company has placed orders with various suppliers for the purchase of certain tooling, supplies and contract 
engineering and research services. Each of these orders has a duration or expected completion within the next twelve 
months. 
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22. Quarterly Results of Operation (Unaudited) 

The following is a summary of the Company’s unaudited quarterly results of operations for the fiscal years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands, except per share amounts): 
 

    Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2017   
    1st     2nd     3rd     4th     Total   
    Quarter     Quarter     Quarter     Quarter     Year   

Total revenues   $ 1,946     $ 1,584     $ 183       3,398     $ 7,111   
Cost of revenue     1,334       972       921       3,500       6,727   
Amortization of intangible assets     1,636       1,687       1,821       2,714       7,858   
Change in fair value of contingent consideration     1,227       (774 )     773       800       2,026   
Issuance costs for warrants     —       627       —       —       627   
Other operating expenses     13,627       11,538       12,337       14,298       51,800   
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     —       2,326       22,887       58,521       83,734   
Interest expense, net     394       662       695       684       2,435   
Loss before income taxes     (16,272 )     (15,454 )     (39,251 )     (77,119 )     (148,096 ) 
Income tax benefit     858       741       738       963       3,300   
Net loss   $ (15,414 )   $ (14,713 )   $ (38,513 )   $ (76,156 )   $ (144,796 ) 
Net loss per share - basic and diluted   $ (0.13 )   $ (0.11 )   $ (0.26 )   $ (0.40 )   $ (0.97 ) 
 

    Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2016   
    1st     2nd     3rd     4th     Total   
    Quarter     Quarter     Quarter     Quarter     Year   

Total revenues   $ —     $ —     $ 1,466     $ 53     $ 1,519   
Cost of revenue     —       —       1,031       38       1,069   
Amortization of intangible assets     1,817       1,786       1,709       1,655       6,967   
Goodwill impairment     —       61,784       —       —       61,784   
Restructuring and other charges     —       3,085       —       (21 )     3,064   
Inventory write-down related to restructuring     —       2,565       —       —       2,565   
Other operating expenses     13,163       11,509       12,278       12,769       49,719   
Interest expense, net     578       394       462       420       1,854   
Loss before income taxes   $ (15,558 )   $ (81,123 )   $ (14,014 )   $ (14,808 )   $ (125,503 ) 
Income tax benefit   $ 2,645     $ 992     $ 1,070     $ 816     $ 5,523   
Net loss   $ (12,913 )   $ (80,131 )   $ (12,944 )   $ (13,992 )   $ (119,980 ) 
Net loss per share - basic and diluted   $ (0.12 )   $ (0.70 )   $ (0.11 )   $ (0.12 )   $ (1.07 ) 
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9.A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated 
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) 
under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2017. We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted 
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including 
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure. Our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and 
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies 
its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on such 
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2017, our 
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level. 

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. 
Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, management 
(with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer) conducted an evaluation of 
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the original framework established in 
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this evaluation, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2017, 
our internal control over financial reporting was effective. 

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, BDO USA, LLP, audited the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017. BDO USA, LLP’s report on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 is set forth herein. 
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Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting 

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the last quarter that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting. 

ITEM 9.B. OTHER INFORMATION 

On March 6, 2018, the Company entered into new employment agreements with each of Todd Pope, the Company’s 
Chief Executive Officer, Joseph Slattery, the Company’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and 
Anthony Fernando, the Company’s Chief Operating Officer.  The new agreements provide for the following 
changes:  (1) standardization among Messrs. Slattery and Fernando of the post-termination compensation to be paid, 
both in the event of a termination without Cause or for Good Reason (as each term in defined in the agreements) 
prior to a Change in Control (as defined in the agreements) or in the event of a termination without Cause or for 
Good Reason in the one year period following, or six months prior to and in connection with a Change in Control; 
and (2) the addition of target bonus to the severance benefits to be paid to each of the executive officers in a covered 
termination of employment.  With these changes, the severance paid on a termination without Cause or for Good 
Reason prior to a Change in Control is the sum of base salary and target bonus for nine (9) months for Messrs. 
Slattery and Fernando and twelve (12) months for Mr. Pope, plus reimbursement of health care benefit costs for 
such nine- and twelve-month periods.  The period for payment of severance benefits increases to eighteen (18) 
months for Messrs. Slattery and Fernando and twenty-four (24) months for Mr. Pope following a termination 
without Cause or for Good Reason in the covered period if a Change in Control occurs, plus the acceleration of all 
outstanding unvested equity awards.  No compensation is paid single-trigger upon the occurrence of a Change in 
Control.  The employment agreements each have an effective date of March 1, 2018 and a two-year term, subject to 
automatic renewal unless terminated with at least six months’ prior written notice prior to the expiration of the term 
or any extension.  The entry into the new employment agreements caused a termination and replacement of the prior 
employment agreements between each such executive officer and the Company. 

This summary of the employment agreements is not complete, and reference is made to the agreements as filed as 
exhibits to this Form 10-K and incorporated by reference herein. 
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PART III 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE. 

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information contained in our Proxy 
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to be filed with the SEC on or prior to April 30, 2018. 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. 

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information contained in our Proxy 
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to be filed with the SEC on or prior to April 30, 2018. 
 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS. 

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information contained in our Proxy 
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to be filed with the SEC on or prior to April 30, 2018. 
 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR 
INDEPENDENCE. 

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information contained in our Proxy 
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to be filed with the SEC on or prior to April 30, 2018. 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES. 

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information contained in our Proxy 
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to be filed with the SEC on or prior to April 30, 2018. 
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PART IV 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a) (1) The following consolidated financial statements are filed as a part of this Annual Report: 
 
   Page 
Consolidated Financial Statements :   
   

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm   47 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016   49 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for each of the years in the three-year 

period ended December 31, 2017   50 
Consolidated Statements of  Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for each of the years in the three-year period 

ended December 31, 2017   51 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December  31, 
2017   52 
 
(2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules: The information required by this item is included in the 

consolidated financial statements contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report. 

(3) Exhibits: The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report. 
  

Exhibit 
No.   Description 

   

    1.1 

  

Controlled Equity Offering SM Sales Agreement by and between TransEnterix, Inc. and Cantor 
Fitzgerald & Co. dated February 20, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, 
filed with the SEC on February 20, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein). 

  

    1.2 

  

Underwriting Agreement by and among TransEnterix, Inc. and Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, 
Incorporated and RBC Capital Markets, LLC dated June 11, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 12, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

    1.3 

 

Controlled Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement by and between TransEnterix, Inc. and Cantor 
Fitzgerald & Co. dated February 9, 2016 (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 9, 2016 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

    1.4 

 

Underwriting Agreement, dated April 28, 2017, by and between the Company and Stifel, Nicolaus & 
Company, Incorporated (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on 
April 28, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

    1.5 

 

At-the-Market Equity Offering Sales Agreement by and between TransEnterix, Inc. and Stifel, 
Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, dated August 31, 2017 (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to our Current Report 
on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 31, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein). 

  

    2.1 

  

Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, dated September 18, 2015, by and among Sofar S.p.A., 
Vulcanos S.r.l., the Company and TransEnterix International, Inc. filed as Exhibit 2.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

    2.1(a) 

 

Amendment to Membership Interest Purchase Agreement by and among TransEnterix, Inc., 
TransEnterix International, Inc., and Sofar, S.p.A., dated December 30, 2016 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to 
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January 5, 2017 and incorporated 
by reference herein). 

  

    3.1 

  

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of TransEnterix, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 9, 2013 and incorporated by reference 
herein). 

  

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993315000278/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993315000278/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993315000278/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993315000935/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993315000935/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993315000935/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993316002027/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993316002027/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993316002027/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517148936/d388217dex11.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517148936/d388217dex11.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517148936/d388217dex11.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993317000884/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993317000884/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993317000884/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312515324416/d29233dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312515324416/d29233dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312515324416/d29233dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993317000010/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993317000010/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993317000010/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993317000010/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993313002109/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993313002109/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993313002109/exhibit1.htm
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Exhibit 
No.   Description 

    3.1.1 

   

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of TransEnterix, 
Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 1, 2014 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

  

    3.2 
   

Amended and Restated Bylaws of TransEnterix, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on 
Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 9, 2013 and incorporated by reference herein). 

  

    4.1 

   

Specimen Certificate for Common Stock of TransEnterix, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-3, File No. 333-193235, filed with the SEC on January 8, 2014 and 
incorporated by reference herein). 

  

    4.2 

   

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock for warrants issued to Oxford Finance LLC and Silicon 
Valley Bank (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC 
on September 30, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

    4.3 
   

Form of Common Stock Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with 
the SEC on September 10, 2007 and incorporated by reference herein). 

  

    4.4 
   

Form of Common Stock Warrant dated March 22, 2013 (filed as part of Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on March 26, 2013 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

    4.5 
 

Form of Series A Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC 
on April 28, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

    4.6 
 

Form of Series B Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC 
on April 28, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

   4.7 

 

Form of Warrant to Purchase Stock for warrants issued to Innovatus Life Sciences Lending Fund I, LP 
(filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2017 and 
incorporated by reference herein). 

   

   4.8 

 

Form of Service Warrant to purchase common stock for warrants issued to third party vendor (filed as 
Exhibit 4.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on November 9, 2017 and 
incorporated by reference herein). 

   

  10.1 

 

Purchase Agreement by and between TransEnterix, Inc. and Lincoln Park Capital, LLC dated 
December 16, 2016 (filed as exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the 
SEC on December 20, 2016 and incorporated by reference herein). 

  

  10. 2++ 

   

License Contract between the European Union and Vulcanos S.r.l. (now known as TransEnterix Italia 
S.r.l.), dated September 18, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed 
with the SEC on November 9, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein). 

  

  10.3 

   

Registration Rights Agreement, dated September 21, 2015, by and between the Company and Sofar 
S.p.A. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 21, 
2015 and incorporated by reference herein).  

  

  10.4 

   

Lock-Up Agreement, dated September 21, 2015, by and between the Company and Sofar S.p.A. (filed 
as Exhibit 10.4 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2015 and 
incorporated by reference herein). 

  

  10.5 + * 
   

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated March 6, 2018, and effective as of March 1, 
2018, by and between the Registrant and Todd M. Pope.  

   
  

  10.6 + *  
   

Employment Agreement, dated March 6, 2018, and effective as of March 1, 2018, by and between the 
Registrant and Joseph P. Slattery.  

  
  

  10.7 + * 
   

Employment Agreement, dated March 6, 2018, and effective as of March 1, 2018, by and between the 
Registrant and Anthony Fernando. 

  

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514125145/d704780dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514125145/d704780dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514125145/d704780dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993313002109/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993313002109/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514005502/d656380dex41.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993314001510/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993314001510/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993314001510/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000095014407008482/g09354exv4w1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000095014407008482/g09354exv4w1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993313000572/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993313000572/exhibit1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517148936/d388217dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517148936/d388217dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517148936/d388217dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517148936/d388217dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517165865/d554083dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517165865/d554083dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517165865/d554083dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000156459017023301/trxc-ex44_578.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000156459017023301/trxc-ex44_578.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000156459017023301/trxc-ex44_578.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993316003339/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993316003339/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000129993316003339/exhibit2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312515372014/d11758dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312515372014/d11758dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312515372014/d11758dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312515324416/d29233dex103.htm
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Exhibit 
No.   Description 

  

  10.8+ 

 

TransEnterix, Inc. Amended and Restated Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended and restated 
effective July 2, 2017 (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC 
on November 9, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

  10.9 +  

   

Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, filed with the SEC on March 5, 2014 and 
incorporated by reference herein). 

  

  10.10 +  

   

Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement (performance stock options) pursuant to the Plan (filed as 
Exhibit 10.16 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, filed with 
the SEC on March 5, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein). 

  

  10.11 +  

   

Form of Non-Employee Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.17 to our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, filed with the SEC on March 5, 
2014 and incorporated by reference herein). 

  

  10.12 +  

   

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to the Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.18 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, filed with the SEC on March 5, 2014 and 
incorporated by reference herein). 

  

  10.13 + 

   

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2013, by and between the Company and 
Joseph P. Slattery (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, filed with the SEC on March 5, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein). 

  

  10.14 

   

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 26, 2014, among the 
Borrowers and the Lenders and Collateral Agent (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 
8-K, filed with the SEC on September 30, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein) 

  

  10.14.1 

   

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 14, 2015, by 
and among TransEnterix, Inc., TransEnterix Surgical, Inc. and SafeStitch LLC, as Borrower, and 
Oxford Finance LLC, as Lender and Collateral Agent, and Silicon Valley Bank, as Lender (filed as 
Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 17, 2015 and 
incorporated by reference herein). 

  

  10.14.2 

   

Consent and Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated September 18, 
2015, by and among the Company, its subsidiaries TransEnterix Surgical, Inc. and SafeStitch LLC 
(collectively, the “Borrowers”), and SVB, as Lender, and Oxford, as Lender and Collateral Agent 
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2015 
and incorporated by reference herein). 

  

  10.14.3 

   

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated November 13, 
2015, by and among TransEnterix, Inc., TransEnterix Surgical, Inc. and SafeStitch LLC, as 
Borrower, and Oxford Finance LLC, as Lender and Collateral Agent, and Silicon Valley Bank, as 
Lender (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 16, 
2015 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

  10.14.4 

 

Consent and Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated April 
19, 2016, by and among TransEnterix, Inc., TransEnterix Surgical, Inc., SafeStitch LLC and 
TransEnterix International, Inc., Oxford Finance LLC, and Silicon Valley Bank (filed as Exhibit 10.2 
to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2016, filed with the SEC on 
May 10, 2016 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

  10.14.5 

 

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 7, 2016, 
by and among TransEnterix, Inc., TransEnterix Surgical, Inc., SafeStitch LLC and TransEnterix 
International, Inc., Oxford Finance LLC, and Silicon Valley Bank (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 8, 2016 and incorporated 
by reference herein). 
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Exhibit 
No.   Description 

  

  10.15 

   

Lease Agreement, dated as of December 11, 2009, by and between TransEnterix, Inc. and GRE 
Keystone Technology Park Three LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to Amendment No. 2 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, filed with the SEC on March 31, 2014 
and incorporated by reference herein). 

  

  10.15.1 

   

Lease Modification Agreement No. 1, dated as of May 4, 2010, by and between TransEnterix, Inc. and 
GRE Keystone Technology Park Three LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.25.1 to Amendment No. 2 to our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, filed with the SEC on March 31, 
2014 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

  10.16 

 

Loan and Security Agreement, dated May 10, 2017, by and among the Company, TransEnterix 
Surgical, Inc., TransEnterix International, Inc. and SafeStitch LLC, as Borrower, and Innovatus Life 
Sciences Lending Fund I, LP, as Lender and Collateral Agent (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein). 

   

   
10.17*+++  

System Sale and Cooperation Agreement, dated December 15, 2017, by and between the Company 
and Great Belief International Limited. 

  

  21.1 *    Subsidiaries of the Registrant. 
  

  23.1 *    Consent of BDO USA, LLP. 
  

  31.1 *    Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a). 
  

  31.2 *    Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a). 
  

  32.1 *    Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
  

  32.2 *    Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
  

101.INS *    XBRL Instance Document. 
  

101.SCH *    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. 
  

101.CAL *    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. 
  

101.DEF *    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. 
   

101.LAB *    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. 
  

101.PRE *    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. 
 

+ A management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement required to be separately identified. 
++ Confidential treatment has been granted for certain portions of the agreement pursuant to a confidential 

treatment request filed with the Commission on November 9, 2015. Such provisions have been filed 
separately with the Commission. 

+++ Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions of this agreement pursuant to an application for 
confidential treatment filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 8, 2018. Such provisions 
have been filed separately with the Commission. 

* Filed herewith. 
 
 
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY.  
 

Registrants may voluntarily include a summary of information required by Form 10-K under this Item 16. The 
Company has elected not to include such summary information. 
 
 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514122558/d701273dex1025.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514122558/d701273dex1025.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514122558/d701273dex1025.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514122558/d701273dex1025.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514122558/d701273dex10251.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514122558/d701273dex10251.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514122558/d701273dex10251.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312514122558/d701273dex10251.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517165865/d554083dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517165865/d554083dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517165865/d554083dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000876378/000119312517165865/d554083dex101.htm


 

 96 

SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
Date: March 8, 2018   TransEnterix, Inc. 
     

   By:   /s/ Todd M. Pope 
      Todd M. Pope 
      President, Chief Executive Officer 
      and a Director 
      (principal executive officer) 
 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

We, the undersigned officers and directors of TransEnterix, Inc., hereby severally constitute and appoint Todd M. 
Pope and Joseph P. Slattery, our true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and 
resubstitution in him for him and in his name, place and stead, and in any and all capacities, to sign any and all 
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents 
in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and 
agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in 
and about the premises, as full to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and 
confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be 
done by virtue hereof. 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following 
persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
 

Signature    Title(s)   Date 
   

/s/ Todd M. Pope    President, Chief Executive Officer and a Director 
(principal executive officer) 

  March 8, 2018 
Todd M. Pope       
   

/s/ Joseph P. Slattery    Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer (principal financial officer and principal 
accounting officer) 

  March 8, 2018 
Joseph P. Slattery 

      
        

/s/ Paul A. LaViolette    Chairman of the Board and a Director   March 8, 2018 
Paul A. LaViolette        
   

/s/ Andrea Biffi    Director   March 8, 2018 
Andrea Biffi        
   

/s/ Jane H. Hsaio    Director   March 8, 2018 
Jane H. Hsaio, Ph.D.        
   

/s/ William N. Kelley    Director   March 8, 2018 
William N. Kelley, M.D.        
   

/s/ Aftab R. Kherani    Director   March 8, 2018 
Aftab R. Kherani        
   

/s/ David B. Milne    Director   March 8, 2018 
David B. Milne        
   

/s/ Richard C. Pfenniger, Jr.    Director   March 8, 2018 
Richard C. Pfenniger, Jr.        
   

/s/ William N. Starling, Jr.    Director   March 8, 2018 
William N. Starling, Jr.        



 

 

TransEnterix, Inc. Board of Directors 
As of April 13, 2018 

Paul A. LaViolette – Chairman (1)(3) 
Managing Partner and COO, SV Health 
Investors 

 Aftab R. Kherani, M.D. (2)(3) 
Partner, Aisling Capital 

Todd  M. Pope 
President and Chief Executive Officer, 
TransEnterix, Inc. 

 David B. Milne (1)(2) 
Former Managing Partner, SV Health 
Investors 

Andrea Biffi 

CEO, SOFAR, S.p.A. 

 Richard C. Pfenniger, Jr. (2) 

Former Chairman and CEO , Continucare 
Corporation 

Jane H. Hsiao, Ph.D., MBA  
Vice-Chairman and Chief Technical Officer, 
OPKO Health, Inc. 

 William N. Starling (3) 
CEO, Synecor, LLC 
Managing Director, Synergy Life Science 
Partners 

William N. Kelley, M.D. (1) 
Professor of Medicine, The School of Medicine 
of the University of Pennsylvania 

  

—————— 
(1) Member of Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee 
(2)  Member of Audit Committee 
(3) Member of Compensation Committee 
 

TransEnterix, Inc. Executive Officers 
As of April 13, 2018 

Todd M. Pope  
President and Chief Executive Officer 

 Joseph P. Slattery  
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial 
Officer 

Anthony Fernando 
Chief Operating Officer 

  

 
STOCK AND INVESTOR INFORMATION 

Corporate Offices -  
635 Davis Drive, Suite 300 
Morrisville, NC 27560 
(919) 765-8400 
(919) 765-8459 

 Common Stock - 
TransEnterix, Inc. Common Stock, par value 
$0.001, is traded on the NYSE American under 
the symbol “TRXC” 

Independent Auditors - 
BDO USA, LLP 
421 Fayetteville Street, Suite 300 
Raleigh, NC 27601 

 Transfer Agent - 
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company  
1 State Street 30th Floor 
New York, NY 10004-1561 

At the written request of each record owner or beneficial owner of our securities we will provide, without charge, a 
copy of the TransEnterix, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, or any exhibit thereto 
not included herein.  Requests should be sent to Secretary, TransEnterix, Inc., 635 Davis Drive, Suite 300, Morrisville, NC 
27560. 

Except for the historical matters contained herein, statements made in this report are forward looking and are made 
pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  Investors are cautioned that forward looking 
statements involve risks and uncertainties that may affect our business and prospects, including economic, competitive, 
governmental, technological, and other factors discussed in this report and in our filings with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, including without limitation, the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed with the 
SEC on March 8, 2018. 


	34140930_1
	Blank Page

	34140950_1

